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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MIEHE

REVENUE & A

46.7% increase from 2017
BRZT—LF EF46.7%

PROFIT FORTHEYEAR fFE =7

58.9% increase from 2017
BT —+F FF58.9%

HKS & HKS 7 s
—_— milionB& — millon B& T

EARNINGS PER SHARE & Z 7|

68.2% increase from 2017
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TOTAL EQUITY ##Ex

9.8% increase from 2017
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HKS B #&
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million B & 7T

NET ASSETS PER SHARE SR&EEE

9.5% increase from 2017
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DIVIDENDS PER SHARE SRS

191.7% increase from 2017
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY
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(HK$ million B¥H & T)
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EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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REVENUE
A

(HK$ million B¥EHET)

6,980
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Year £

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
BRES

(HK$ million 8% H & T)
8,733
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BBRE

SEGMENT REVENUE
o ERA

6%
12% 1%

2018 2017
SEGMENT PROFIT/(LOSS)
PERF, (HE)
(HK$ million &% H & 7T)
889
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321
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[ Property development and operations M Others
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IR

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March for

the last five years.

THAELEREEBRAR ([AAR])) REHBAR (R AKE ) NEAEAFANBE=A=T B LFREZBEE
mal FELHOYBERME -

2018

Financial Information (HK$ million)

BHER(BBBET)

—E-N\F

Total assets BEE 16,105 15,064 14,520 15,329 13,926
Total liabilities BaE 6,769 6,561 6,282 6,930 6,849
Total equity B 9,336 8,503 8,238 8,399 7,077
Non-controlling HERE R 603 534 488 510 463
Shareholders’ funds REES 8,733 7,969 7,750 7,889 6,614
Share capital R
—in number (million) -¥B(BER) 302 302 302 300 293
—in value (HK$1.25 per share) —Y (B (FREE1.257T) 377 377 377 375 366
Revenue N 6,980 4,759 5,538 5,013 4,113
Profit attributable to shareholders AARIRE
of the Company JEAR & 7 908 540 315 1,637 470
Per Share Basis (HK$) SRTE(BE)
Earnings - basic BF|—EAK 3.01 1.79 1.05 5.21 1.65
Dividends fds) 1.75 0.60 0.70 1.20 0.85
Net assets value BEFE
- excluding non-controlling interests ~ — B FEIEIE R IER 28.9 26.4 25.7 26.3 226

2018 2017

—g-N\E T tf

HK$ million HK$ million

BEEET BEEETT
Segment Revenue* DEUWA *
B Construction and engineering RERMMITE 4,175 4,759
BE Property investment YERE 136 144
m  Property development and operations MR N EE 1,105 589
B Healthcare investment RIEEERE 598 525
m Car dealership RERE 2,754 1,317
m Other H A 533 555
Total s 9,301 7,889
Segment Profit/(Loss)* DEBF(FE) *
m Construction and engineering R R A T2 172 344
E Property investment YR E 279 321
m  Property development and operations YR N EE 859 88
B Healthcare investment RIEEERE 3 29
m Car dealership BRI 5 (2)
m Others HAh 73 58
Total W 1,391 838

* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures
BREMEHERNTIREEDEZIMA EE
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2318 1818
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of Results

Interim Results
Final Results

Book Close Dates
Special Interim Dividend
Interim Dividend

Annual General Meeting
Final Dividend

Annual General Meeting

Payment of Dividends
Special interim dividend of
HK$1.40 per share
Interim dividend of
HK$0.10 per share
Final dividend of
HK$0.25 per share

28 November 2017
28 June 2018

19 September 2017

14 December 2017

22 to 29 August 2018

6 to 12 September 2018

29 August 2018

27 September 2017
21 December 2017

18 September 2018
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
B R Z B

Dear Shareholders,

Once again, it is time for the Chevalier Group to review its performance in
the last year. 2017/18 was a fruitful year for the Group. With confidence
and high hopes in the future of Hong Kong's real estate market, the Group
successfully acquired five sites for redevelopment and made use of the
low interest rate environment. The total consideration paid exceeded
HK$2 billion. The Group will prudently select and grow its properties
portfolio with the long term aim of enhancing the Group’s reasonable
return.

The Finance Committee of the Legislative Council (LegCo) of the HKSAR
Government has already granted over HK$132 billion for government
construction projects for this current LegCo year, this amount may likely
be increased to a total sum of HK$170 billion. No doubt, demand from
both the private and public sectors will continuously feed the construction
and engineering market with work. Yet, it is questionable whether
the construction industry can cope with the sudden surge in demand,
considering that the underlying issue of shortage of skilled and non-skilled
labour in the different trades of work in the construction and engineering
industry still remains unresolved. The industry must overcome these in
order to fully benefit from the HK$170 billion that may be granted. With
this in mind, in order to strengthen construction productivity, innovative
construction method such as modular integrated construction is now
being advocated by the HKSAR Government within the industry in order to
shorten construction period, increase cost-effectiveness and enhance site
safety.

With a firm belief that demand for healthcare related services is on the
rise, and in view of the ageing population in the US and in fact, worldwide,
the Group spent a total of over HK$800 million in 2017/18 in acquiring
senior housing facilities and medical office buildings in the US. The Group is
hopeful about the long-term prospects of healthcare businesses worldwide
and is confident that our modest portfolio of senior housing facilities and
medical office buildings will continue to provide a steady income for the
Group and, in the long run, asset appreciation opportunities.

| am confident that the Group's solid foundation and steady performance
will help the Group deal with challenges ahead. With our talented and
experienced management team, the Group will continue to thoroughly
assess potential business opportunities in a cautious manner and enhance
the shareholders’ value in the years to come.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude and
appreciation to my fellow directors, business partners and shareholders
for their support and to all staff for their dedication, hard work and
contribution.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's consolidated revenue was HK$6,980 million (2017:
HK$4,759 million), representing an increase of 47% when compared
with the last financial year. Taking into account its share of revenue in
its associates and joint ventures, total segment revenue was HK$9,301
million (2017: HK$7,889 million), representing an increase of 18%. With
contributions from one-off gains resulting from (i) the disposal of an
interest in the Chengdu project, (i) the disposal of an interest in a wholly-
owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, (iii) the recognition of the pre-sales of
residential properties in Changchun, and (iv) the fair value increase from
the revaluation of the Group's investment properties, profit for the year
ended 31 March 2018 boosted substantially by 59% to HK$971 million,
when compared to HK$611 million from last year. Profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2018 increased
substantially to HK$908 million (2017: HK$540 million), and earnings per
share was HK$3.01 (2017: HK$1.79).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’s revenue for the year ended
31 March 2018 recorded a decrease of 12% to HK$4,175 million (2017:
HK$4,759 million). Reflecting the decrease in revenue, profit of this
segment decreased by 50% from HK$344 million to HK$172 million. The
drop in both revenue and profit was mainly due to the rise in construction
and labour costs.

The building construction division focused on private and public sectors
projects and implemented effective cost control measures such as
Building Information Modelling to enhance operation efficiency so as to
cope with stringent competition in the construction market.

Contribution from the electrical and mechanical engineering division
remained stable in Hong Kong and Macau. The division secured contracts
from a casino and hotel in Macau for the provision of mechanical and
electrical works during the year under review.

The aluminium windows and curtain walls division recorded a decrease in
profit during the year due to continuous increase in labour cost resulting
from the severe shortage of manpower in the market. It is anticipated that
the performance of this division will be encouraging in the coming year
with several contracts secured in both Hong Kong and Australia.

The building supply division recorded a positive contribution to this
segment with the increase in secured contracts for the installation of
kitchen cabinet in light of more residential buildings being completed
during the year. This division will continue to cooperate with potential
partners and explore business opportunities.

The environmental engineering division business experienced some set-
back during the year under review and provisions were made. However,
with the increase in Government expenditure on public works, namely
the desalination plant and sewage and water treatment works upgrading
projects, the division was awarded several tenders for environmental
related projects in the sewage and water segment. The Group is optimistic
about the performance of this division in the coming year with the new
contracts on hand.

BEEER W R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEER RO

The associates of the lift and escalator division recorded a decrease
in turnover and contribution as a result of setback from the sales of
equipment and installation in the PRC market during the year. With the
recent occurrence of several high-profile lift incidents, the general public in
Hong Kong is very much concerned with the safety of lift and escalators,
which may in turn lead to an increase in demand for lift modernisation and
replacement for buildings with equipment that is over 30 years old. The
Group is optimistic about the sales and installation of lifts and escalators
business for this division.

As at 31 March 2018, the total value of all outstanding construction and
engineering contracts of the Group's subsidiaries amounted to HK$4,777
million. Major contracts include:

1. Construction of a Government Complex at Tuen Mun, New Territories;

2. Construction of the expansion of the Blood Transfusion Service
Headquarters of the Red Cross at Homantin, Kowloon;

3. Construction of the extension of the Operating Theatre Block for Tuen
Mun Hospital, New Territories;

4. Upgrade of sewage treatment capacity of the Kwun Tong Preliminary
Treatment Works;

5. Mechanical and electrical works for a casino in Macau;

6. Design, supply and installation of curtain wall and aluminium cladding
for 4560-456G Queen’s Road West, Hong Kong;

7. Design, supply and installation of curtain wall and aluminium cladding
for 15 Middle Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon; and

8. Design, supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for residential units
at Lohas Park 6, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

During the year under review, the Property Investment segment primarily
comprised of the properties rental businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC.
With the repossession of properties owned at Kowloon Bay from tenants
for self-use by the Group as headquarters during the year, segment
revenue recorded a decrease of 6% to HK$136 million and segment profit
also decreased by HK$42 million to HK$279 million.

During the year, the Group acquired a property at 1B and 1C Davis
Street, Hong Kong at the consideration of HK$228 million. The property
comprises of residential and commercial units and has a total gross floor
area of about 9,100 square feet. The property provides stable rental
income and also offers potential capital appreciation to the Group.

10 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2018

FHRE R BRI L PR G EERENRE
BTNE RARAFERTEMSAERE
HERLZRSH - N AHELER R R
BB SIEBEERAREABRELE
KHNLE2SEMI ER8EEKR=T
FUALNBFHARBRRA R ERRE
MBEREF - NEBYZEHFIAREEEE
KB E ML REBRHEBREE -

RZZBE-NF=ZR=+—8 AEEKB
RAZABRTREELEMTIEEDE
BEBR/BEATITIEL - TEEGHNBHE

1. AR AERFINBA&GEE XEZ

2. ARNEMXHAAL+TFE MRS A
BT

3. ARHARALMHERFMEREZ R
T

4. BIEAERNSKEERIRAGKEES
T8

5. MRFI—FTIRSEGMEETIR |

6. BEBEFKNETA50-456G & 7
Mg R T EERE R inEMR

7. RNBERYDEPEEISHRRA - HE
RRZEBRE LR - &

8. RIARERBLEMENHHNERE
BRG - HERTEEE -

MERSE

REBEFE MEREI>BEFTERERE
RPBEOMEREER AR AFEAE
ErAEWENEENYEERILZH
DEWATEC6% Z K136 TS E
SR IRR DS 4,200 BT 2B 2,798 T ©

RAFE  AEBRBLRESEZZLH
1B RICHOME  REREBK228E
ToRWERREERHEEMN 280
HRELB9100F HR - ZWEH AARE
EIREHBEASKA BB ERELESN
B ARKEE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Property Development and Operations
segment’s revenue increased by 88% from HK$589 million to HK$1,105
million. After taking into consideration (i) the disposal of an interest in
the Chengdu project, (i) the disposal of an interest in a wholly-owned
subsidiary in Hong Kong, and (iii) the recognition of the pre-sales of
residential properties in Changchun, segment profit rose sharply by 876%
from HK$88 million to HK$859 million.

City Hub, a 50-50 joint venture Urban Renewal Authority (“URA")
redevelopment project at Chi Kiang Street/Ha Heung Road, To Kwa Wan,
received the Certificate of Compliance from the Government in January
2018 and sales commenced in February 2018. The market responded
positively and approximately 90 units were sold as at 31 March 2018.

During the year, the Group secured another URA redevelopment project
at Fuk Chak Street and Li Tak Street at Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon. Leased
site area of this project is approximately 8,200 square feet and the plan is
to develop small to medium sized residential units with a total residential
gross floor area of about 55,000 square feet and 7,000 square feet of
commercial area. The project is scheduled for completion by 2020/2021.

The Group acquired Darton Tower located at 4 Tai Yip Street, Kowloon
during the year at a consideration of HK$360 million. The plan is to
redevelop the property into a multi-storey retail and office building with a
total gross floor area of approximately 72,000 square feet. It is anticipated
to complete by 2021/2022.

The Group also acquired the residential properties at Nos. 292A-D Prince
Edward Road West, Homantin, Kowloon with site area of approximately
7,800 square feet. Total consideration was HK$334 million. Since the
properties are situated in an upmarket area in Kowloon, the Group plans
to redevelop the properties into a luxurious residential block with a total
gross floor area of approximately 39,000 square feet. Completion of the
project is expected to be in 2021/2022.

In March 2018, the Group acquired properties at No. 5 Hang Lok Lane,
Shatin for redevelopment at the consideration of HK$403 million. Site
area is approximately 48,000 square feet. The transaction completed in
May 2018. The Group believes that, in view of demands in the Hong Kong
property market, together with the Group’s past experience in real estate
projects, the acquisition represents an opportunity for the Group to further
expand its property development business.

Whilst units of “My Villa” in Beijing remain for sale in the market during
the year, the pre-sale of residential units in Phase Il of “Chevalier City”
in Changchun received good response due to a strong demand for
affordable housing. Over 70% of the residential units were pre-sold
and recognised in 2017/2018. Planning of Phase Il of “Chevalier City"”,
covering approximately 100,000 square metres and providing about 1,100
residential units, will commence upon receipt of approvals from the
relevant government authorities. It is expected to complete by 2020/2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEER RO

The cold storage and logistics business remained steady although there
was a slight decrease in turnover due to unfavourable market changes.
The Group's strategic plan is to expand its cold chain logistics business
into international freight forwarding, and it has been working in line with
key account clients by providing additional quality in-store service and all-
in-one total logistics reefer service solution to support its key account
clients in facing the changes in the ever competitive and demanding
market.

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

Segment revenue recorded an increase of 14% from HK$524 million to
HK$598 million. However, after taking into consideration the transaction
costs of the acquisition of various new investments, contribution of this
segment dropped by 90% to HK$3 million.

During the year, the Group acquired two senior housing facilities in
Michigan, the US, which together provide an aggregate of 299 units
covering independent living, assisted living and memory care services
with a total rentable area of over 170,000 square feet. Total consideration
was US$33 million (equivalent to approximately HK$257 million).

During the year, the Group also acquired, through capital contribution in
a joint venture, three medical office buildings in New York, Pennsylvania
and Rhode Island, the US, at approximately US$70 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$546 million) in cash. Aggregate total gross floor
area is approximately 428,200 square feet. The Group believes that the
acquisition of the medical office buildings offers an opportunity to expand
the Group's investment portfolio in the US from elderly housing to a
wider range of healthcare related properties. In order to reflect the scope
of business of this segment after the investment in these three medical
office buildings, the name of this segment was changed to “Healthcare
Investment”.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group owned 25 senior housing facilities
providing 1,017 assisted living beds, 759 memory care beds, 119 skilled
nursing beds and 299 independent living units to serve different needs of
the aged population in the US.

Subsequent to the financial year, the Group further acquired ten senior
housing properties at the consideration of US$66 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$516 million). The properties together provide an
aggregate of approximately 1,060 units covering independent living,
assisted living and memory care services with a total rentable area of over
450,000 square feet.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAR DEALERSHIP

Following the consolidation of the PRC car dealership business into the
Group in the last financial year and benefiting from the steady growth of
household disposable income and the introduction of new models from
automobile manufacturers in the PRC, revenue of the Car Dealership
segment boosted to HK$2,754 million. However, due to thin sales margin
and intense competition in people-oriented repair and maintenance
services within the automobile industry, profit of this segment amounted
to HK$5 million.

In Chengdu, a group of companies representing over 856% revenue of
this segment and providing 6 import and domestic car brands operates a
total of 14 4S shops. Over 14,000 units of cars were sold during the year
putting us in a leading position in Chengdu’s domestic car market.

In Canada, the overall performance of our two automobile dealerships,
namely Action Honda and Aurora Chrysler was satisfactory for the year
under review. Our Canada team is confident that both dealerships will
continue to excel and meet performance in the coming year.

OTHERS

During the year, segment revenue recorded a slight drop from HK$555
million to HK$533 million, however, segment profit recorded an increase
of 26% from HK$58 million to HK$73 million. Notwithstanding the drop
in segment revenue, segment profit increased as a result of positive
contribution from the investment portfolio of the insurance and investment
business.

During the year under review, the Total Gross Premium Written of
the insurance and investment business increased. The Employees’
Compensation Premium continues to contribute significantly to this
segment’s revenue and profit. Property Insurance attracted good quality
business and maintained a positive underwriting performance. To diversify
the risks and to protect against extreme events, the Group always reviews
and ensures its reinsurance programs are sufficient in meeting with
current and future potential risk exposure. In the volatile and competitive
market in Hong Kong, the business will continue to adopt a prudential
underwriting approach and focus on building its capability to ensure
sustainable growth.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
B %5 st

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased from HK$4,759 million in the year
2016/17 to HK$6,980 million in the year 2017/18. The increase was mainly
due to consolidation of the PRC car dealership business into the Group.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased from HK$744 million in the year 2016/17 to HK$875
million in the year 2017/18 and gross profit margin decreased from 15.6%
10 12.5%.

Other income, net

Other income, net of HK$74 million was recorded in the year 2017/18
(2016/17: HK$106 million). The decrease was mainly due to turnaround of
investment income of HK$22 million in the year 2016/17 to loss of HK$2
million in the year 2017/18.

Other gains, net

Other gains, net of HK$154 million were recorded for the year 2017/18
(2016/17: HK$206 million). The decrease was primarily due to the
impairment loss on trade and other debtors, retention receivables, interest
in an associate and properties for sale totalling HK$47 million and lower
increase in fair value gains of investment properties to HK$191 million
(2016/17: HK$226 million).

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries

The disposal of an interest in the Chengdu project in August 2017 by the
Group resulted in a gain of HK$620 million.

In 2017/18, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Talent Luck leading
to a gain on disposal of HK$93 million.

Selling and distribution costs

The consolidation of the PRC car dealership business into the Group
constituted the increase in selling and distribution costs from HK$101
million in the year 2016/17 to HK$147 million in the year 2017/18.
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Share of results of associates

The Group's share of results of associates dropped from HK$88 million in
the year 2016/17 to HK$58 million in the year 2017/18, mainly due to the
setback from the sales of the equipment and installation of lift and escalator
division in Mainland China.

Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures recorded a loss of HK$60
million in the year 2017/18 (2016/17: HK$5 million). The loss this year
was mainly coming from the joint ventures in Hong Kong under Property
Development and Operations segment and new joint ventures in the US
under Healthcare Investment segment.

Taxation

Taxation in the year 2017/18 was derived from the current tax expenses of
HK$271 million (2016/17: HK$89 million) and the deferred tax expenses of
HK$25 million (2016/17: HK$43 million). Increase in current tax expenses
mainly arose from the tax expenses on disposal gain of Chengdu project
of HK$160 million.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$908 million was
achieved in the year 2017/18 (2016/17: HK$540 million), a substantial
increase of HK$368 million mainly accounted for the aforementioned gain
on disposal of Chengdu project and increase in fair value of investment
properties.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties decreased by HK$42 million
to HK$3,791 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$3,833 million)
representing addition of investment properties of HK$114 million,
acquisition of subsidiaries of HK$230 million, fair value gain amounted to
HK$191 million and exchange gain of HK$131 million, offset by transfer of
certain properties to property, plant and equipment of HK$707 million.

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of the Group’'s property, plant and equipment was
substantially increased by HK$455 million to HK$2,785 million as at
31 March 2018 (2017: HK$2,330 million) which resulted from the
acquisition of two senior housing facilities in Michigan, the US, acquiring
new properties in Hong Kong and transfer of certain properties from
investment properties, offset by disposal of Talent Luck which held a staff
quarter.

Goodwill

The increase in the carrying value of goodwill of HK$52 million to HK$682
million as at 31 March 2018 was mainly due to the acquisition of two
senior housing facilities in Michigan, the US.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
BRI

Interests in joint ventures (under non-current assets) and amounts
due from joint ventures (under current assets)

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures, including
goodwill, of HK$696 million (2017: HK$183 million) and non-current portion
of amounts due from joint ventures of HK$416 million (2017: HK$409
million).

The increment of interests in joint ventures mainly represented capital
contribution of HK$578 million by the Group to the new joint venture in
the US under Healthcare Investment segment.

Available-for-sale investments

The increase in available-for-sale investments of HK$142 million to year
end balance of HK$266 million was mainly due to the amount granted for
development expenditure of a church and facility building at Ventris Road,
Happy Valley, Hong Kong during the year.

Properties under development (under non-current and current
assets)

Properties under development (under non-current and current assets)
increased by HK$1,051 million representing the addition of several new
properties development projects in Hong Kong of HK$1,374 million, the
development costs of HK$258 million incurred for properties development
projects, offset by completion of a property development project in
Changchun, Mainland China HK$668 million.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

The decrease in investment at fair value through profit or loss by HK$124
million to year end balance of HK$431 million was basically due to the
disposal of investments during the year.

Properties for sale

The addition of HK$201 million to properties for sale represented the
completion of a property development project in Changchun, Mainland
China.

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2018, bank balances and cash decreased to HK$1,723
million (2017: HK$1,762 million) mainly due to payments for acquiring new
properties and projects during the year, of which 64.6% (2017: 80.5%) of
bank balances and cash were denominated in Hong Kong and US dollars
while 27.6% (2017: 13.9%) were denominated in Renminbi.
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Creditors, bills payable, deposits and accruals

The significant decrease in creditors, bills payable, deposits and accruals
of HK$280 million to year end balance of HK$1,642 million was basically
due to disposal of the Chengdu project and decrease in accrued contract
costs.

Bank and other borrowings (under current and non-current liabilities)

Net drawn down of bank and other borrowings of HK$549 million
increased the balance to HK$3,377 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$2,790 million) as a result of payments for acquiring new properties
and projects during the year. At the end of the reporting period, 95.8%
and 3.9% (2017: 88.2% and 10.8%) of the balance were denominated in
Hong Kong and US dollars and Renminbi respectively.

The Group’s within one year bank and other borrowings in respect of the
portion was increased from 18.6% as at 31 March 2017 to0 22.7% as at 31
March 2018.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong and Mainland China are carrying
floating interest rates, of which most of them are based on Hong Kong or
London Interbank Offered Rates or the People’s Bank of China Benchmark
Loan Rate, while majority of the borrowings in the US carry fixed interest
rates insured by the US government.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's net assets attributable to shareholders
of the Company amounted to HK$8,733 million, an increase of HK$764
million when compared with 31 March 2017 of HK$7,969 million. Such
increase was mainly resulted from the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company of HK$908 million and exchange difference on translation
of operations of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
HK$367 million, offset by dividend payment of HK$574 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the US.

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group's total debt amounted to
HK$3,377 million (2017: HK$2,790 million), HK$1,137 million (2017:
HK$955 million) was attributable to senior housing business, in which
HK$1,102 million (2017: HK$955 million) was without recourse to the
Company.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
BRI

Analysis of the net debt is set out below:

FEBZAWEIOT

Unsecured: IR
— senior housing business —ZEREER
— other business —H A E®
Secured: B
— senior housing business —ZEREER
— other business —HMEW
Total debt BB
Bank balances and cash RITEFEAES
Net debt FE

As at 31 March 2018, with the increase in bank and other borrowings,
total debt to equity ratio increased to 36.2% (2017: 32.8%), which was
expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings over the Group's
net assets of HK$9,336 million (2017: HK$8,503 million). Net debt to
equity ratio increased to 17.7% (2017: 12.1%), which was expressed as
a percentage of net bank and other borrowings (representing total bank
and other borrowings net of bank balances and cash) over the Group's
net assets. Ratio of total debt to total assets of HK$16,105 million (2017:
HK$15,064 million) increased from 18.5% to 21.0% as at 31 March 2018.

With the existing banking facilities and the recurrent cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet
the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as its future
expansion.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group’s treasury activities are centralised in order to
achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had
arranged foreign currency swap contracts amounting to HK$57 million
(2017: HK$111 million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk from
various foreign currencies used for business operations. The Group had
outstanding interest rate swap contracts which amounted to HK$427
million (2017: HK$800 million) in total as at 31 March 2018, enabling the
Group to manage its interest rate exposure.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, bank and other borrowings of HK$1,276 million
(2017: HK$1,409 million) and other unutilised banking facilities were
secured by charges on investment properties of HK$1,226 million (2017:
HK$1,282 million), property, plant and equipment of HK$922 million (2017:
HK$747 million), other non-current assets of HK$22 million (2017: HK$22
million), inventories of HK$78 million (2017: HK$73 million), debtors,
deposits and prepayments of HK$69 million (2017: HK$59 million) and
deposits at bank of HK$54 million (2017: HK$406 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENT

Details of the commitment are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitment is to be financed by borrowings
and internal funds.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEEN

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang, M.H., Executive Director, Chairman and Managing
Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, aged 68, joined
Chevalier Group in 1972. Mr. Kuok became Chairman of the Board and
the Executive Committee of the Company on 30 August 2017. He is also
a director of certain companies of the Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive
experience in business development and is responsible for the strategic
planning and management of the operations of lift and escalator,
building construction, building supplies, aluminium windows and curtain
walls, electrical and mechanical engineering, civil engineering, property
investment and development as well as investment projects of Chevalier
Group. Mr. Kuok is the President of The Lift and Escalator Contractors
Association in Hong Kong, the Vice-Chairman of the Hong Kong — China
Branch of The International Association of Elevator Engineers, Vice
President of The Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical
Contractors Limited and a Registered Lift and Escalator Engineer in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Kuok is a member of the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese
People’'s Political Consultative Conference from the 9th to 12th
sessions. He has served on a number of HKSAR Government Boards
and Committees, including the Election Committee, the Examination
Committee (Registration of lift engineers and escalator engineers) and
the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee of the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department. Mr. Kuok was awarded the Medal
of Honour by the HKSAR Government in 2016 for his dedicated public
service, particularly for his contributions to the development of the
electrical and mechanical services industry.

MR. TAM KWOK WING, Executive Director, Deputy Managing Director
and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 57, joined Chevalier
Group in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies of the Group.
Mr. Tam oversees all legal affairs of the Group and he is responsible for
the operations of cold storage and logistics; insurance services; property
investment and development; property management; and travel agency
businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of the
People’'s Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City University
of Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate Administration
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam is a Fellow Member
of each of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors; the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom; and the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Tam is also a Chartered Member of the
Chartered Institute of Housing.

At present, Mr. Tam is a Councilor of the General Insurance Council in the
Hong Kong Federation of Insurers; the Immediate Past President and a
Council Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries; and
the Past President and a Council Member of the Hong Kong Association
of Property Management Companies. He is also an appointed Member of
each of the Property Management Services Authority; the Occupational
Safety and Health Council; the Employees’ Compensation Insurance
Levies Management Board; the Property Management Industry Training
Advisory Committee of the Education Bureau; the Advisory Committee
on Water Supplies; and the Steering Committee on the Promotion of
Electric Vehicles. In addition, he is an Honorary Secretary of the Insurance
Complaints Bureau. Mr. Tam is also a member of The Board of Directors
of Bao Minh Insurance Corporation in Vietnam.
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Mr. Tam is also appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the Kingdom
of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary General of the
Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. In China, Mr. Tam is appointed
as a Standing Committee Member of the 13th Changchun Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Tam is also a
Council Member of the Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors.

MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 68, joined Chevalier Group in 1985. He is also
a director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the U.K. and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 49, joined Chevalier Group in 1993. He is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
human resources and general administration of the Group. Mr. Ma
has extensive experience in project management and is currently in
charge of the healthcare investment, car dealership, hotel investment
and trading businesses of the Group. Mr. Ma holds a Master Degree in
Business Administration from The University of Warwick, U.K., a Bachelor
Degree in International Business Studies from City University of Hong
Kong, a Corporate Finance Certificate from UC Berkeley, the US, and a
Professional Certificate in China Construction from Tsinghua University,
Mainland China.

MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 55, joined Chevalier Group in 1990. She is also a director
of certain companies of the Group. She is responsible for strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Miss Chow holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British Columbia, Canada.
Miss Chow is currently a Standing Committee member of the Ningbo
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Miss Chow is the daughter of Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of
the Company and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive
Director of the Company.

DR. KO CHAN GOCK, WILLIAM S.B.S., Ph.D., Non-Executive Director,
aged 72, joined the Company in 2009. Dr. Ko graduated from The
University of Hong Kong in 1968. He served in the HKSAR Government
for more than 38 years, having worked in a wide range of departments
including the Water Supplies Department, the Highways Department, the
Civil Engineering and Development Department and the Works Branch. In
2001, he was appointed as the Director of Water Supplies. Dr. Ko retired
from the civil service in January 2007.

MR. CHOW VEE TSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director, aged 44,
joined Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of certain companies
of the Group. He holds a degree in Master of Engineering from The
University of Oxford, U.K. and is currently a General Committee Member
of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and a General
Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of
Hong Kong. Mr. Chow is the Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of Bahrain
in Hong Kong and currently the Vice Chairman of Hong Kong Bahrain
Business Association. He is also a member of the Shanghai Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Chow is also
a court member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is
the son of Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and
brother of Miss Lily Chow, Executive Director of the Company.
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IR. DR. CHOW MING KUEN, JOSEPH O.B.E., J.P., Independent
Non-Executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee,
aged 76, joined the Company in 2002. He is the Chairman Emeritus of
JMK Consulting Engineers Limited, an independent non-executive director
of Build King Holdings Limited, Road King Infrastructure Limited and
Harbour Centre Development Limited. Dr. Chow is a civil and structural
engineer by profession. He has over 50 years of experience in the
planning, design and construction of many major engineering projects in
the U.K., Middle East, Mainland China and Hong Kong. He is an Honorary
Senior Superintendent of the Hong Kong Auxiliary Police Force. Dr.
Chow was former Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Workers
Registration Authority and was previously the President of The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, Chairman of Hong Kong Engineers’ Registration
Board, Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority and Pamela
Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital Governing Committee, as well as a
Member of the Hong Kong Housing Authority and Hospital Authority.

MR. YANG CHUEN LIANG, CHARLES B.B.S., J.P., Independent
Non-Executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
aged 59, joined the Company in 2008. Mr. Yang obtained a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Cass Business School London, U.K. in
1983 and is currently a partner at S. Y. Yang & Company, Practising firm
of Accountants and member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales as well as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. His community duties include the Director and Fourth Vice
President & Admissions, Budgets & Allocations Committee chairman
of the Community Chest, member of the Insurance Appeals Tribunal,
member of the Occupational Safety & Health Council, an independent
director of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong, member of Hospital
Governing Committee of Caritas Medical Centre and member of the
Council Committee of The Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts. Mr.
Yang was selected as “Outstanding Accountant Ambassador” by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was appointed as
Justices of the Peace by the HKSAR Government in 2004 and awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2011.
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PROFESSOR POON CHUNG KWONG G.B.S., J.P., Ph.D., D.Sc.,
Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee, aged 78, joined the Company in 2012. Professor Poon
obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from the University of
Hong Kong, a Doctor of Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science
degree from the University of London, U.K.. He was a postdoctoral
fellow at the California Institute of Technology and University of Southern
California. He also held the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. Professor Poon is currently
the chairman of Virya Foundation Limited (a registered non-profit charitable
organisation). He is an Emeritus Professor and the President Emeritus of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and had devoted 40 years of his
life to advancing university education in Hong Kong before he retired in
January 2009 from his 18-year presidency at The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Professor Poon was appointed a non-official Justices of the
Peace in 1989 and received the OBE award in 1991, the Gold Bauhinia
Star award in 2002, and the “Leader of the Year Awards 2008 (Education)”.
In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member of the Legislative
Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (1998-2013). Professor
Poon is a non-executive director of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing
Limited and an independent non-executive director of Henderson Land
Development Company Limited and The Hong Kong and China Gas
Company Limited. All of those companies are public companies listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

MR. IRONS SZE B.B.S., J.P., Independent Non-Executive Director, aged
56, joined the Company in 2016. Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor's
degree in Science from University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, United
States in 1985. Mr. Sze has extensive experience in investment and
corporate management. Mr. Sze is an independent non-executive
director of Continental Holdings Limited and a non-executive director
of China Weaving Materials Holdings Limited and Bel Global Resources
Holdings Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the nomination committee and member of the
audit committee of ST International Holdings Company Limited on 15
May 2018, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an
executive director of a private company, Hang Tung Resources Holding
Limited, and holds directorship in various private companies. Mr. Sze
is a member of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference, Deputy Director of the Population
Resources and Environment Committee and an executive member of the
Beijing Municipal Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, and the Permanent Honorary President of the
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. He was also elected as
a member of Election Committee of the Chief Executive of the HKSAR in
2016. Mr. Sze was appointed the Justices of the Peace and awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the HKSAR in 2011 and 2015
respectively.

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBRN

BRIXHE GBS, JP, Ph.D., D.Sc. &
VHATEE VAEZRZEEKE B
F++ N \m RZE——FEMMAKXRQE -
BHRFFERETBAEREES (KE)
B BEGAABEEFELIRSRES
4 WA EB NN IE T 2R R E MK
BREFITERAET - BOIR_EZTNFE
EFBTABERLEBEANELEM - E
HREABEESCBER AR GEMIEEF
HEAE) TR -HABBIET RBLRY
BRERRE BR-ZZEZHE— ARIK
Al EIESEIREREZBET/N\F
WTEEBE—ERNESHABHELN+F -
BRBER—NNANFEZTEIETAF
Wt RN FEBREREEHED
B RN —EE-_FEFEFEBRFEES
KAEENR T )\ FERE T A
LA N BHREER—NANE
TN FRHREEALERZE R
—NMAANFEE—=FEFTBRARK
AmEeEEEEERRE c BHRERL
EBXGERBRAR ZIENITES - BEK
EWEERARLRESHEETER AT
CHEUERITES - ZERRHABEERS
BAXSHARAR ([BRAT]) ERET

AN /NI

HEsIE L L B.B.S, J.P. B IEHITESE -
BEATAR R-_T—R"EMALRF -
BEER—NN\EFEENEBEEEF
REBNREHOR  MFEBLEM - i
FERRERCEXERTEAEFEELR -
BAEEBRR/RBRA LT AREBMKE S
EERARZEIIFNTES - PEEH
ERARRALBERKERERBR
RAIZFFATEZ - WX _F—/\FAHA
THHEEHBEEZERBERARZERE
VEHMTESR REZESEIRFLERE
B@KE M RLARREREREE
BRABIZHATES AR EZXILART
HEEE - EERTEARBUAHE
EET—EE2HZEE@ZBARNERRE
ZEQEEE ERTERHEKEZE K
BETEBRRBAIKERBER - W
RIBE-RFRERBEFRITHEER
BLREEZRB -MBAEEDHIR T ——F
A—Z-hEEEAREBNZETRAF
MEILBERARAES -

2018 3 HIEBEEARAT 23



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of this REERAHEABMCEFEMESFINNT
report are as follows:

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN () HERE BRME
USE

Approximate

gross The Group’s
Location floor area* Lease term interest
ih 25 3 EHEBENEH* ZAFH AEBEFGEDS
sq. ft. F AR %
Hong Kong
BH
Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor, Office premise 174,600 Medium 100
19th to 23rd Floors and and carpark B
one-third interest in 201 WREREES

car parking spaces of
Chevalier Commercial Centre,

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay
NEERRAEN\FRELEHEP O
T+E—ZFE——=E=2-"ZFNE"

TAEZ+=¥8K
=9 —#wm 2201 EE B

Chevalier Warehouse Building, Industrial 118,300 Medium 100
3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, T% A
Fanling

MEZLEBLRRE=RELEAAE

Ground Floor of Blocks A and B, Industrial 14,900 Medium 100
East Sun Industrial Centre, T 1 Hf
16 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong

BREREST/URBETEPL

AR B REHE TN
29-33 Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Yi Industrial 253,500 Medium 87.5
EXRERE_TAE=T=5% T A
8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung Cold storage 380,000 Medium 75
FOREEE) R warehouse A A
REEE
124-130 Kwok Shui Road and Cold storage 427,500 Medium 75
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, warehouse R ER
Kwai Chung R R E
LEEBEE B THEE—B=-t%E
R+ A ENT TR
No. 20, Shek O Road Residential 5,300 Long 100
FRE 15 F= = Hf
Nos. 1B-1C Davis Street, Hong Kong Residential and 9,100 Long 100
BEAEZTHIBHELICH commercial =t
FEEREE
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
TEWER

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN () HERE BRYE(E)

USE (CONTINUED)
Approximate
gross The Group's
Location floor area* Lease term interest
i Bh = EEHEAEAE* RNEH XEBFMEER
sq. ft. £ R %
Singapore
ik
Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road, Industrial 106,500 Freehold 100
Singapore 349481 T% KA FERE
The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road, Industrial 16,900 Freehold 100
Singapore 349473 T KA
Canada
mEx
838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver, B.C. Hotel 66,000 Freehold 100
B KA ZERE
4334-4340 Kingston Road, Office and workshop 20,200 Freehold 100
Ontario, MIF 2M8 for automobile KA KHE
dealership
PIEAEERN Y
MRERTHS
14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora, Office and workshop 25,000 Freehold 100
Ontario for automobile KA SERE
dealership
PR
BRERTS
us
ES=i
430 East Grand Avenue, Industrial/VWarehouse 37,000 Freehold 100
South San Francisco, CA 94080 T% /2 KA FERE
13258 Nelson Avenue, Industrial/MVarehouse 31,400 Freehold 100
City of Industry, Los Angeles, I%/8E KA
CA 91746
4510 Duraleigh Road, Raleigh, Senior Housing 52,700 Freehold 98.6
NC 27612 ZEh & KA KR
1700 Montana Drive, Charlotte, Senior Housing 34,400 Freehold 100
NC 28216 ZEZh & KA KR
3060 SE Stark Street, Portland, Senior Housing 150,500 Freehold 100
OR 97214 X e KA
14420 SW, Farmington Road, Senior Housing 35,000 Freehold 100
Beaverton, OR 97005 ZEhE KA KIE
535 U.S Highway 158W, Yanceyuville, Senior Housing 38,900 Freehold 98.6
NC 27379 ErE A KA K
2560 Willard Road, Winston-Salem, Senior Housing 33,300 Freehold 98.6
NC 27107 ZZh & KA KM
37501 Joy Road, Westland, Senior Housing 77,800 Freehold 100
Wayne County, Michigan ZERE KA
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
FEYER

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN () HERE BRYE(E)

USE (CONTINUED)

Approximate
gross

Location floor area*
25 EHEEEAE*
sq. ft. £ R

Thailand
£H

Chevalier House, Office premise and 21,300
540 Bamrungmuang Road, showroom
Debsirin Sub-district, MAERRYE
Pomprab District,
Bangkok Metropolis

Mainland China
B it

Chevalier Place, 168 An Fu Road, Residential, shop and 142,600
Xumji District, ghanghai ) carpark N
FEATRERELXER—BAT/URTE % BERkEES

Units 3-9 of 18th Floor, Office premise 13,000
Dongshan Plaza, i /NE
69 Xianlie Zhong Road,
Guangzhou
= mf‘ﬁ’f'JEFE%/d—hsﬁ%mr
TNE=FENE

Lease term

ZHNEH

Ereehold
KA

Long
A

Medium
A

(1) PROPERTIES FOR SALE (NFEWE

Approximate
gross

Location floor area*
i B EEHERAE*
sq. ft. ¥ AR

Hong Kong
&8

Units 1601-1603 on 16th Floor, 3,800
Chevalier House, 45-51 Chatham Road South,
Tsim Sha Tsui

KAPBZFERMENTAZER+—RETKE

TRE—RE—ZFT—RE=FE
Mainland China
H B A it

Phase | of Chevalier City — 240 apartment units, 637,000
66 residential units and 134 shop units,
Luyuan District, Changchun

REMGZEREEN 1 H240EQE - 66 EE T & 134 E74

Phase Il of Chevalier City — 370 residential units and 23 shop 338,000
units, Luyuan District, Changchun

REMZE T B2 HA370 EE=E KR 23 [ErH
My Villa — 11 villas and 6 shop units, 150,000

Huairou District, Beijing
ERTERERE 1 ERIEEM k6 REH
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Lease term

ZHNEH

Medium
A

Medium
A

Medium
A A

Medium
A

The Group's
interest

AEBE LR
%

100

80

100

The Group's
interest

ZF%FE{E*EIO?/E

100

96

96

44



() PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

*

+

Location

1t 2

Hong Kong
EE

URA project at Fuk Chak
Street and Li Tak Street at
Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon

NEXAEREGRAEE
MmERER

No. 4 Tai Yip Street,
Kowloon

NEAFHLT

Nos. 292A-D Prince Edward
Road West, Homantin,
Kowloon

NEAXHAFER
292A-D

No.5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin
DRELEERR

Mainland China
At

Luyuan District, Changchun
REMHRER

Excluding carparks

Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and resettlement

buildings

Stage of
completion

EE

In progress

TiR#ETH

In progress

TiR#ETH

In progress

T2

In progress
TRERF

In progress
TRERF

Expected date
of completion

EERIAH

2021

B
—Z-

2022

—F— —
—=

2022
—E-CF

2023
—E-=F

2021 to 2027
—E--F%

—E+F

SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
TEWER

()R APE

Estimated
gross floor The
Approximate area after Group's
site area completion* interest

Major usage i 88 1 3ty TERERE rEH

TERE

ARAH EBROH bR
sq.ft. FHR  sq.ft. FHER %

Residential and 8,300 61,800 100
commercial

EEREZ

Office and

6,000 72,000 100

commercial

/NN EEE S

Residential
T

Residential
FE

7,800 39,200 100

47,900 28,800 100

Residential and 1,921,000 4,607,000 96
commercial

EEREE

T REEES

+ TEEMTE 55 AREEREERZ
2 BEEE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they
are essential for maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders and comply with the increasingly stringent
regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange sets out two levels of corporate
governance code, namely code provisions that a listed company must
comply with or explain its non-compliance, and recommended best
practices that a listed company is encouraged to comply with but need
not disclose in the case of non-compliance. The Company is in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code except for the following
deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of
the Board while the Managing Director is responsible for managing the
Group's businesses. Following the retirement of Dr. Chow Yei Ching
as the Co-Chairman of the Company, Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang became the
Chairman on 30 August 2017 in addition to his position of Managing
Director of the Company. The Board believes that with Mr. Kuok's
comprehensive knowledge in the history and various business segments,
and his extensive experience in the operation of the Group, vesting the
roles of both Chairman and Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the
implementation and execution of the Group's business strategies which is
in the best interest of the Company.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. All the Non-
Executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and other Non-Executive Directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph, Mr. Yang Chuen Liang,
Charles, Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar
were unable to attend the special general meeting of the Company held
on 28 July 2017; and Mr. Irons Sze was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2017; and Mr.
Yang, Professor Poon and Mr. Sze were unable to attend the special
general meeting of the Company held on 12 October 2017 due to other
commitment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible leadership
for the Company. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act
in good faith in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies, monitors
and evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews the
corporate governance standard of the Company. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, notifiable transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, and dividend and accounting policies.
Management profile of the Company as at the date of this report is set out
on pages 20 to 23.

The Board comprises five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive
Directors and four Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board met
four times during the year under review. The attendance of Directors
at the Board Meetings, the Board Committees Meetings and General
Meetings is set out in the table below:

ERERRS

EEE
EXEgRAMARRERBRHAEREMNE
BENEE - XEF - EmER LERM
L RE AR R R R H R R ) & E R 25
RERITE - BFFIIUAEEZBER
A m - REEMAEAEEA L ER
M E2RE WA ARAZEEER
KE-BELZGNARAETEARNER  H
TREEFERPHES ATAMNRS -
BERESEE MREDIKEGFTHER -
RAREZR  RNAREEREHNHNE
20E %238 °

EEemARNTES MAIFNTES
NOBEIIFATEEEX - EFERA
CEFERARBITTOREH SEFHE
EXee3 EFZBEERABRRKRE
SEMEFERNT

Meetings Attended/Held
SRLRE/BIRE

Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Directors Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
= =g ERZES FHzEEE REZEE REXE
Executive Directors
HTES
Dr. Chow Yei Ching (former Co-Chairman) 0/2* - - - 0/2*
BINREL (G EEE)
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 4/4 - 1 n 33
BEERSE (FEREFHLAE)
Mr. Tam Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 4/4 - - - 3/3
BERTLE (FIEFEHE)
Mr. Ho Chung Leung 4/4 - - - 33
RBREE
Mr. Ma Chi Wing 4/4 - - - 3/3
SERtE
Miss Lily Chow 4/4 - - - 33
JEFIF/MA
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William 44 - - - 33
REEEL
Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar 3/4 - - - 2/3
BA#EEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph 4/4 33 7 n 213
FREEL
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles 4/4 3/3 1N 1 1/3
BESEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong 4/4 3/3 - - 1/3
BRAHE
Mr. Irons Sze 2/4 - - - 113
ML

# On medical leave since January 2016 and retired with effect from the conclusion of the

annual general meeting held on 30 August 2017.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
relationships with each other except that Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman
Emeritus of the Company, is the father of Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar,
Non-Executive Director of the Company, and Miss Lily Chow, Executive
Director of the Company; while Miss Chow is a sister of Mr. Chow.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company met at all times
the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at least three Independent
Non-Executive Directors (or representing at least one-third of the Board)
and with at least one Independent Non-Executive Director possessing
appropriate accounting and financial management expertise and
professional qualifications.

The Company received from its Independent Non-Executive Directors
annual confirmation of independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board assessed their independence and concluded that
all the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company also provides reading materials and updates
to the Directors on the latest developments and changes to the Listing
Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating to directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged a seminar for the
Directors on matters relating to Directors’ duties, ongoing disclosure and
other obligations. All Directors attended and/or received the materials at
the seminar. Directors’ training is an ongoing process and all Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses. Directors are requested to provide records of training they
received to the Company Secretary of the Company for records.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have power to appoint any person as a director either to
fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company has set up a
Nomination Committee for formulating nomination policy for consideration
by the Board and making recommendations to the Board on the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of directors. All candidates must also
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing
Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of the Company. New directors appointed by the Board during
the year are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the
annual general meeting or general meeting immediately following their
appointments. Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third are required to retire from office by
rotation and no later than the third annual general meeting since the last
re-election or appointment of such Director.

Mr. Tam Kwok Wing, Miss Lily Chow, Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph
and Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 29
August 2018 (the "AGM") in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
All the retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and updated
by the Board. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, Independent Non-Executive
Director, is the chairman of the committee. He has extensive experience
in financial reporting and controls. Other members include Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph and
Professor Poon Chung Kwong. The Audit Committee is responsible for,
among others, reviewing the nature and scope of audit performed by
external auditors and their appointments, reviewing the Group's financial
information and overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, and reviewing and monitoring
the effectiveness of the internal audit function. It is also responsible for
reviewing the interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending
them to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
March 2018. At the meetings, they reviewed the connected transactions,
last year's final results and accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017,
the interim results and financial statements for the six months ended
30 September 2017 and reviewed with management the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The final results and financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 were reviewed by the Audit Committee in the meeting held
on 21 June 2018. They also reviewed and approved the engagement of
external auditors for providing non-audit services, the remuneration in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditors, risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.
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TREARE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of
the Remuneration Committee, have been adopted and posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly
reviewed and updated by the Board. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph (chairman of the committee) and
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles; and one Executive Director, namely
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration for all Directors and senior management
of the Company, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy for approval by the Board.
The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model where it
has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors
and senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2018 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors and
senior management for the year ended 31 March 2018. Details of the
emoluments of Directors and senior management by bands are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Nomination Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee) and two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph and Mr.
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
The Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee discusses and
reviews annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
agrees on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board
and makes relevant recommendations to the Board for adoption with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2018 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assess the independence of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
recommend the re-election of retiring directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's
business to an Executive Committee which was established in 1991.
Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Executive Committee, have been adopted and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. Members of the Executive Committee comprise
five Executive Directors, namely Messrs Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the
committee), Tam Kwok Wing, Ho Chung Leung, Ma Chi Wing and Miss
Lily Chow.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage, rather than eliminate, risks of failure in operating systems or in
achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, which covers all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, on an annual basis. It also considers the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’'s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function. Significant issues in the management letters
from both internal and external auditors will be brought to the attention
of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt remedial action is taken.
All recommendations will be properly followed up to ensure they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and
procedures are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report
risks. Such risks include strategic, credit, operational (administrative,
system, human resources, tangible and reputation), market, liquidity, legal
and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is continuously monitored by
the Board through the Audit Committee.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The internal control systems include a defined management structure with
specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly defined the authorities
and key responsibilities of each division to ensure adequate checks and
balances. The internal control systems have been designed to safeguard
the Group's assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for producing reliable financial
information; and to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations
and industry standard.

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and both the
internal and external auditors with appropriate measures taken. The Board
is of the view that the risk management and internal control systems in
place for the year and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
effective and adequate.

The Company’s Internal Audit Department monitors the Group's internal
governance and strives to provide objective assurance to the Board that
appropriate, adequate and effective risk management and internal control
systems are in place. It has unrestricted access to review all aspects of
the Group's activities and internal controls. It also conducts special audits
of areas of concern identified by management or the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-based audit approach. All
audit reports are circulated to the Audit Committee and key management.
The Internal Audit Department is also responsible for following up the
implementation of recommendations and corrective actions.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries and of the Group's financial performance and cash
flows. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
have adopted generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong
and suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The Auditor
of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018 as set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 64 to 71.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the fees paid/payable to the auditors
in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors to
the Group were as follows:

ERERRS
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HE_Z-/\FZAZ=Z+—HILUBFE
N RAEEZBEN IR 2 B FER
RISE SR mT

Nature of services Amount (HK$'000)
R E SH(E¥T )
Audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 7,827
1% 8Bk 75 PricewaterhouseCoopers

REBUOKESTRIEHA M E BN R RBGE R RBET =R

— other auditors 6,914
H At 42 BLRm
Non-audit services - PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 721
FEAZ B AR 75 PricewaterhouseCoopers
EERUKEBEFTMEBIREMMERE SRKBERIRBBR N EHEMR
— other auditors 2,473
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry of all Directors, each of
the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the year under
review, the Company Secretary had duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be signed
by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) themselves, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings (“GM")

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at
a GM. The number of shareholders shall represent not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the GM, or shall not be less than
one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the GM. It must also
be signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be deposited at
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders
concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director is posted on the website of the Company.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Group's Board and senior management maintain close
communications with investors and respond promptly to their request for
information and queries (if any). A shareholders’ communication policy
has been adopted by the Board which sets out the Company’s policy
for maintaining an ongoing dialogue with shareholders and investment
community. The policy is subject to regular review by the Board to ensure
its effectiveness.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have with the Board or senior
management directly.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and annual
reports, circulars, notices and announcements. The financial and other
information relating to the Group is disclosed on the Company's website
at http://www.chevalier.com.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND BYE-LAWS OF THE
COMPANY

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”)
prepared by the Group pursuant to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide provided in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules
of the Stock Exchange.

Unless otherwise stated, this report focuses on our Hong Kong operations
which represent the core businesses of the Group.

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations and
concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable development in
economic, environmental and social terms. The table below shows how
we communicate with our key stakeholders.

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns

MEFNEE FXR - -HMERRE

RE  #HERERTRE

®=

e 75 p 7 S AR 4 Bk X P T AR B BT 8%
“HEMREERE HeRERBREESIMA
REMRE - HEREARE ((RE &
eRERME])

SRARARIAIN NBERPAEEREE
ZER - IREARRBEOZLER

AEEMERE BEBBNEEEBBEIR
AEEF I TRESNFEL HELEH
ToRMASHRMERLE REREET
EERAFERR - TRIERMETE
HEAMNEZENBBIR -

Communication channels

Shareholders and investors e Return on investments
e Corporate strategy and governance

BREEZEE o KREMDH
o ERRENER

Employees e Compensation and benefits
e Career development opportunities
e QOccupational health and safety

BN R A= A
o BEXERWE
e BEREREZE

7l
]
[ ]

e Company website

e Interim and annual reports

e General meetings

e Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

o NRAEUL

o HEIRFEME

e BREKRE

o RE - EHBE BH

e Employee activities

e Staff newsletter and intranet

e In-house training programmes

e Job performance reviews and
appraisals

e Regular meeting/training sessions

e EEREH

o BITMARABHE

o ANELIFFNGE

o T{ERINZ KM

o THIEE EIIRE
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INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED)

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns

16 B R 55 & FXR - -HMERRE

#= (8

Communication channels

Sub-contractors e Effective project management
e QOccupational health and safety
e FEthical business practices
e Sub-contractors assessment criteria

W
)
o
[ ]

BRHIAREIE
e BEREREZE
s BERERBEBFEM
o DEBHIRE

Suppliers e Long-term relationship

e Ethical business practices

e Supplier assessment criteria
HEm o RHEIG1ERAIR

e BEEBREATBR

o MHEREIMRE

General public and community e Environmental issues
e Community participation

AERME . BBERE
. HEsH

Sustainability is essential to the Group’s development, as well as for the
viability of its business and for the benefit of the community. We are
dedicated to offering premium products and services to achieve all round
customer satisfaction. The Group believes in environmental protection and
cares for the community through engaging in various charitable initiatives
to make positive contributions to society. We also nurture our staff
and offer career development opportunities to further ensure business
continuity. During the year under review, the Group committed itself to a
high standard of corporate social responsibility and strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations reporting. The two key subject areas for
reporting are: (A) Environmental, and (B) Social.
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e Training sessions

e Health, safety and environment
committee

e Regular operation meeting

e Audits and assessments

o EFIRIE

s BE Z2KRELZES

o THIZESGH

o T|AZ NG

e Procurement processes
e Regular review and assessment

o REME

o TEHIEB MFHA

e (Corporate news

e Volunteer community work
e Sponsorships and donations
o RAEIFHE

o HItRART

o EBHKRERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly from its
construction sites. Please refer to the table below for the Group’s total
emissions by category for the year.

Greenhouse gas emissions

B HBREARS

(A)3R1R

B

RARFEE AEBFSHREREE
EREHFHEMR FRALAEERE
PIBIDAFERBNE F2HTEX -

BERBIHER

Tonnes of carbon CO,

Carbon Emissions

Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions HE1: BERAE
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions  #3[E 2 : gElREZE R
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions HEI: AMHEZAEE

Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBERRE

Scope 3, being the disposal of waste, is the major source of our carbon
emissions. Waste is mainly generated from construction work sites
and from the disposal of papers, and the carbon CO, recorded from
such disposals was 15,119.21 tonnes, representing over 80% of the
Group’s total emissions. Nevertheless, all waste is non-hazardous and
have been properly disposed of. The total amount of waste generated is
set out in the table below.

DM F BB E

2 HE 316.38
TEEHE 1,816.16
TEEHE 15,119.21

17,251.75

HEIENEVMEREE) BEMBPERAE
ZRBR -BEYWEERBEETM R
REREE HEEBEEEN _StiA
15,119.21 AW - 1h ANEE B HE R = B
0% AL - BEMI - FIBEMYBE
EEEHERE - TRIEMELED
EEM RS -

Y

Waste
Type of Non-hazardous Waste BEREYER
Landfill B 3
Papers RE AR

The second largest carbon emissions came from external purchased
electricity power which recorded 1,816.16 tonnes of carbon CO,. The
electricity was mainly used for air-conditioners and lighting of all work
places.

35,515
105.16

FERREBKBINEEENES

—E AL EE1,816.16 A - B
FERARATE TESATHZEA KRR -
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(A) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

40

Emissions (continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions also came from our corporate motor
vehicles and trucks. In general, the key air pollutants generated include
nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,), and respiratory suspended
particles (also known as Particulate Matter ("PM")).

Air emissions

(A)IRIR (48

BErR Y (48)
BRERBERITRKAERMAANTE
RRE-BE EENIBZRRY
BEAELYNO) - AL D(SO) K
oK (h Ry ([PM])) -

REHEB

Emissions (kg)

Type of air pollutants
AL (NO,)
Ba e (SO,
FERLY) (PM)

Nitrogen oxides (NO,)
Sulphur oxides (SO,)
Particulate Matter (PM)

During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws and
regulations in relation to emissions.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving measures
to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to the “The
Environment and Natural Resources” below).

Use of Resources

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in all
business practices. During the year, resources consumed by the Group
are listed in the table below:

Type Resources ERE|ER
Electricity S

Diesel 450/
Water 7K

Paper ok

We implemented various energy saving measures to help reduce our
resources consumption (please refer to the “The Environment and
Natural Resources” below).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(A)ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group introduced a green policy to enhance the awareness of
environmental protection among staff with the aim of saving energy,
fully utilising resources and recycling wastes in our daily office
operation. The mission of maintaining environmental sustainability is
engrained in all levels of staff members and is a long term commitment
driven by our top management.

The Group took measures to reduce paper usage including the
promotion of the use of electronic devices, and encouraged the use
of websites and online versions of corporate communications. Since
2008, Forest Stewardship Council-certified papers have been used for
the production of our annual and interim reports to reduce the impact
on the environment.

During the year, the Group carried out extensive renovations for
the relocation of some of the Group companies’ offices. In line
with the Group’s promotion of the green policy and to save energy
consumption, devices such as occupancy and motion sensor which
automatically turn lights off when the office is not occupied, daylight
sensor which reduces electric lighting inside the building when it
is daylight, and other measurements such as, the adoption of light-
emitting diode (LED) type high energy efficiency lamps, and the
reduction of the number of light tubes in the lighting basins. Most of
our office equipments carry the Energy Label issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department which further help decrease
energy consumption in our offices.

Our construction and engineering division puts much effort into
protecting the environment at project sites. Measures implemented,
to name a few, include noise control, waste water discharge, dust
control, controlled chemical waste disposal, use of recyclable waste
materials and prevention of chemical leakage. Another example was
the use of biodiesel in some of our machineries on site. Environmental
protection policies and plans were set up for different projects. Some
of our group companies have obtained the 1ISO14001 certification
awarded by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency which also
demonstrates our commitment to environmental protection.

Our property management business has obtained the 1SO14001
certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing environmental
awareness and promoting various recycling activities through its
managed estates. Activities were held for recycling and for the
promotion of green living lifestyle for residents and tenants of
properties managed by the Group. In some of our managed sites, we
have in place recycling programs for the collection of second hand
clothes, moon cake containers, lai see envelopes, toner cartridges,
batteries, electric bulbs/tubes and glass bottles to promote recycling
to our residents and tenants. During the year, one of the managed
sites was awarded the prize of the Highest Collection Volume Estate
organised by Po Leung Kuk’s Eastern Community Green Station.

B HBREARS

(A)IRIR (&)

RIERXARER
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MEVMRERER IRABIMIRERE
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B o
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HEEEAEFREIA RSB (E R Rk
REBLERAREM - BZZTZN
FUR - AKEE-BHEERARNERER
BEeRBERRNAEFER NP HAREIN

FRIKERITMTE

RARFEE  REBETTARERE
TRERAREBASENETRRBRAE -
ERAEEHEENZEERR REREE
B ERETERREYBERREFR
BEMRRERBERFSEDEE
BERSEERAXKERIEEY
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(B) SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment and Labour Standards

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group is
committed to offering professional development opportunities and
a healthy working environment for all employees and on-site staff.
In addition, we have implemented equal opportunity employment

practices.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of approximately 4,000 full-
time employees under its subsidiaries globally. Below is an analysis of
the Group’s Hong Kong workforce by employment category, gender,
age group, employee turnover rate by gender and by age group.
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Employee Category
EEEHR

Senior Management
=REEAR

Middle Management / Professionals

TREBAR FEAE

Supervisory Staff
EEET

General / Operational Staff
—RIRIEET

Female %1% 30%

Male 514 70%

By Gender
gkl

24%

||| 10%

Male  Female
B2zt
Employee Turnover Rate
By Gender
RHRIE S HEERAL =

ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

There are four employee categories in the Group. General/operational
staff, representing approximately 80% of the total workforce, forms
the major component of the Group’s workforce. Gender distribution
is challenging to the Group, especially for the construction and
engineering segment. During the year, male employees make up 70%
of the total workforce. The largest group of employees falls in the
age category over 50 and the turnover rate of employees is evenly
distributed over the three age groups.

The Group reviews its compensation and benefits programs regularly
to ensure that its compensation and benefits packages remain
competitive. In addition, the Group continues to conduct annual review
of its pay and benefits packages including medical scheme, health
check programmes, travel insurance, training subsidies and retirement
benefits to align them with prevailing offers in the market. Different
recreational activities were also arranged by our Human Resources
Department. Interest classes and workshops were organised during
the year under review to increase the sense of belonging of our
employees. The Group also strives to help our employees maintain a
work life balance. A staff recreation centre provides staff members
with a place to rest, relax and socialise.

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to equal
opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance
and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure diversity and
equality, we recruit, remunerate and promote employees based on
their experience, skills and performance, without prejudice to age,
race, disability, gender or family status. In addition, the Group is
strongly committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and does not engage in any forced or child labour.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

a4

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and promotes
good personal conduct of its employees. Our Personal Conduct and
Staff Conduct Code in the Human Resources Policies and Procedure
Manual, can be easily accessed by staff members through our intranet.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment to all employees and on-site staff. We regularly monitor
our work environment and staff facilities. The Group has stringent
guidelines for employees who are assigned to work on construction
sites to minimise and prevent exposure to occupational hazards and to
ensure a high standard of occupational safety. Safety and health care
trainings are provided from time to time for newcomers and relevant
personnel at our construction sites so as to improve their awareness
of safety in a working environment. Moreover, we offer, and it is
mandatory for our colleagues on sites to use, special safety equipment
such as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust masks, goggles and safety
shoes. Additional rest periods and shelters, ventilation facilities and
potable water for workers are also provided during hot weather.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management business has obtained OHSAS18001 as
a recognition of its compliance with occupational health and safety
requirements since 2006. Head office and selected sites are audited
periodically by the British Standards Institution for renewal of the
certificate. We have a Safety Committee which consists of property
management staff members from head office and site level operation
staff which formulates site safety measures and policies. Regular
meetings are scheduled every 3 months for post-implementation
review of audited sites, as well as information exchange on accidents
or injuries and precautionary measures that have been taken by each
of the audited sites. Trainings are organised in each audited site every
3 months to enhance their awareness of occupational safety. We have
maintained a low accident rate in our audited sites last year. Further,
one of our group companies is the Past President of the Hong Kong
Association of Property Management Companies which promotes
the importance of occupational safety through organising various
occupational safety-related activities.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety (continued)
Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering business ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding in major
breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly. The site safety
subgroup, comprised of representatives from our project companies
and subcontractors, and operation meetings are held frequently.
During the year under review, no work related fatalities was recorded.

B HBREARS
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Occupational Health and Safety BERERZE

Work Related Fatalities HTHEBBAHNIT EW
Lost days due to work injury EATEERITIEA

Development and Training

The Group recognises that the knowledge and skills of our employees
are vital to the Group's continued business development and
success, we, therefore, encourage our staff to pursue further with
their professional development. The Group nominates staff to attend
internal and external training programs from time to time and when
appropriate. Our training programs also range from professional and
technical training to personal development skills. The Group also
provides education subsidies to encourage staff in further developing
their skills and broaden their knowledge. To continuously attract
new talents, the Group also organises apprenticeship programs and
provides apprentices with on-the-job training. The table below shows
the training provided to our staff members during the year under
review.

B In-house Training

RERLE I

B External Training
HhEREEHI

St &)

Training Category
=R

Apprenticeship Program

0 case R 0%
44 cases 4,016.5 days H

BRRIE
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

46

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers to ensure that the
entire production process is in line with our standards and rules. We
not only request our new suppliers to submit a review of all relevant
documents, but also conduct rigorous checks to assess their reliability.
We carry out inspections and assessments regularly to review our
suppliers’ standards and terminate collaboration with unqualified
suppliers.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship with
subcontractors and suppliers through an efficient procurement
system. We have also adopted systems for competitive tendering and
subcontractors’ performance monitoring and reporting. The Group
conducts regular reviews of terms and conditions of subcontracts
and supply contracts between the Group and our subcontractors and
suppliers which enables the development of effective and strong
partnerships. Such reviews cover the potential enhancement of social,
ethical, environmental and gender equality criteria in subcontracts and
supply contracts.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales services are
keys to the success and sustainability of the Group. In order to cater
for prompt response in meeting with the needs of our customers, the
Group has, therefore, set up customer service teams for its different
business units to handle customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of the personal data and privacy policy are carried out to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with relevant laws.

Since the Group is a customer focused organisation, its environmental
project team commits to make every effort to achieve customer
satisfaction through continual improvement in our quality management
system in accordance with the requirements of ISO9001:2015. The
project team has a quality policy statement serves as a guideline to all
its staff.

For our property management business, the Group discusses issues
with site managers and members of the Safety Committee, and
regularly provides updates to site managers and/or person-in-charge for
maintaining the recognition of 1ISO9001, ISO14001, OHSAS18001 or
to fulfil statutory requirements. The Group also reminds site managers
to regularly review existing contractors’ terms and take necessary
precaution measures whenever applicable.

Customer needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities of
the Group. Our information technology related businesses provide
comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back-office services
to consumers. Our customer service centre provides a wide range of
information and assistance to answer customers’ inquiries and to offer
repair and maintenance services to consumers.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Anti-Corruption

The Group has in place a series of corporate governance policies which
ensure that the Group has in place a sound corporate governance
system. Anti-corruption and business gift and entertainment, conflicts
of interests, privacy and confidentiality of information are some of the
areas covered. The corporate governance policies assure the adoption
of standard procedures across the Group and provides guidelines, and
the anti-corruption and business gifts and entertainment policy spell
out the Group's position in relation to these issues. As part of the
Group's orientation training, new employees receive training materials
and such policies are also made available to staff members in the
course of their execution of duties. During the year under review, the
Company also invited an ICAC representative to conduct seminars for
staff members with adaptation of the seminar content according to the
nature and needs of different business units. No cases of corruption
were reported within the Group during the year under review.

Intellectual properties are our Company’s vital assets, as such, we
have exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our intellectual
properties rights and interests. The Group has also in place certain
procedures and safeguards to protect customers’ information from
unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to maintain their data
privacy.

Community
Community Investment

The Group has dedicated itself to take up its corporate social
responsibility for the communities where it is present. It strives
to repay society by participating in community services, charitable
sponsorships, education, cultural and sports activities and in the
promotion of environmental protection. During the year under review,
Chevalier Group pursued a wide range of community initiatives.

The Group sponsored a variety of charitable events in the past year,
including “"HKGCC Free Ride Day” organised by the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce and “Chevalier Blood Donation Day”
co-organised with the Hong Kong Red Cross. In addition, it was the
Diamond Patron of the “Construction Industry Charity Concert 2017"
which was jointly organised by the Development Bureau and the
Construction Industry Council, with the aim to raise funds for the
Construction Charity Fund. The Group is also a long-term supporter
of the Community Chest of Hong Kong. During the year, it was one
of the major sponsors of The Community Chest 50th Anniversary in
support of the Community Chest’s initiatives to help people in need.
The Group's contribution to and care for the society is recognised and
the Group has been conferred the award of “Caring Company Logo”
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service since 2011.
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Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)
Education and Culture

The Group acknowledges that young people are the future leaders of
our society and education is crucial in building a prosperous society.
The Group financed the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong's Scholarship Programme and Vocational Training Council’s
Outstanding Industrial Attachment Scholarships. The Group established
“Chevalier Culture & Education Foundation” in 1998, aiming to
foster cultural, academic and educational exchanges amongst Hong
Kong and other countries. It has long demonstrated full support for
promoting local arts and culture development. Apart from being the
Two-Year Platinum Sponsor of Opera Hong Kong, it also sponsored
“New Year Special Japanese Traditional Dance — The Beauty of
Japanese Tradition” presented by Wakayagi Ryu Konokai, a traditional
Japanese dance school. Moreover, the Group exclusively sponsored
“McDull ® Pictures at a Concert” organised by the Hong Kong
Sinfonietta to foster public’s interest in classical music.

Sports and Environment

The Group has been a long-time patron of the Hong Kong Jockey
Club’s “Chevalier Cup Race Day"”. During the year, the Group took a
step further to support the”2017 Hong Kong Dragon Boat Carnival”
organised by the Hong Kong Tourism Board, with the aim of promoting
traditional Chinese sports culture. Meanwhile, the Group set up a
“Chevalier Dragon Boat Team” comprising colleagues from different
departments to reflect the unity and cohesion of the Group. In
addition, the Group also supported other sports activities including
"Oxfam Trailwalker 2017", “The 2018 Community Chest Corporate
Challenge”, “Shanghai Commercial Pok Oi Cycle for Millions 2018"
and “Construction Industry Happy Run and Carnival 2018" organised
by Construction Industry Council.

The Group is committed to building a green community. It gave full
support to various green advocates to promote public awareness of
environmental protection. It has a committed partnership with WWF
and is the Silver Member of WWF-Hong Kong Corporate Membership
Programme for 2017-2018.

Volunteering

The Group has in place a volunteer team — “Chevalier Cares” since
2011. During the year under review, Chevalier Cares arranged various
visits with the non-profit organisations such as the Hong Kong Young
Women's Christian Association, Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hong
Kong and Wai Ji Christian Service. It participated in different voluntary
programs and served those in need including the elderly, children,
disabled and low income families. The volunteer team contributed
approximately 800 hours of voluntary work for the aforementioned
events during the year.
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KPIs

BEARIER

A. Environmental

A RIGHE

Aspect A1l
[EHE A1

General disclosure

— R E

KPI A1.1
RIS B BUIEIZ A1

KPI'A1.2

AR A BUIEIZA1.2

KPI'A1.3

R EBUIEIZ A3

KPI'A1.4

RSB AEBUIEIRA14

KPI'A1.5

RSB IEIRA15

KPI'A1.6

R EBUIEIZA1 6
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERARBA(RE HEREABEEIDRE

Emissions

2358

Information on:

the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

BEERIMBEREER  mKETHAES AEREE
BEEVNELSHNBRREREFTHBRITABERZENRBE
FERBOIBEE -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BEm i SR R ARRE BE R BUR -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

AER %,ﬁ@}itﬁﬁtg(u MEETE) R (EmR) mE (Mg E
EEM - BERMBIH)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FEAAREREMES (AR
BEEEN  SERMEHE) -

mEETE) N (ME ) 2E (202

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FEABEREZEVES (AR
BEEEN  SERME) -

WaEHE) K (miE ) 2 E (20

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

RIS FE B R M M T SRR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

MR IEAERESEEMN X - RIEE &S0 LT
BRR -

RIE - g kER®mE

Section/Remarks

B

Emissions

B

Emissions

B

Emissions

B

No hazardous waste was
produced.

Emissions

e

The Environment and Natural
Resources

RERKAER

Emissions; The Environment
and Natural Resources
e IR R RAEIR
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KPIs

BEARIER

Aspect A2
EBEA2

General disclosure

—RIWE

KPI'A2.1

BB 4B IR A2

KPI'A2.2

RSB MUIEIRA2.2

KPI'A2.3

RRAEIEIRA23

KPI'A2.4

RS AR IEIR A2 4

KPI'A2.5

RS AE AR IEIRA2.5

Aspect A3

[Z E A3

General disclosure

—REE

KPI' A3.1

R4 IR IR A3
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BERARG(RE HEREARBEEIDHAE
Use of resources

BIREH

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

ERERER(BIEER  KREMEME) BECR

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.qg.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REDESNEE R SREERR(NE - fdom) BFEE (A
FETFRNHE) REE MASER B - SERIEHE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREKEREE (WAGEEEN BERZRETE) -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

it g IR A R s AT B M PSR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

A SREGE A KR R A ERIEE - A RIRA KRR E
RATSAHR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

B mAREMENES (UARAWEE) R (ER) 84
EEMEE -

The environment and natural resources

REMKAER

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BEBRTALERERRABEREXNEATEHNBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

M EBEHERRRERARERNEACEREERNERS
AR ENITE -
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Section/Remarks

BE

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERKXAER

Use of Resources

BIREHM

Use of Resources

BIREH

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERRAER

It is not a major issue for our
business.

EWIFFRFIEHOERMHE -

Our operation does not
involve significant use of
packaging material.

B EET S RARERA
BEMHE -

The Environment and Natural
Resources
REBERRAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources

RERRAER



KPIs

BEREENIEE
B. Social
B. #&
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERARBA(RE HEREABEEIDRE

Employment and Labour Practices

ERNMSETER

Aspect B1
JZ E B1

General disclosure

—MRIXEE

KPI'B1.1

RA S4B IE1R B

KPI'B1.2

RS ANIE1RB1.2

Aspect B2
[E B2

General disclosure

—RWE

KPI'B2.1

RA S AR IR 1R B2.1

KPI B2.2
FAS A M ISR B2.2

Employment

(A

Information on:

the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERAFMRmE HEREA TR - RE - FTEKE -
%t~ RIERIA R H Al 5538 RAR N BV ERR + M8 SF 31T
ABEARZENEBERRROIBER

Total workforce by employment type, gender, and age group.
REREAR - R MFRERSIDEEEBE -

Employee turnover rate by gender and age group.

RIER R FiARIEI DB EERARLX -

Health and safety
fERERT S

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
ERARMZ2TERERREEEREBELBTNBER
BIFHBTABEARTENHBEZRROINEH -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

B T AERR AL T A A Bt -

Lost days due to work injury.
AIBELAIERE -

B HBREARS

Section/Remarks

BE

Employment and Labour
Practices Standards

Employment and Labour
Standards

B 1E &4 TAR)
Employment and Labour

Standards
BIE RS T %A

Health and Safety

RERZZ

Health and Safety
BERZE

Health and Safety
REREZE
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KPIs

BRENER
KPIB2.3

AR B BIEIEB2.3

Aspect B3
[EHE B3

General disclosure

—RBE
KPI B3.1
A 4R B 1R B3
KPI B3.2
R AE

HMIEIZB3.2

Aspect B4
B B4

General disclosure

—REE

KPI B4.1
RAB AR IR B4
KPI B4.2

FAREIERBA.2

Operating Practices

=EED

Aspect Bb
[& 1 B5

General disclosure

—MRIXE

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERARBA(RE HEREABEEIDRE
Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

Rt PR AR B SR IR B B 22 2450 - DA SRR T MBSO -

Development and training

R M IE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BHARTEERIT LIEBRE MBS KRR ER - f 55l
JEED o

The percentage of employees trained by employee category.

HEEBNETNEIEEESL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
BMFIREEEMNED  BRESTHREIN TR -

Labour standards
HITAR

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRI ET SRS THERRETHRITABEAZLE
AR RO ER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

faut it BB E DI AR R E T Mot E T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
7 25 IR AR LI E R A BB P ERE ) P 5R -

Supply chain management

HrEREE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

EEHEENREIEGRARBR
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Section/Remarks

Health and Safety

BEEZ2

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training

R N IE

Not applicable

Em

Employment and Labour
Standards

1 N g5 T 2R

Employment and Labour
Standards
1B 16 R 25 T8

Employment and Labour

Standards
1B 2 &5 T 2R

Supply Chain Management

HresEE g



KPIs

BEARIER
KPI B5.1
A 1 A48 A 1R B5.1

KPI B5.2

RAS4E AN I515 B5.2

Aspect B6

EmEBe

General disclosure

— R

KPI B6.1
RS AR 1R B6.1
KPI B6.2
RASAE M 515 B6.2
KPI B6.3
PSR M 515 B6.3
KPI B6.4
RABAIEIRB6.4
KPI B6.5

RA# 4B MIE 1R B6.5
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERARBA(RE HEREABEEIDRE
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR e DM HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
B AREAEERMED  mERNTEBENHEERE
B AREBEGRNMITRERGE-

Product responsibility
EmAE

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
BHFMREEMNRENERELZSY  BE RERILES
HARHER A ENBR REBFHBEITABERZENRRE
FERIRBINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.
EEIDEXERAHPRL 2 BEFRIEAMARKNN B L o

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

BREBARERMRBOFHREAREHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

R s N REABEREE BRED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
HiEeRERERERBRKET -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

WU B EERRE LB  ARBERTRERTE -

B HBREARS

Section/Remarks
BE B

Not applicable
TEA

Supply Chain Management

e SR 12

Product Responsibility

e
S0
il
[=h

Not applicable

i A

Product Responsibility
EmaE
Anti-Corruption
R&S
Product Responsibility
EmEME

Product Responsibility

EmEE
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KPIs

BEARIER

Aspect B7
EEB7

General disclosure

—REE

KPIB7.1

RAGRAE AIR 1R BT 1

KPI'B7.2

RAIR B MIEIZ BT .2

Community

o

Aspect B8
[E B8

General disclosure

— R E

KPI B8.1

AR 4R 1515 BB.1

KPI B8.2
PR IE IR 1R B8.2
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERARBA(RE HEREABEEIDRE
Anti-corruption

R&ER

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B IEER  $1R - BEFRERBENBER RETHETA
BERTENHEBERERROINER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERARNEETASEEBERLYEEENESFARY
KB B e anfE R -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

L S HE M R B MAZ T - ARMBERITRER X -

Community investment

HERIRE

Policies on community engagement to understand the

needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

BN RB2ERTRETALCENEHLET EMERELE
BEBEE Bt R A A R o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
HIEREE(NHE BEFHE SHIFK @K k-

g5) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIREMHMBER (M ENKERE) -
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Section/Remarks

BE

Anti-Corruption

k&S

During the year, no cases of

corruption were reported.

RAFE  WERBEESRN -

Anti-Corruption

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HEEE

Community Investment

HERE



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are construction and engineering, property
investment, property development and operations, healthcare investment,
and car dealership. Other ancillary and supporting businesses of principal
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that are integrated with the
main businesses of the Group are shown on pages 174 to 180.

The Group's revenue and results for the year ended 31 March 2018,
analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred subsequent to
the year ended 31 March 2018 (if any), a description of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and discussion on the Group’s prospects
are provided in the Letter to Shareholders on page 8, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 to 13, Financial Review on pages
14 to 19 and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
discussions on the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with its key
stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the Corporate
Governance Report and Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 28 to 36 and pages 37 to 54, respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 73. The Board now
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.25 (2017: HK$0.40)
per share in cash payable to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday, 12 September
2018. Together with a special interim dividend of HK$1.40 (2017: Nil)
and an interim dividend of HK$0.10 (2017: HK$0.20) per share paid on
Wednesday, 27 September 2017 and Thursday, 21 December 2017,
respectively, the total dividends for the year amounted to HK$1.75 (2017:
HK$0.60) per share. Subject to the approval by shareholders at the AGM,
the proposed final dividend will be payable in cash to shareholders on or
about Tuesday, 18 September 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 22
August 2018 to Wednesday, 29 August 2018, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 21 August 2018.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject to the
passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company at
the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 6 September 2018 to Wednesday, 12 September 2018, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited,
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 5 September 2018.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in note 34 and note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$1,496,619,000 (2017: HK$1,307,773,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2018
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on pages
2 to 5 and on pages 14 to 19, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30%
respectively. None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder (whom to the knowledge
of the Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company) as at 31 March 2018 has any interest in the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set
out on pages 24 to 27.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 4,000 full-time staff under its
subsidiaries globally as at 31 March 2018. Total staff costs amounted to
HK$1,034 million for the year ended 31 March 2018. The remuneration
policies of the Group are reviewed periodically on the basis of the nature
of job, market trend, company performance and individual performance.
Other staff benefits include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis,
medical schemes and retirement schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior management
is based on their contribution to the performance of the Group and is
supervised by the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
of the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of HK$15,755,000 to
charitable bodies.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which
he/she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings which may
be brought against the Directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. CHOW Yei Ching (former Co-Chairman who retired on
30 August 2017)
(Chairman and Managing Director)

(Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing
Mr. HO Chung Leung
Mr. MA Chi Wing
Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ir. Dr. CHOW Ming Kuen, Joseph
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

In recognition of Dr. Chow Yei Ching's exceptional contributions to the
Group during his tenure of services, the Board honoured Dr. Chow with
the title of Chairman Emeritus of the Company following his retirement.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, Mr. Tam Kwok Wing,
Miss Lily Chow, Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph and Dr. Ko Chan Gock,
William shall retire from office at the AGM and, being eligible, may offer
themselves for re-election. The Non-Executive Directors are subject
to the same retirement requirements as the Executive Directors. The
biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this
report are set out in the “Management Profile” section on pages 20 to 23.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transaction”
below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company's subsidiaries was a party or were parties and in which a director
of the Company or his or her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2018, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, no other person has interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO); or are required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or are
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees and
the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic
salary, depending on the length of service with the Group. For members of
the MPF Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs
per employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month for the year ended
31 March 2018, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in countries
or locations where the Group operates. The Group is required to make
defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage or sum of
the monthly payroll.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$30
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this report,
the Group conducted the following transaction which constituted a
connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange. Details of the transaction had been disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 August 2017 and is required
under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in this Annual Report and on note
36(b)(ix) to consolidated financial statements of the Company.

CIH (BVI) Limited and Lucky Fine Limited, the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company as the vendors, and Madam Miyakawa Michiko as the
purchaser (the “Purchaser”), entered into an agreement on 30 August
2017 in relation to the sale and purchase of the 10,000 shares in the
capital of Talent Luck Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, at a cash consideration of HK$610,000,000 (the “Disposal”).
The Purchaser is the spouse of Dr. Chow Yei Ching who is the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding 189,490,248 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 62.76% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company. By virtue of the Purchaser being an associate of Dr. Chow,
the Disposal constituted a connected transaction for the Company which
is subject to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
transaction was approved by independent shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 12 October 2017.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of the persons
or corporations in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
have been disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Substantial shareholders

Capacity
FERR &5

CHOW Yei Ching Beneficial owner
JE R EnEAA
MIYAKAWA Michiko Interest of spouse
EINESF Al B

¥ Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of Dr. Chow Yei Ching, is
deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248 shares held by Dr. Chow.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, so far as is known to
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person
has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations which
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or,
were directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company.

ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, with
deviations from code provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and A.6.7 of the Listing Rules
which have already been stated in the Corporate Governance Report of
the Annual Report. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 28 to 36.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of Directors’
biographical details since the date of the Company’'s Interim Report
2017-2018 is set out as follows:

(@) Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar is the Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of
Bahrain in Hong Kong with effect from 10 May 2018.

(b) Professor Poon Chung Kwong had resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited on
2 May 2018.

(c) Mr. Irons Sze was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the nomination committee and member of the audit
committee of ST International Holdings Company Limited on 15 May
2018.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’
biographical details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the Company’s
share which is in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares as at 28 June 2018, the latest practicable
date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B AR E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 180,
which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e Revenue recognition from construction works;

e Valuation of investment properties;

e Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale; and o

e |mpairment assessment of goodwill.

Key Audit Matter
BRESSE

Revenue recognition from construction works

BEEIRHNKBAER
Refer to notes 4(g) and 6 to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recognised revenue
from the construction works of HK$2,399 million.

The recognition of revenue from the construction works
involves a high degree of management judgement in relation to
the determination of gross profit margin of each construction
contract, which is determined based on the estimated total
construction costs, estimated total construction contract sum
(including variation orders and claims), as well as the percentage of
completion of construction works. Most of the construction works
take more than one year to complete during which the project
scope may change from time to time. Management estimate the
contract revenue and budgeted cost at the commencement of the
contracts and regularly reassess these amounts and the financial
impact with reference to the progress of construction works.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BPNEF AR ERRETSE

Our procedures in relation to management'’s recognition of revenue from
construction works included:

e Tested the key controls around the construction cycle with
particular focus on, but not limited to, controls over cost
budgeting and periodic review of estimated total construction
costs and contract sum;

e |n our testing of management’s estimation on gross profit
margin of each construction contract, which is determined
based on the total construction costs, total construction
contract sum and the percentage of completion of construction
works at the end of the reporting period, we selected a number
of construction works on a sample basis and:

e discussed with management and the respective project
teams on the progress of the projects;
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Key Audit Matter
BREEE

Due to the existence of significant management judgement
required to determine the amount and timing of revenue
recognised from the construction works, we considered it a key
audit matter.

HREFRETREMBERRANSELEHRFFEEEIEHE
RHE - BPIEZERERERESFSE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNAEERRETSEE

e assessed management’s estimates in relation to matters
that may impact the estimated contract sum and contract
costs arising from the variation to the original contracts,
such as, claims, disputes, variation orders and liquidation
damages with reference to the correspondence between
the Group, subcontractors and suppliers which support
management'’s estimate of changes to construction works;

e tested the actual costs incurred on construction works
during the reporting period by tracing to supporting
documents including architect's certificates issued to
subcontractors and invoices from subcontractors and
suppliers;

e recalculated the revised percentage of completion based on
the latest estimated total construction sum and the actual
construction revenue certified by the architect; and

e recalculated the construction costs recognised based on
the revised percentage of completion.

We consider management’'s estimates in determining the
budgeted revenue and costs and the percentage of completion of
construction works and revenue recognised to be supported by the
available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
BREEE

Valuation of investment properties

REMENKE
Refer to notes 4(a) and 14 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group's investment properties were carried at HK$3,791
million as at 31 March 2018 and a revaluation gain of HK$191
million was recognised in the consolidated income statement as
part of other gains, net. The Group’s investment property portfolio
comprises of commercial, residential and industrial properties in
Hong Kong, the Mainland China and overseas.

Management has engaged independent external valuers, to
estimate the fair value of the Group's investment properties as at
31 March 2018 based on the income capitalisation approach and
where appropriate, direct comparison approach.

The valuation of investment properties depends on certain key
assumptions that require significant management judgement,
including capitalisation rates and prevailing market rents.

Due to the existence of significant management judgement in

assumptions used in the valuation of investment properties we
considered it a key audit matter.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNAEERRETSEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of investment
properties included:

e Evaluating the independent valuers’ competence, capabilities
and objectivity;

e Obtaining the valuation report including the market comparable
data used and meeting with independent valuers to discuss the
valuation methodologies;

e Checking the accuracy of input data, on a sample basis, used by
the independent valuers including rental income and occupancy
rates by agreeing them back to management’s records,
historical actual information or other supporting documentation
including key terms of lease agreements and rental income
schedules; and

e |nvolved our internal valuation experts to assess the
methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of properties by comparing
the data used by the independent valuers against the published
market yields for capitalisation rates, prevailing market rents of
leasing transactions of comparable properties and recent market
transaction prices of properties with comparable conditions and
locations, where appropriate.

We consider management'’s valuation of investment properties to
be supported by the available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
BREEE

Recoverability of properties under development and properties
for sale

BREPUERSEMENTERDE M

Refer to notes 4(e), 21 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$2,128 million and HK$579 million of properties
under development and properties for sale respectively as at
31 March 2018. The Group’s development properties portfolio
comprises of completed properties and properties under
development in Hong Kong and the Mainland China.

Management assessed the recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale based on an estimation
of the net realisable value of the underlying properties which
involves considerable analyses of the current market price of
properties of a comparable standard and location, construction
costs to be incurred to complete the development and a forecast
of future selling price or reference to the valuation report from the
independence valuer, if applicable.

If the actual net realisable values of the underlying stock of
properties are more or less than expected as a result of changes
in market condition and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, material reversal of or provision for impairment
losses may result.

Due to the existence of estimation uncertainty and management
judgement in assessing the recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale, we considered it a key audit
matter.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNAEERRETSEE

Our procedures in relation to management’'s assessment on the
recoverability of properties under development and properties for
sale included:

e Testing the key controls around the property construction cycle
with particular focus on, but not limited to, controls over cost
budgeting for estimated costs to completion;

e Evaluating the independent valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity;

e Obtaining the valuation report and meeting with the
independent valuer to discuss the valuation methodologies for
certain properties; and

e Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions used/
adopted in management's assessment, on a sample of
properties selected, including:

e expected future sales prices which we compared to
the contracted sales price of the underlying properties
or current market prices of properties with comparable
standards and locations, where applicable;

e anticipated cost to completion and committed contracts,
for which we compared total construction costs to latest
approved budgets and checked those budgets to supporting
documentations such as signed contracts.

We found that management’s assessment on recoverability of
properties under development and properties for sale is supportable
in light of available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
BREEE

Impairment assessment of goodwiill

BENRENMG
Refer to notes 4(c) and 37 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group had HK$612 million of goodwill as at 31 March 2018
relating to the senior housing business in United States of America.

Management assessed whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable
amounts of cash generating units (“CGU") have been determined
by management based on value-in-use calculations. The value
in use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management which involve the use of
judgement applied by management such as determining discount
rate and net operating income.

Due to the existence of estimation uncertainty and management
judgement in assessing the potential impairment of goodwill we
considered it a key audit matter.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNAEERRETSEE

The procedures performed to assess the methodologies and
assumptions used by management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill are summarised below:

e Testing the key controls surrounding the impairment
assessment process;

e Evaluated the valuation methodologies used in the impairment
assessment prepared by management;

e Agreed the input data used by management to supporting
evidence such as actual results, financial budgets approved by
management and other supporting documents; and

e Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions such as
discount rate and net operating income applied by management
including discussion with management to understand and
evaluate management'’s basis for selecting the assumptions,
compared the current year actual results with the prior year
forecast and benchmarked to available market information to
assess the reasonableness of management forecasts.

We considered the assumptions used by management in the
impairment assessment of goodwill to be supported by available
evidence.
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the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial = Eiﬁiﬁ?éﬁﬂ‘k#fﬁ’%&‘ﬁﬁﬁ%ufﬂ&‘?ﬁﬁT

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Cho Kin Lun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
e lER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZ-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

2018
o
HK$°000
BT T
Revenue A 6 6,980,400 4,759,376
Cost of sales HE XA (6,105,507) (4,015,070)
Gross profit EF 874,893 744,306
Other income, net Hib A - F58 7 73,878 106,219
Other gains, net Haas o F8 8 154,484 206,370
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR (EBE) 8 715,075 (3,707)
Selling and distribution costs $HE RALEHA AR (146,941) (101,223)
Administrative expenses TR (330,318) (217,853)
Operating profit Fea=inpil 1,341,071 734,112
Share of results of associates DIy I aNEI 18 57,918 87,922
Share of results of joint ventures b & nERE 19 (60,490) (4,672)
1,338,499 817,362
Finance income B TSI 9 21,636 19,333
Finance costs M%ER 9 (92,309) (93,538)
Finance costs, net MBER - FHE 9 . (70673) ____ (74,205)
Profit before taxation B B2 Al i ) 10 1,267,826 743,157
Taxation HIE 11 (296,344) (132,025)
Profit for the year FEEHRA 971,482 611,132
Attributable to: EBE:
Shareholders of the Company VNN §5) 907,929 540,263
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 63,553 70,869
971,482 611,132
Earnings per share BREF
— basic (HK$ per share) —ER(GRAEE) 12 3.01 1.79
— diluted (HK$ per share) — 5 (FREE) 12 3.01 1.79

The notes on pages 80 to 180 are integral parts of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZE-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expenses)/
income for the year

Item that may not be reclassified to
profit or loss
Fair value (loss)/surplus of properties for
own use

Items that may be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation of
operations of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

Change in fair value of available-for-sale
investments

Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments transferred to consolidated
income statement

Fair value adjustments on the derivative
financial instruments designated as cash
flow hedge in respect of interest rate swap
and foreign currency forward contracts

Other comprehensive income/(expenses)
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note:

FERR

FEHEME2E (XH), W

THRIEENBEERHNEAR
BRMEZAAEBE(ER) B

HETRENSEZBENER

BEEINIB AR - BE QTR
BRLRIEBMELZ
SINGE T 3 2 BR

AHEEZRENAAEED

AHHEZRENRERR
BREEANRER

BERBRESRELPHITET B TA

BRAN R RHIMNES D8

NAEHE

FEEMBEEKR(ZH) - BBk

FEZEREZAE

PE1 7
/NS S
JEE R R

[tems shown within other comprehensive (expenses)/income are disclosed net of tax.

The notes on pages 80 to 180 are integral parts of these consolidated financial

statements.
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2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
BT T
971,482 611,132
(22,447) 94,395
393,900 (237,786)
1,248 9,506
3,377 5,676
2,443 4,985
________ 378521 _(123224)
1,350,003 487,908
1,259,846 429,878
90,157 58,030
1,350,003 487,908
st
WE A 2 (3 ),/ W35 5T R 2 T8 B T IR0 R BE %
B -

FBOREE1B0AZMEIUMSHREMBREKZ
HRED -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018
A—E-NE=F=+—H

2017
===
HK$'000
BETF T
Non-current assets RBEE
Investment properties BEME 14 3,791,245 3,832,583
Property, plant and equipment Y - B R 15 2,784,738 2,330,127
Goodwill S 16 681,839 629,741
Other intangible assets HEmEpaE 17 31,352 9,386
Interests in associates A= l/N o 18 468,411 518,705
Interests in joint ventures BEDEIER 19 1,112,486 591,623
Available-for-sale investments AIHEEZIRE 20 265,766 124,154
Properties under development BEPYE 21 642,713 565,828
Deferred tax assets REFIBE E 35 42,171 26,815
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 22 89,536 82,837
9,910,257 8,711,799
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from associates FE M R BIBR K 18 18,575 14,985
Amounts due from joint ventures MG E R ERR 19 9,085 7,828
Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEUIE PR R A 2 AR X 39,025 71,862
Investments at fair value through profit or loss AR EIABHEE ZEE 23 430,805 554,771
Inventories FE 24 344,577 298,999
Properties for sale HEME 25 578,665 377,635
Properties under development BEPYE 21 1,485,581 511,116
Debtors, deposits and prepayments EWER  FHZke RBMANRE 26 1,466,445 1,392,634
Amounts due from customers for RAHTIRERARFWEZ 5KE
contract work 27 88,563 114,795
Derivative financial instruments PTEFBITA 28 373 97
Prepaid tax TER R IE 9,138 11,782
Bank balances and cash WITHEFERA S 29 1,723,452 1,761,632
6,194,284 5,118,036
Assets held-for-sale RIELEEE 44 = 1,233,787
6,194,284 6,351,823
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to joint ventures EREaERERR 19 7,524 1,581
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAT FE PR AR BE 2R AR 3K 325,166 260,964
Amounts due to customers for contract work RAEHNIRERARFPSZFZKE 27 639,791 555,512
Derivative financial instruments PTEMBTA 28 233 2,974
Creditors, bills payable, deposits and accruals ERER  BNRE TAKRS
RIERERA 30 1,642,245 1,921,861
Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired FEERBRE R A BHRBFEE
risk reserves 59,536 60,279
Outstanding insurance claims FIRREBRE 31 255,438 305,272
Deferred income PEIEUT A 22,403 21,158
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHAE 69,028 74,798
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMEK 32 767,670 520,247
3,789,034 3,724,646
Liabilities directly associated with assets HBEHEEEEREBCAE
held-for-sale 44 - 148,268
______ 3,789,034 3872914
Net current assets RBEEFEE 2,405,250 2,478,909
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBERE 12,315,507 11,190,708
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e IR R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018
RZZE-N\E=ZB=+—H

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T
Capital and reserves BARG#E
Share capital [N 33 377,411 377,411
Reserves #fE 34 8,355,324 7,692,045
Shareholders’ funds REES 8,732,735 7,969,456
Non-controlling interests IR A 603,005 533,863
Total equity b £ 9,335,740 8,503,319
Non-current liabilities FREBERE
Unearned insurance premiums RIERRE 30,606 44,705
Bank and other borrowings R1TREAMIE K 32 2,608,832 2,270,192
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE 35 340,329 372,492
______ 2,979,767 2,687,389
Total equity and non-current liabilities HEZRFERBER 12,315,507 11,190,708
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2018 and signed on its behalf by: KEFEEN_FT—N\FNAZTN\BH#E I
BT ESERERES:
KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung
EE R
Director Director
2 2
The notes on pages 80 to 180 are integral parts of these consolidated financial ESOEEIS0BEZMEIHEHGREMBEIHRERZ
statements. HRED ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZ-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

Equity
attributable to Non-
shareholders of controlling Total
the Company interests equity
AAFRR
FEfhRER FERER HER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2017 R-Z-tEWMA—H 7,969,456 533,863 8,503,319
Profit for the year FREN 907,929 63,553 971,482
Fair value loss of properties for own use BRNEZARBER (22,447) - (22,447)
Exchange difference on translation of operations of overseas #EEB AR - BEA NG RAZD
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures EVEBMEAZMNERRER 367,296 26,604 393,900
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments AREEZRENDABEE 1,248 - 1,248
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments transferred A4 & 2 RERBEB BEEZ L
to consolidated income statement AlER 3377 - 3,377

Fair value adjustments on the derivative financial instruments 38 A% & RE W HHTEB KT A
designated as cash flow hedge in respect of interest rate BRARRAERBINES DDA

swap and foreign currency forward contracts BHE 2,443 - 2,443
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXANGEHE 1,259,846 90,157 1,350,003
Dividends paid BERERE (573,664) = (573,664)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BN TFIHERERZES - (28,049) (28,049)
Disposals of HE

- Chinaford and Dolce Field -RER#HI 65,033 - 65,033

- a subsidiary ——AHBAR - (2,207) (2,207)
Changes in ownership interests in NC1 Sandhill without A4k £ 5 2 NCT Sandhill 695 B

loss of control EEXEE 12,064 (64) 12,000
Step-up acquisition of an associate and become a subsidiary & J1UEE — B & N BT E A

wExs S e 9305 . 9,305
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=f=+—H 8,732,735 603,005 9,335,740
At 1 April 2016 R-B-AEME-H 7,749,684 488,571 8,238,255
Profit for the year FERF 540,263 70,869 611,132
Fair value surplus of properties for own use ERMEL AN ERER 94,395 - 94,395
Exchange difference on translation of operations of overseas #EEB AR - BEANFRAZD

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures EVEBMEAZMNERRER (224,947) (12,839) (237,786)
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments AREEZRENRABEED 9,506 - 9,506
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments transferred A4 H& 7 RERBEB BEEZ L

to consolidated income statement AlER 5,676 - 5,676

Fair value adjustments on the derivative financial instruments 8 AR &R EHPNITERKIA
designated as cash flow hedge in respect of interest rate B ERERRERNEANNAR

swap and foreign currency forward contracts BHE 4,985 - 4,985
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXANGHE 429,878 58,030 487,908
Dividends paid BRE (211,350) - (211,350
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BN TFIHERERZES - (17,536) (17,536)
Capital contributions by non-controlling interests FERERETEA - 5,159 5,159
Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Group BRAEKEEGEE - 21,305 21,305
Disposals of HE

- Wonder —Wonder 1,509 (21,651) (20,142)

- other subsidiaries -Enmgr: (265) s (280)
At 31 March 2017 R-E-tE=f=+—-H 7,969,456 533,863 8,503,319

The notes on pages 80 to 180 are integral parts of these consolidated financial ESOEZEI1S0BE ZME I HEHGREM KRR
statements. AR EB D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A =1 %
?ﬂh-. = iﬁﬁ)}lbi
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-E—-\E=A=1+—HLEE

Operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Interest paid
Profits tax paid
Profits tax refund

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities

Investing activities
Interest received
Dividends received from associates
Dividends received from joint ventures
Dividends received from investments
Purchase of investment properties
Proceeds from disposal of an investment

property

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant

and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net cash outflows from acquisitions of
— senior housing properties
— Silver Prosper
— Moon Colour
— other subsidiaries
Net cash inflows from disposals of
— Chinaford and Dolce Field
— Talent Luck
—NC1 Sandhill
— Wonder
Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Group
Capital contributions by non-controlling
interests

Net cash inflows from step-up acquisition of

an associate and become a subsidiary
Advances to associates
Repayments from associates
Proceeds from disposal of an associate
Investment in a joint venture
Advances to joint ventures
Repayments to joint ventures

Payment for available-for-sale investments

Proceeds from disposals of
available-for-sale investments

(Increase)/decrease in unpledged bank
deposits maturing after three months

Net cash from investing activities

e

(AR REEEZRE
BEAHE

EAN SR
MISBUR

(AR),/ REREXBREFE

REEH

B RS

B =N A 3§
BREZEEZEE
BUWRE 2 B8
BEREME
HE—RREWMEZFAEHRA

EEWE  BERE
HEDE  WERRERHZ
Fri8 3k
BEERVAE
WHETHIEE 2B e mt FE
—REREYWHE
—iREREEE
—Moon Colour
—E BB A A
HETIIER 2RERAFE
—REREHR
—FEBEHREE
—NC1 Sandhill
—Wonder
RAWEESEE
IEIERERERZA

S DR — R Es R RIS
MEBARZRERAFHE
REAUNCII N (S P
RABERR 2 EEHA

H & — R = R B Z S RIA
N—RE2bXZRE
AaEhEMEZER
BEAEME A

AR EZRE Z MR
HEAHEEZREZ
FriS30A
=EREEI 2 EmEH
RITFHRCEM), R

RAREXBREFHE
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36(a)

36(b)(i)
36(b)(ii)
36(b)(iv)

36(b)(vii)
36(b)(ix)
36(b)(viii)
36(b)(xi)
36(b)(x)

36(b)(vi)

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
BT
(121,500) 314,172
(92,309) (105,627)
(214,001) (82,402)
11,698 613
(416,112) 126,756
21,636 19,333
99,370 218,225
7,132 -
18,974 10,538
(113,528) (9,628)
- 5,973
(238,975) (44,874)
11,071 3,753
(224) (6,749)
(257,785) -
(225,212) -
(360,272) -
(26,393) -
1,517,829 -
608,499 -
12,000 -
- 30,284
- 120,309
- 5,159
8,736 -
(3,590) -
- 2,848
7,964 -
(550,414) -
(16,724) (7,600)
13,710 4,099
(151,570) -
11,206 14,780
(38,195) 283,920
355,245 650,370



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T
Financing activities S-S
Dividends paid [RENEiEESN (573,664) (211,350)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B FIE RS 2 R B (28,049) (17,536)
Drawn down of bank and other borrowings IREVRTT R E At fE 3R 2,339,943 2,327,513
Repayments of bank and other borrowings EEIRITREMERK (1,791,236) (2,723,661)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank EIEIRRIT TR 0)
deposits 351,504 (72,457)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activites RB (AR)MEXBzHLFH @ 298,498  (697,491)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBRSESEYIEM 237,631 79,635
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FIZESRESZEEY
of the year 1,337,894 1,374,081
Bank balances and cash transferred to ERERFLEEEZRITER
assets held-for-sale kB 44 - (110,004)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates /NEEZREE S & 37,498 (5,818)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZEEREASEEY
of the year 1,613,023 1,337,894
Analysis of balances of cash and cash ReRBESEBYZEEFZIMN
equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEFREAS 29 1,723,452 1,761,632
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BIEEIRITIE K (54,363) (405,867)
Less: Unpledged bank deposits A =B AR HR 2
maturing after three months RITER (56,066) (17,871)
1,613,023 1,337,894
The notes on pages 80 to 180 are integral parts of these consolidated financial FESOEEIS0E v MADNMEREHBRE 2
statements. AR EB D ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZE-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

1

80

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public listed
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are Canon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM12, Bermuda and 22nd Floor, Chevalier
Commercial Centre, 8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.
The Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while the activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company. The consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 June 2018.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investment properties, staff quarter, available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4
to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Amendments and improvements to existing standards that
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 April
2017

The following amendments and improvements to existing standards,
that are relevant to the Group's operation, are mandatory for the
financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2017:

e HKAS 7 (amendment), “Disclosure initiative”

e HKAS 12 (amendment), “Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses”

e Annual Improvements Project — Improvements to HKFRS
2014 - 2016 Cycle

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amendments and improvements to existing standards that
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 April
2017 (continued)

The adoption of the amendments and improvements to existing
standards does not have significant impact on the Group's consolidated
results and financial position nor any substantial changes in the Group's
accounting policies and the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

New standards, amendments and improvements to existing
standards that have been issued but not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

The following new standards, amendments and improvements to
existing standards, that are relevant to the Group's operation, have
been issued but not yet effective for the financial year of the Group
beginning on 1 April 2017 and have not been early adopted:

HKAS 19 (amendment), “Employee benefits"?

e HKAS 28 (amendment), “Long term interests in an associate and
joint venture"?

e HKFRS 4 (amendment), “Applying HKFRS 9 Financial instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts”"

e HKFRS 9 (2014), “Financial instruments™’

e HKFRS 9 (amendment), “Prepayment features with negative
compensation”?

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendment), “Sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture”?

e HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”’

e HKFRS 15 (amendment), “Clarification of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers”’

e HKFRS 16, “Leases"?

e HKFRS 17,” Insurance Contracts”*

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

2 EXEFEERESE ()

(a) REEE ()
(i) *EER-_Z-—tFWA-BY

REERRERNREERN 26
HEE S 46 )

SR AN B 2 5 5T A R B 3 A
EETHAEARTERALESE
APE HAEE SHBERE
AEBHEL 25 MELEEAES) -

EEMEREREAEBALER
ARAMNHFTEARREEN
LHENSEE::

THRAEE S BRG] LR
RBEERANZEFTA R BER DA
o - ERAEER -_ZT—+FMA
— BRI 2 M IREE AR M R
EIRBIRA

o FAEGHEAF 195 (BRIK)
[fEB1&H )2

o BBEIERIZ 85 (EHE) -
TABEARRAEDE Y £
ik

o BAEVBMESERFELR (BFT
) RAEBUBMSESERES
SEIRBRE K]S —GHEMBEEY
BHREERNFE IR IMETA

o FREUBMELEMNFEIR(=F
—mF) M TA]

o BEBGMEEREOR (55T
A)  [BRBEERNENK
B )

o BAUBWSENFI0RRE
BErrERAIE 285 (BT AK)
[REZHFBEABERRARAZEDR
EHHBEITABE]

o EHEMBMEEAF G [T
PAEKZEAL

o EHEMBWMEERE 155 (BT
) [BBHBHELERF 156
HEFPAEHRAZEE]

o HEAMBWMEEAFE 165 [H

|2

o BARAMBWMEEMNE TR R
el
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\F=B=+—-HLEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHHREE (8)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) REEE (F)
(i) EEHGERERNEAEELEIR

(ii) New standards, amendments and improvements to existing

standards that have been issued but not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

e HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, "Foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration™!

e HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, “Uncertainty over income tax treatments”?

e Annual Improvements Project — Improvements to HKFRS 2014 —
2016 Cycle®

e Annual Improvements Project — Improvements to HKFRS 2015 —
2017 Cycle?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 or when
apply HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9

5  The amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

Nature of changes

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities. It replaces the guidance in
HKAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement
model and establishes three primary measurement categories for
financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEFHEME (8)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) REEE (F)

(i) EEMEREREAFAEBLEIR

(ii) New standards, amendments and improvements to existing

standards that have been issued but not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Nature of changes

Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair
value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception
to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income
not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model
that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in HKAS 39.
For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and
measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk
in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss. HKFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge
effectiveness but contemporaneous documentation is still required.

Potential impact

The Group's equity investments currently classified as available-for-
sale financial assets will be reclassified to financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") or other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"). There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or
loss and the Group does not have any such liabilities.

In addition, the new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses rather than
only incurred credit losses as is the case under HKAS 39. Based on the
assessments undertaken to date, the Group does not expect material
change of the loss allowance for the Group's trade receivables. The
new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting for hedging
instruments more closely with the Group’s risk management practices.
As a general rule, more hedge relationships might be eligible for
hedge accounting, as the standard introduces a more principles-based
approach. Based on the assessments undertaken to date, it is expected
that the Group’s current hedge relationships will likely be qualified as
continuing hedges upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. The new standard
also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of
the Group’s disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the
year of the adoption of the new standard.

ARAMNFTEARREERN
& 5T 2 B BUE ()

BB B ERIEI R HE LA
(#)

SHUE

%mlﬂmhémﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁkﬁ

HEtE - RUER SRR ER
EWEEWAﬂm NREREHTE
BRAR -REFABEEHEE
AMRBEBEFHERIRMAEE
AEEREER - HHBaEmS -

AREFABRGENEE  RRE
@%EWA%%%Q%E&HﬁQ
I p IR I E A&
%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%S%W%%ﬁ
BRIEWNHRE  BINHARBAEL
LR -

Tewe
AREHRERARE YD AT
B BAE  BRENED AR
ARMEH NN B EELRA
B AR R ERARNEGBEE -
AEBMIS A ER AT
Eye DRFHEEVENN B
RAABHAREOHHEENE
5t ARIE ) A 3 A FE L B o

O FRERARE - REBEAY
ETEEE VR E RS MIEWA
A ERIERRENIFERER
Eiﬁéﬁﬁhﬁp°ﬁﬁi7¢
B RT - 7N 5 B 30 4 TR EA A SR
WESEKFBEBERELREX
ﬁ@°%%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁlﬁ
B AR IR RN A AR R B e B
EE-ER AR ﬁW%A
FAEAMENTTEH - B EMREE
ARETAEITERE - RIEES
EHMETE  RMASENRAEY
HERRRANTEM B REERE
QSRR AT BETT & FHE S - FrER
Mo ABBEABENRERELE
WmEs BEMBREASEREEY
BIARENMEREE LEE
FERMHFEEE -

2018 7 HIEMREMARALT 83



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standards, amendments and improvements to existing

standards that have been issued but not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

Nature of changes

HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 “Revenue"” and HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and the related interpretations. HKFRS 15 establishes a
comprehensive framework for determining when to recognise revenue
and how much revenue to recognise through a 5-step approach:
(i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify separate
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction
price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations;
and (v) recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.
The core principle is that a company should recognise revenue when
control of a good or service transfers to a customer. Under HKFRS 15,
an entity normally recognises revenue when a performance obligation
is satisfied. Impact on the revenue recognition may arise when multiple
performance obligations are identified.

Potential impact

Based on the assessment undertaken to date, the Group does not
expect the adoption of HKFRS 15 would have a material impact
over revenue from construction and installation contracts, sales of
information technology equipment, motor vehicles and others, senior
housing operations and maintenance and property management
services. In relation to sales of properties, revenue from pre-sales of
properties under development is recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of the properties
under development may transfer over time or at a point in time. The
timing of revenue recognition for sale of completed properties, which
is currently based on whether significant risk and reward of ownership
of properties transfer, will be recognised at a later point in time when
the underlying property is legally or physically transferred to the
customer under the control transfer model. The Group is continuing the
assessment in relation to other revenue streams.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

Nature of changes

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the
statement of financial position, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.
The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standards, amendments and improvements to existing
standards that have been issued but not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Potential impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group's
operating leases. As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has
non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$72 million as
disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. Based
on the preliminary assessment undertaken to date, it is estimated that
the adoption of HKFRS 16 would result in recognition of right-of-use
assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position primarily arising from leases of land and buildings. The interest
expenses on the lease liabilities and the depreciation expenses on the
right-of-use assets under HKFRS 16 will replace the rental charge under
HKAS 17 in the consolidated income statement. The new standard is
mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2019.
At this stage, the Group does not intend to adopt the standard before
its effective date.

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of HKFRS 17
“Insurance Contracts” and HKFRS 4 (amendment) “Applying HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts” and is not
yet in a position to state the effect and its significance.

Other than the above, the Group anticipates that the application of other
new standards, amendments and improvements to existing standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective may have no material
impact on the results of operations and financial position.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to
fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEME (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) FEREER (R

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity
is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in subsidiaries
are stated at costs less impairment losses. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable during the year.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, representing the excess of the consideration transferred over the
Group's interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree at the date of acquisition. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, either at the fair value or at the non-controlling interest'’s
proportional share of the recognised amount of acquiree’s net identifiable
assets. If the Group recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree at
fair value, goodwill includes the portion attributable to the non-controlling
interest.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is included in the cost of the
investment of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions (continued)

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if there is indication that goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill
on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is included in investments
in respective associates and joint ventures and is tested for impairment
as part of the overall balance. For the purposes of impairment testing,
separately recognised goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to
each of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs,
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint venture, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an
associate or a joint venture represents the excess of the share of net fair
value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of the business combination and is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date of the
acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities can be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially measured at fair value at the date
of acquisition.

(d) Interests in associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, interests in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of profit or loss and of changes
in other comprehensive income of the associates, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group's share of loss of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
An additional share of loss is provided for and a liability is recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEME (&)
(CONTINUED)

(d) Interests in associates (continued)

(d) FRGEEE 0 8] 2 5 ()

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
Unrealised loss are also eliminated unless the transaction provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in associates
are stated at costs less impairment losses. The results of associates are
accounted by the Company for on the basis of dividend received and
receivable during the year.

(e) Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control and over which none of the participating parties has unilateral
control.

Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified either as
joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor.

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. Investments in joint
operations are accounted for such that each joint operator recognises its
assets (including its share of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including
its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share of
revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation) and its expenses
(including its share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator
accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses,
relating to its interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
standards.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have rights
to the net assets of the arrangement.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a
joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint venture and the
Group's share of the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of
losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of that joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received or receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into either financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies
adopted in respect of each category of financial assets are set out
below:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two
subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.
At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

BE-Z-N\FE=ZA=+—HIEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHHREE (8)
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(f) BT A (&)
(i) MBEE(E)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. At the
end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including amounts due from subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and non-controlling interests, debtors and receivables
and bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses. An impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment
losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the
asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

As at 31 March 2018, loans and receivables represented amounts due
from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests, debtors
and receivables, bank balances and amounts due from subsidiaries of
the Company.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as any of the other categories set out
above. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income,
until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
profit or loss. Any impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed through profit or loss in subsequent periods. For available-for-
sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if
an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment losses.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are stated at cost less any identified impairment losses at
the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRERM A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

2 EXEFEERESE ()

(f) BT A (&)
(i) HEEBERRETIR

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
Group’s financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial
liabilities held for trading on initial recognition. At the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are re-measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint ventures and
non-controlling interests, creditors and payables, outstanding insurance
claims, bank and other borrowings and amounts due to subsidiaries of
the Company are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(i) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item
being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of recognised
assets or liabilities or a firm commitment, or

e cash flow hedges, which are hedges of a particular risk associated
with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly
probable forecast transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

The Group documents at the inception of the hedging transaction the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements.

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments used for
hedging purposes are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity
are shown in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

0

(1

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised
in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss
in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The
gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps
hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss
within finance cost, net. The gain or loss relating to the effective
portion of forward foreign exchange contracts hedging export sales
is recognised in profit or loss within revenue. However, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets) the gains
and losses previously deferred in equity are reclassified from equity
and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset.
The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in profit or loss as
cost of goods sold in the case of inventory, or as depreciation or
impairment in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in
equity is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial instrument are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

94

(CONTINUED)

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as investment
property.

Investment property comprises land held under operating leases and
buildings held under finance leases. Land held under operating leases is
classified and accounted for as investment property when the rest of the
definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is accounted
for as if it was a finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at
fair value. Fair value is determined by professional valuation conducted as
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount of the asset
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss as part of other gains,
net.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of
property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its
use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and
the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a
revaluation of property, plant and equipment under HKAS 16. Any resulting
increase in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment
is recognised in the consolidated income statement to the extent that
it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase
recognised directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting
decrease in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment is
charged to the consolidated income statement. Upon the subsequent
disposal of the investment property, any revaluation reserve balance of
the property, plant and equipment is transferred to retained profits and is
shown as a movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced
by commencement of development with a view to sale, the property is
transferred to properties for sale at its fair value at the date of change in use.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses except for staff quarters.

Staff quarters are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses recognised at the date of revaluation. Revaluation
are performed with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from the fair value of a revalued asset at the end
of the reporting period.

Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same
asset previously recognised in profit or loss, the increase is recognised in
profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised
in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to the retained profits
is made for the difference between depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of the asset and depreciation original cost. Additionally,
accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to
the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained profits.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences depreciation from
the time when the land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Depreciation on leasehold land classified as finance lease and other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs or fair values
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives at the following
rates per annum:

Annual charge

Building Over the shorter of 20 to 50 years or

the remaining lease term

Leasehold land classified as
finance lease

Over the remaining lease term

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term

Machinery 10%

Furniture, fixtures, office
equipment and motor vehicles

10%-33"/,%

Others 10%-20%
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’'s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and from
business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value respectively.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

96

(CONTINUED)

(i) Other intangible assets (continued)

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

(j) Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Development cost of properties comprise prepaid lease
payments, development expenditure and borrowing costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less selling expenses and costs to completion.

(k) Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures

Management regularly reviews whether there are any indications of
impairment of the Group's investments in associates and joint ventures
primarily based on value-in-use calculations.

In determining the value in use, management assesses the present value
of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from their businesses.
Estimates and judgements are applied in determining these future cash
flows and discount rate. Management estimates the future cash flows
based on certain assumptions, such as revenue growth.

(I) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted average method. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds in
the ordinary course of business less applicable selling expenses.

(m) Properties for sale

Properties for sale, which comprise prepaid lease payments and buildings
held for resale, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
costs of properties for sale comprise cost of acquisition of properties and
related development costs.

(n) Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised with reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, as measured by
the proportion that the value of work carried out during the year.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred
that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which they are incurred. When it is probable that
estimated total contract costs will exceed estimated total contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Construction contracts (continued)

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as an
amount due from customers for contract work. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as an amount due to
customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial position, as
a liability, as creditors. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid
by the customers are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under debtors.

(o) Assets held-for-sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transition and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown as a separate current liability in the consolidated
and Company'’s statements of financial position.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash equivalents.

(q) Trade creditors

(r)

Trade creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

98

(r)

~

(s

(t)

Provisions and contingencies (continued)

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. \WWhen a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as
a provision.

A contingent asset is a probable asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect of mortgage
facilities provided by banks to certain property buyers, and credit facilities
provided by financial institutions to its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as insurance contracts.

Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired risk reserves

Unearned insurance premiums represent the estimated portions of the
premiums written which relate to periods of insurance subsequent to the
end of the reporting period and are deferred to subsequent accounting
periods. Unearned premiums are computed on the basis of net premiums
written for all classes of insurance. Net premium written represents gross
premiums received or receivable after deducting reinsurance premiums.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from the expected value of
claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in
force which, at the end of the reporting period, exceeds the unearned
premiums provision in relation to such policies.

Insurance claims

Claims paid and outstanding comprise claims paid, claims reported but
not yet paid and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR")
as at the end of the reporting period which is calculated with reference to
foreseeable events, past experiences and trends.

Insurance claims are recognised when they are incurred and reported.
Incurred claims include the losses, related costs and expenses paid during
the year and the change in the reserve for outstanding claims during the
year. Reserves for outstanding claims are reported on an undiscounted
basis which include reserves for reported claims and reserves for IBNR
claims.

Every notified claim is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The reserve of a
reported claim is made by the claims handler based on his experience and
based on the information, documents and the claim amount submitted by
the claimant and is checked by the officer before updating the information
into the claims system. The reserve is reviewed and revised regularly to
reflect the development of the claim and the change of the market practice.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs a liability adequacy
test to ensure the adequacy of the insurance claim liabilities. In performing
these tests, current best estimates of all future contractual cash flows are
made. Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Revenue recognition

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured with reference to the value of work carried out during the period.
When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable
will be recoverable.

Income from sale of properties is recognised on the execution of a binding
sales agreement or the completion of properties, whichever is later.

Income from sale of goods such as information technology equipment,
motor vehicles and food and beverage are recognised when goods are
delivered and title to the goods has passed to the customers. Revenue is
arrived at after deduction of any sales return, discount and value-added tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of maintenance and
property management, warehouse and logistics services and hotel and
senior housing operations are recognised at the time when services are
rendered. Receipts in advance of provision of services are accounted for as
deferred income.

Premiums for direct insurance business are recognised as income when an
insurance policy is accepted and the relevant debit note is issued.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, with
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to its net
carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group's rights
to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the respective leases.

(w)Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding
in respect of the leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)Leases (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at their fair values at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the
lessor is included in the statement of financial position as an obligation
under finance lease. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges
are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, in which
case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's general policy
on borrowing costs as stated in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Rental payables under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a
straight line basis over the terms of the relevant leases. Benefits received
and receivables as incentives to enter into operating leases are recognised
as a reduction of rental expenses over the lease terms on a straight line
basis.

(x) Employee benefits

(y)

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

(i) Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans including the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged as an expense as they
fall due, net of forfeited contributions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y) Borrowing costs (continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

(z) Taxation

Taxation represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes profit or loss items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred
tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment
properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are determined based on
the presumption that the carrying amount of such investment properties
will be recovered through sale with the corresponding tax rate applied.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

102

(CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
exchanges rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value has determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise, except for exchange differences arising on a
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign
operation, which are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity,
in which cases, the exchange components of that gain or loss are also
recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income as a separate
component of equity, the exchange fluctuation reserve. Such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences so arising are
recognised in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

(ab)Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGU). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFHERBE (E)
(CONTINUED)
(ac) Segment reporting (ac) B B S
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal EENBE I REARNEHRTEZRERSE
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief EEBAZABBEZ AR B -EED
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and WHERBERBREZ TBLERRKE
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as BESDRERY B ZEESE KRR -

the Directors that makes strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and current assets as NEEETERREREETBHRRARARE
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except prepaid EZERBDEENTREBDEE  EBEMABH
tax, unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets and other B RKOoBRBITEERES  BEEBIE
unallocated assets. BEREMARSBEERI
Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current DHEBEFZEEFAMBIKARAE
liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position BonBaERIERDEE  HEEHAM
except current income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, deferred SHas RITREMER  BEEHE
tax liabilities and other unallocated liabilities. BEREMKRS OB ERI -
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BERMEEEERBEE
The Group's major financial instruments include available-for-sale investments, AEBZFEMBIABEANHEE ZRE -
investments at fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial instruments, BARBIABREREZRE  TAEMBKT
debtors and receivables, creditors and payables, outstanding insurance claims, B EWERSR R EWRRIE - B R R ER
amounts due from/to related companies and non-controlling interests, bank I RRRBRE Bl TENEEAR
balances and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments MIEIERERIRR - RITETFRIBITREM
are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. BN ZEMBTAZFBERGEMB®RE
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how PR HE - ZSUE T A HERE
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and PARR B Z E RS 2 R BT - ERE
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on ERRERZERR - R REB M ME
a timely and effective manner. TEE 2 FaHE ©
3.1 Financial risk factors 31 MAKEE
(a) Market risk (a) WA
() Interest rate risk () FYEE g
The Group's interest rate risk arises from derivative financial RNEBRZFERRKEITEN
instruments, bills payable, floating rates bank and other borrowings BIA BNAEE- - ZBRITKE
and floating rates bank deposits. Majority of the Group's bank and HEMERRZERITER - A&
other borrowings carry interests at floating rates and expose the B KB $R 17 R H A & ;AT
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The management monitors BRI R R MAEEEEYE
interest rate exposure and hedges significant interest rate exposure emEMNERR  EEEELRF
by using financial instruments such as interest rate swap contracts. EZREIFBOAERERE L
Certain instruments are qualified for hedge accounting. LB T AEFEAFERER -

ETTANAEPEER -

As at 31 March 2018, if interest rates had been increased/ R=ZFE—NF=ZA=+—8"
decreased by one percentage point and all other variables were WA =g, W —EE D
held constant, the post-tax profit of the Group, excluding impact mATE M ERAXHEFT
of fair value changes of derivative financial instruments would 2 RKEEZBEEN (TEIE
decrease/increase by HK$16,398,000 (2017: HK$7,528,000), MEMBIAZ A AABEELZ
resulting mainly from the change in the borrowing costs of bank FE)SFTZARTREME
and other borrowings and interest income of bank deposits. REE SR AR R R 1T 15 5K A0 F

B AT 5 B A 38 hn s
16,398,000 T (Z T —+4F : &
7,628,000 7C) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from various currency exposures. Foreign
currency risk arises when the Group's recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in currencies that are not the entities’
functional currency.

The Group's financial assets that are exposed to foreign currency
risk mainly comprise of investments in debt and equity securities,
accounts receivable balances arising from sales to overseas
customers, bank balances and cash and amounts due from related
companies and group companies (on entity level). The Group's
financial liabilities that are exposed to foreign currency risk mainly
comprised of accounts payable balances arising from purchases
from overseas suppliers and amounts due to group companies
(on entity level). It is the Group’s policies to ensure that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances. The management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and hedges significant foreign currency exposure by using financial
instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts. Certain
instruments are qualified for hedge accounting.

Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other than the
functional currencies of the Group's entities) that are exposed to
foreign exchange risk are mainly denominated in Australian dollar,
Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese Yen, Macau
Pataca, Renminbi, Singapore dollar, United States dollar (“US
dollar”) and Vietnam Dong. The carrying amounts of the Group's
foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities
at the end of the year are as follows:

3 BtizEREIE B RRBUR (])

3.1 B E M E = ()
(a) TiEER (8

(i)

SME 7 B

AEBETDEEBEBRUEER - AR
HerEg¥RERI Bz ER
o ARBECHERZEENAE
IAFER R ZThAE E W BB -
7 E A S LR o

AEEEHIERRZHBE
EIZEEEBRBRAZESRK
B REMNEFELEEMEL
Z YRR SRR  RITAET MR
eREKBEELATREERQT
TR (REEW) - A% EEY
SNERBRZHMBAGBETIERR
RSN E L RE T AL
ZRNERERIENEER
AIRF(EEER) - NEEZ
SR T AR 5 % L B AR 155 0 AT
R 2K - WEBARHIE R
BEEIE(MAEFE) UEEE
HIREIRER - BIREEEIME
[\ Bex I A1) A 20 2 HA OMBE & 4 5
BT ASIHERINERR - &
TTAFGE hE AL -

EERIMNER R 2INEH TR
(TEEREECEZEER)
TELVBRTT - IEATT - B
B REORPE AR
ongor - &£ ([ET]) ki
FEREMN - AEBEUIINERE
Uz BEERYBRBRF
RZHREEWT :

The Group Assets
AEM BE

2018 2017
—EBE-NE —ZT—+tfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Australian dollar VBRI 16,644 17,410
Canadian dollar mexRT 201,858 183,485
Euro BLZE 9,756 5,065
Hong Kong dollar o 31,987 24,577
Japanese Yen = 15,176 13,676
Macau Pataca P 1,344 -
Renminbi AR 228,551 318,393
Singapore dollar T 98,400 103,711
US dollar ET 1,492,824 1,336,590
Vietnam Dong MR 65,708 53,338
Others Efh 17,276 45,692

Liabilities
afE

2018 2017
—E-N\NE —ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
= (89)
(1) (647)
(9,054) (10,271)
(590) (462)
(628,237) (732,406)
(390) (105)
(673) -
(6,359) (21,391)
(562) (1,315)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to every
percentage point increase and decrease in the functional currency
of corresponding group entity against the above foreign currency.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of reporting period for every percentage point increase in
foreign currency rates. Positive numbers below indicate an increase
in profit/investment revaluation reserve where the above foreign
currency strengthens every percentage point against the functional
currency of corresponding group entity.

The Group

REE

Increase in profit S5 0

Increase in investment revaluation reserve "EEHFEEEM

(iii) - Price risk
The Group are exposed to listed debt and equity securities price
risk because investments held by the Group are classified on the

consolidated statement of financial position either as available-for-
sale investments or investments at fair value through profit or loss.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and equity instruments
of the Group had been increased/decreased by one percentage
point and all other variables held constant:

— the post-tax profit and investment revaluation reserve
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 would
increase/decrease by HK$2,427,000 and HK$555,000 (2017:
HK$3,238,000 and HK$501,000) as a result of the changes in
fair values of investments at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale investments respectively.

(b) Credit risk

Principal financial assets consist of available-for-sale investments,
investments at fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial
instruments, debtors and receivables, amounts due from related
companies and non-controlling interests and bank balances. The
Group’'s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the end of the
reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

3 BtizEREIE B RRBUR (])

3.1 MR E = ()
(a) 45 R (&)
(i) SMEmRE (&)

TREJNAEE 2 BB EED
X EB U LINE 2 B8
MER D —EE D B2 BEE -
HRESMRBENBSHR
TMURIMNEREN 2 M ABES
KUHEA  YERFRZEXS
E—EEDHBET AR
B o AT IESUEUR A LS 5
HEEBECEZEERET
E—EES2H2BER T ERF,
REBMFEBAMILEM -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
14,177 12,105
1,142 1,242

(i) 1E1E /22

AEEEE EHESREAE
FEER - TR AR E AT
FAEZREANGEARFBMRRE
hEBEATHEE 2K AN
BRAAEINANERREZRE
FrER o

WAEEES REATAZE
PR B8 SE M R — @A
DE - MAEEMAERRG %

e SR

- AEEHZE-_ZT-N\E=A
—t+—HAILtFEZHEEBEF
MIEEEHEED A B
hn/ 5w A 8 2,427,000 7T
K1 555,000 T (ZF—+
£ B 3,238,000 7T KB
#501,0007T) * Y ERRIZ
AREINABZREBZEE
MAIgHEZRE Y ARE
BT o

(b) FERER

IBPHEERRAHEEZRE
BARBEINIARZREZIRE 47
EMBTA - EURR KRR -
R Uit B 528 O ) R R AU 28 R R %
RITHEF - MR HEFEREITR
EZ28E AEERBREHRAS
BOERAMBEEMAR ZRANE
BERAERA B BN R AR
ZEBEZREE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

106

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(c)

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavourable economic
conditions and the lower liquidity situation which could in turn impact
their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating operating
conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management’s cash
flow forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the
extent that information is available, management has properly reflected
revised estimates of expected future cash flows in their impairment
assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in
each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to
trade debtors is 60 days, except for insurance business where credit
period granted to certain debtors is over 60 days. The Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.

Amounts due from related companies and non-controlling interests
are continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality of the
counterparties, taking into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors. Where necessary, impairment loss is
made for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Available-for-sale investments, investments at fair value through
profit or loss, derivative financial instruments, interest receivables
and bank balances are limited to financial institutions or investment
counterparties with high quality. The Group controls its credit risk to
non-performance by its counterparties through monitoring their credit
rating and setting approved counterparty credit limits that are regularly
reviewed. The Group does not expect any significant counterparty risk.
Moreover, credit limits are set for individual counterparties and periodic
reviews are conducted to ensure that the limits are strictly followed.

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from guarantees
given to financial institutions for credit facilities granted to certain
property buyers, subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures taking into
consideration the realisable value of the underlying projects/assets.
The Group does not expect any significant credit risk arising from these
guarantees.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual
debtors or counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk management and
flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient cash equivalents, readily
realisable marketable securities and to have committed short term and
medium term credit lines available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient committed
and uncommitted general credit facilities from banks for working capital
purposes.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2018

3 MEEREEBSERBRGE

3.1 MR E = ()
(b) FE R (&)

(c)

AEE 2 BB ARG I TNEHE
RENESARPUEREBAZE
AMEEEEERRED - BBEA
BERNBTARRTEEREY
REeRE 2R R H ERRIERE
ZiHE - EEECREATSZER
FEHRENGEE RGBT A
HARMIR S REMET -

AEBUZBAROEBEFP DB
TRAZEERR B TEHIEFPZ
FHEEMARG0K - MR TRRE
BzETEPHNEERERBEOX -
REREMR  AEERISTRE
Al FE W BR SRz AT Bl & RR - BEOR Bt
HEHEER M EIEHRHZRE
18 -

R M [ 33 O R % SF 4% PR 2 AR R D
EBRFIERSGEF2EEER I
SEAMBNRR BELHRREM
REmETHEEE - WAEFE
BAMHERENOSREIEHRERSSE -

AEERNEBERRIFZSREE
AREHFHETARAAEHEZ
RE BANBEIABRREZR
E-TAEFBIA  EKRAEAR
RITEF AEEBREZEERS
HFZERTRRBXZHFRY
" B E MR 2 EARE 1%
S EEERBR AR IEEZZEF A
[BiTa#)  MmASE BRI &I
BERZZRZHFRER U 5
HFIREM@ANERRE BB
EITIRE - ERERETERRE -

AEBEDHERRTETYEER
MEAR BEQARMARELEL
FEREMASREBREERR
EEZERERR ZHEEEEH
HE/BEENAEREB - F5H
HHEERERTIGELEERNERNE
SRR -

75 830 % M E R E R E B A SR
SEFEEEMERAR -

EERBEM

AEERNM@BERERZESRBDEA
REENMEBAREEHRSEFED
ARERER BEESFREERE
HRPHEEREARFESTENL -

EFME AEEERTHEZLE
EERARAE-REERE BN
ENZEBERHAT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group's liquidity position and compliance with loan covenants are
monitored closely by the management of the Company. The following
table details the Group's contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

3 BtizEREIE B RRBUR (])

3.1 MR E = ()

(c) E€REBE M ()

ARAERERNEEAERZR
PESRRA B TERLHRBR
TREANAEERRERNRMBE A
BZANBEBER - RETIREAR
SEARERERINZEFAMZ
MBERBZAMBRERERE
REBENSEEAEZHERE °

Total
Less than More than  undiscounted
The Group 1year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows
AEBEEE
AEE PR-£& =ZE=H ki 3 BBLE REAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT AETT
2018 —E-N\E
Amounts due to joint ventures EREELEERR 7,524 - - = 7,524
Amounts due to non-controlling B FEIE R R AR X
interests 325,166 - - - 325,166
Creditors and payables ERRRRERNFUR 673,980 = = = 673,980
Outstanding insurance claims KRRBRE 255,438 = = - 255,438
Derivative financial instruments MTERBIACFLEE)
(net settled) 686 - - - 686
Derivative financial instruments PTERBIA(BELEE)
(gross settled)
- outflow — i 2,047 - - - 2,047
- inflow —mA (2,109) - = - (2,109)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMIER 862,246 735,962 1,446,373 918,078 3,962,659
Financial guarantees in contingent St A B BER 2 P ER
liabilities 657,341 - 210,050 - 867,391
2017 —EtF
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAEREER 1,581 - - - 1,581
Amounts due to non-controlling R SEER R R
interests 260,964 - - - 260,964
Creditors and payables EREFRRERTE 589,373 - - - 589,373
Outstanding insurance claims AARBRRE 305,272 - - - 305,272
Derivative financial instruments PTEBBIA(FES)
(net settled) (155) (128) (210) (11) (504)
Derivative financial instruments MTERBTIA(BRES)
(gross settled)
- outflow —i 29,743 - - - 29,743
- inflow N (28,994) - - - (28,994)
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER 595,157 425,504 1,408,727 975,471 3,404,859
Financial guarantees in contingent ~ SXABBERZ HBER
liabilities 363,440 295,255 132,300 - 790,995

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern while maximising the returns to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital structure
to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and its companies and
make adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes of economic
conditions or corporate needs.

3.2 BEXREABER

REEERER L BERREBAEEHR
Bz ANBERREZEBL
R L ) R AR A KR KB 3R

AEBTEHE TR REBEERLE
B ARASEREETEERAREMR
HERARR 2 ES  WREBER K
TEFRZBCHEREBIEL R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 EBiEEMRBEEEREE (&)

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital risk management (continued)

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to equity ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt (comprises total debt less
bank balances and cash) over total equity. Total debt represents bank and
other borrowings.

The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

The Group

EME

Total debt BIET

Bank balances and cash RITHEHFRRE
Net debt FER

Total equity arE s

Net debt to equity ratio FEREER R

Net debt to equity ratio increased from 12.1% as at 31 March 2017 to
17.7% as at 31 March 2018 mainly representing the increase of the Group's
bank and other borrowings for financing the acquisition of new properties
and projects during the year.

Pursuant to Chapter 41 of The Hong Kong Insurance Companies Ordinance,
all authorised insurance companies are required to maintain an excess of
assets over liabilities of not less than a required solvency margin. For the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group's relevant subsidiaries
complied with the solvency margin requirements as set out by the relevant
authorities in Hong Kong.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at fair
values by level of inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair values.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

® Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 B EMEIEEHERIE (8)
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AR {EEE ()

TRIIN-_Z-NF=ZA=1+—HIK
MREFEZAEEMBEERTBA

f& :

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 March 2018:

The Group Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
b3 E—& -t |} E=R e

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through

&E

BAREFIANBRREE

profit or loss ZHBEE
~ debt securities —EBES 224,447 76,016 - 300,463
— equity securities —-REEH 62,439 - - 62,439
- mutual and hedge funds —-BEERHFES 7,245 - 60,658 67,903
Derivative financial instruments PTERBIA - 373 — 373
Available-for-sale financial assets AR E B EE
— equity securities —BRAEEH 55,458 - 8,100 63,558
— private funds -LEES - - 50,638 50,638
- unlisted debt —JFEmES - - 151,570 151,570
349,589 76,389 270,966 696,944
Liability =0
Derivative financial instruments TEMBIA - (233) - (233)

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and financial

liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 March 2017:

The Group
rEE

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

&aE
BARBIABREE
ZHBEE

Level 1
F—1

HK$'000
BETT

TRV -_F-—EF=A=1+—B&K
AREAEZAEBMBEERTBA

&

Level 2
EH
HK$'000
BETT

&

HK$'000

BET T

HK$'000
BT

- debt securities —EBES 324,505 114,329 - 438,834
— equity securities -BREES 59,429 - - 59,429
- mutual and hedge funds —-BEREHFES 695 - 55,813 56,508
Derivative financial instruments TEMBITA - 97 - 97
Available-for-sale financial assets e HBEE
— equity securities —BRAFES 50,070 - 7,770 57,840
— private funds -LEES - - 66,314 66,314
434,699 114,426 129,897 679,022
Liability a8fE
Derivative financial instruments TEMBIA - (2,974) - (2,974)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets included in level 1.
The quoted price which is used, is the price within the bid-ask spread that is
most representative of the fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

e The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable
yield curves;

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using
forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period with the
resulting value discounted back to present value;

e For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active market,
the Group establishes the fair value by using valuation techniques
including the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to
other instruments that are substantially the same, reference to net asset
value of investee and discounted cash flow analysis, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific
inputs. If none of the valuation techniques results in a reasonable
estimate on the fair value, the investment is stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses; and

e Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels in the
hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES MEEMREREBERBEER (8)
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 RAEME (&)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of Ti‘%ﬁfc@]% ERAARERBNHBT
financial instruments for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017: BEHE-_ZT-—N\FRZZT—tF=A
=t+-— Elﬂzif_zﬁib

Private Unlisted
securities funds debt Total

The Group

Mutual and Equity
hedge funds
r5E EER

HHES
HK$'000
BETT

e
HK$'000
BT

AEES
HK$'000
BETT

FEHES #R
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT

At 1 April 2017 —T—+FMmA—H 55,813 1,770 66,314 - 129,897
Purchases/capital contributions BA/ERFA 19,135 234 745 151,570 171,684
Receipt for capital retuns BT - - (12,241) - (12,241)
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in REMEZEKEER

other comprehensive income ZAnEKRE/ (BE) - 9 (803) - (707)
Fair value loss recognised through RERERZAAEEBE

profit or loss (1,685) - - - (1,685)
Impairment loss recognised BaBR 2 AERE

in profit or loss - - (3,377) - (3,377)
Disposals HE (12,605) - - = (12,605)
At 31 March 2018 —N\&E=ZfA=1+—-H 60,658 8,100 50,638 151,570 270,966

The Group Mutual and Equity Private
hedge funds securities funds
AEE
3 ; LEES ;
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2016 \ZE-RNFNA—A 79,358 7,760 81,653 168,771
Purchases/capital contributions BN/ BREA 2,030 - - 2,030
Receipt for capital retums ek - - (14,780) (14,780)
Fair value gain recognised in other mﬁm%@”&ﬁﬁﬁ%
comprehensive income AnEkE - 10 5,117 5,127
Fair value gain recognised through profit Tﬁ/\ﬁﬁ ARERE
or loss 5,409 - - 5,409
Impairment loss recognised in profitor ~ MERERAZREER
loss - - (5,676) (5,676)
Disposals HE (30,984) - - (30,984)
At31 March 2017 WoF—tFZA=t-H 56,813 7,770 66,314 129,897
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Fair values of investment properties and staff quarters

The valuations of investment properties and staff quarters held directly
by the Group are made on the basis of the “Market Value"” adopted by
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS"). They are performed in
accordance with the HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties published
by HKIS. The valuations are reviewed annually by qualified valuers by
considering the information from a variety of sources including (i) current
prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or
location, adjusted to reflect those differences; (ii) recent prices of similar
properties in less active market, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at
those prices; and (iii) rental income derived from existing tenancies with
due provision for reversionary income potential based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future results and a set
of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its tenancy and cashflow
profile. The fair value of each investment property reflects, among other
things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market conditions including
open market rents, appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income
potential. For the year ended 31 March 2018, discount rate in the range
of 2% to 6% (2017: 2% to 7%) were used in the discounted cash flow
analysis. The fair value also reflects on a similar basis, any cash outflows
that could be expected in respect of the property.

As at 31 March 2018, if the market values of investment properties and
staff quarters had been 10% (2017: 10%) higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the carrying values of the Group's investment
properties and staff quarters would have been HK$379,125,000 and
HK$530,000 (2017: HK$383,258,000 and HK$60,313,000) higher/lower
respectively.

(b) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment have been determined based on the higher of their fair values
less costs to sell and value in use, taking into account the latest market
information and past experience.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible

assets

The Group tests whether goodwill and other intangible assets have suffered
any impairment in accordance with accounting policies stated in note 2(ab)
to the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amounts of CGUs
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or their fair values
less cost to sell, whichever are higher, and both bases require the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. The Group expects that any reasonable change in the key assumptions
on which the recoverable amounts are based would not cause the carrying
amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets to exceed their recoverable
amounts. Please refer to notes 16, 17 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

(d) Fair values of available-for-sale investments and derivative

financial instruments

The fair values of available-for-sale investments and derivative financial
instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

(e) Net realisable values of properties under development and

(f)

properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and properties for
sale to net realisable value based on assessment of the realisability of
properties under development and properties for sale which takes into
account cost to completion based on past experience and net sales value
based on prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase in cost to
completion or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable value will
decrease which may result in writing down properties under development
and properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, the carrying value of properties under development
and properties for sale is adjusted in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

Determination of insurance liabilities

The Group's insurance liabilities mainly comprise provision for outstanding
claims. The Group determines these estimates on the basis of historical
information, actuarial analysis, financing modeling and other analytical
techniques. The estimated insurance liabilities are affected by assessed net
loss ratio. As at 31 March 2018, assessed net loss ratio was 33% (2017:
57%). Differences resulting from reassessment of insurance liabilities are
recognised in subsequent consolidated financial statements. The Group
continually reviews the estimates and makes adjustments as necessary,
but actual results could differ from what is envisioned when these estimates
are made.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(g) Construction contract revenue recognition

14

According to the accounting policies of construction contracts as stated
in note 2(n) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group uses the
percentage of completion method to determine the appropriate revenue
to be recognised in a given period. The stage of completion is measured
by total amount of work done certified by customers over total estimated
contract sum.

Upon applying the percentage of completion method, the Group needs to
estimate the gross profit margin of each construction contract, which is
determined based on the estimated total construction contract costs and
estimated total construction contract sum, including variation orders and
claims. If the actual gross profit margin of construction contract differs
from the management'’s estimates, the construction contract profit to be
recognised in the following years will need to be adjusted accordingly.

(h) Income taxes

(i)

As at 31 March 2018, deferred tax asset of HK$48,435,000 (2017:
HK$61,727,000) in relation to unused tax losses had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The realisability of the deferred
tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual taxable profits generated are more or less than expected,
additional deferred tax assets or reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such an
addition or a reversal takes place.

Also, the Group, including associates and joint ventures, is subject to
income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the Company despite
the equity interest therein are not more than 50% of the relevant investees.
Based on the contractual power pursuant to the relevant shareholders’
agreement between the Group and the other shareholder, the Group
has the majority voting power in the board of directors in the respective
investees, by which the relevant activities that significantly affect the
return of the investees are determined, and hence has control over these
investees. Accordingly, those investees are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company. Further detail are set out in note 36(b)(x) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(j) Consolidation of senior housing business in the United
States of America

The Group's senior housing business in the United States of America is
operated by different professional senior housing operators. Significant
judgement is required in determining whether Group is a principal and
similarly, whether the operator is an agent in this business. Management
considered the Group has exposure to the risks, exposures and return
associated with rendering of services and therefore regarded the Group
as the principal. Accordingly, the financial results and operations of this
business is consolidated in the Group’s financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker, that are used to
make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the business from a product/
service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and Engineering: Construction and engineering work for
aluminium window and curtain walls, building construction, building supplies,
electrical and mechanical and environmental engineering, lift and escalator and
pipe technology.

Property Investment: Properties rental business.

Property Development and Operations: Property development and
management, cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare Investment: Senior housing business and medical office building
investment.

Car Dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment and business
machines, food trading, general insurance business (except aircraft, aircraft
liabilities and credit insurance), investment in securities and restaurant and bar.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Senior Housing segment was renamed
as Healthcare Investment segment to better reflect the nature of its income
streams and growth strategies.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement, except that it also includes the Group's share
of revenue of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate consolidated
basis. The sales from associates and joint ventures to the Group and sales
between individual associates and joint ventures are not eliminated.

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of segment results. This measurement includes the Group's share of
results of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate consolidated basis.
Unallocated corporate expenses, finance income and costs, taxation and other
major items that are isolated and non-recurring in nature are not included in
segment results.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEER (&)
Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets as NHEETEZEREAUBKRARABE
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except prepaid tax, ZREBEERIIERDEE  HEMNKRE K
unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets and other unallocated AERITEFRE S EEHIBEEREM
assets. KRABEERIN
Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current liabilities NEEEFZEREEEVBMRARAKE
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except current ZRBBERERDERGE  HEHMEHA
income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and & RITREMEBER  BEEHBEAEEREM
other unallocated liabilities. RO EBEBRIN o
(a) Revenue and results (a) WARZESE
Property
Construction development
and Property and Healthcare Car
engineering  investment operations  investment dealership Others Total
BER NERR R
AHIE MERE REE EERE RERE Rt 4y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AET BBTr BETT AETT BBTT BETT B8Tn
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-E-N\§=h=1-H
LEE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue N 2,582,734 136,430 1,097,095 582,769 2,276,710 394,826 7,070,624
Inter-segment revenue PEZERA - - (41,662) - - (48,562) (90,224)
Group revenue SEBA 2,582,734 136,430 1,055,433 582,769 2,276,710 346,264 6,980,400
Share of revenue of associates and joint FEBERTR
ventures RELERA 1,607,212 - 49,222 15,515 477,488 186,762 2,336,199
Proportionate revenue fom ajointventure  EHERE-HARLE
eliminated ZESLHIRA (15,456) - - = - - (15,456)
Segment revenue 2ERA 4,174,490 136,430 1,104,655 598,284 2,754,258 533,026 9,301,143
RESULTS E4
Segment profit ARER 172173 278,834 859,516 3,098 4,832 72,588 1,391,041
Included in segment profitloss) are: AEER|/(E8)BE
Share of results of associates il UGS 56,789 - 99 - - 1,030 57,918
Share of results of joint ventures flfAErE5E 235 - (29,730) (32,849) 1,854 - (60,490)
Increase in fair value of investment properties R EME 2 ARt B - 190,683 - - - - 190,683
Depreciation and amortisation, net of TERER MBESL
capitalisation (5,512) (404) (40,089) (48,456) (21,447) (1,659) (117,567)
Impaiment loss on property, plant and n% BERERLAGER
equipment (1572) - - - - - (1,572)
Impairment loss on avallable-for-sale e RENFESE
investment - - - - - (3,377) (3377)
Unrealised loss on derivative financial HENBIAZAERER
instruments - - - - - (932) (932)
Unrealised gain on investments BRAEFINERREL
atfair value through profit or loss REHAER NG - - - - - 13,161 13,161
Provision written back/{recognised for BE/ BRI EEBEETZE
inventories to net realisable value, net 3858 3 - - - (3,342) (761) (4,070
Provision for properties for sale to net FENEREZUERGE
realisable value - - (22,015) - - - (22,015)
Provision written back/lrecognised) on trade [,/ (E%) € 5REH
and other debtors SRR 8993 (2,500) - (4,382) - (106) 2,005
Impairment loss on retention receivables ERREZENRERE (8,597) - - - - - (8,597)
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEN ()
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WA R ZEE (48)
Property
Construction development
and Property and Healthcare Car
engineering investment operations investment dealership Total
T 7 /
g EERE £ &g
HK$'000 i HK$'000
%rr}:'?:[ /BT BmTL %i?ﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HZ-Z-t£=B=1-H
LEE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue BIA 2,942,565 144,276 558,867 524,303 328821 338,614 4,837,446
Intersegment revenue PEZARA - - 39,290) - - (38,780) (78,070)
Group revenue SEMA 2,942,565 144,276 519577 524,303 328821 299,834 4759376
Share of revenue of associates and joint FEBERAR
ventures RELEMA 1,836,231 - 69,553 - 988,015 255,392 3,149,191
Proportionate revenue fom ajointventure ~ EHEKE-HA%LE
eliminated a;: 5411 0N (19,499) - - - - - (19,499)
Segment revenue 2EUA 4,759,297 144,276 589,130 524,303 1,316,836 555,226 7,889,068
RESULTS £
Segment profit/{loss| EEH/ (KB 343,880 21,698 87,991 28913 (1.907) 57,776 838,286
Included in segment proft/loss) are: AEatl/(§8) B
Share of results of associates B EAREE 9,746 - 264 - (11,335) 2247 87922
Share of results of joint ventures FlEaerssE 1% - 4.867) - - - [4,672)
Increase in fair value of investment properties & &9 7 A A 1N - 226,033 - - - - 226,033
Depreciation and amortisation, net of TEREHE NRERL
capitalisation (7813) 4,273) (29,508) (35,931) 1,847) (2,674) (82,044)
Impairment loss on availableforsale RNEZRENAEER
investments - - - - - (5,676) (5,676)
Unrealised gain on derivative financial ITERBIAZRERYE
instruments - - - - - 691 691
Unrealised gain on investments BOAEFNBRREIRE
atfair value through profit or loss WRERNE - - - - - 7206 7,206
Provision (recognised)written back for (BR2)/BEFEREZTER
inventories to net realisable value, net A RE (23) - - - (1,008 264 (765
Provision {recognised)iwritten back on trade  (B#5%)/BEE S REMEN
and other debtors B AR (5,283) - - (15,165) - 74 (20,374)
Gain on deemed acquisition of REKEERSE UR
Qi Yang Group - - - - 7,060 - 7,060
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by management BOHEZBERAZRZERHAEREK
with reference to market prices. BHSEIRERE -
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BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEER (FK)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) AR 24 (48)
Total segment revenue are reconciled to the Group’s revenue in the BB ABREERRGERERAZ
consolidated income statement as follows: WA BRI -

Total segment revenue FESAE LN 9,301,143 7,889,068
Add: Proportionate revenue from a joint m:e2gEke —HeEhtEZ
venture eliminated -3 A 1PN 15,456 19,499
Less: Share of revenue of associates and B TR R AR A B E
joint ventures A
Construction and installation contracts BERLTEAN 1,102,179 1,384,204
Sales of motor vehicles and others AEREAMHE 477,488 988,015
Maintenance and other services RE R E MRS 527,362 479,917
Food and beverage B8R 164,709 204,687
Hotel operations B IE & E 37,525 34,838
Sales and leasing of properties MEHERBE 26,936 34,439
Fresh produce supply T RIEYHLE - 23,091
______ 2,336,199 3149191
Total revenue in the consolidated income RERE e &k 2 BUA
statement (note 6) (FfzE6) 6,980,400 4,759,376
Reconciliation of segment profit to profit before taxation is provided as DERFEBRF AR 2 $ERAOT ¢
follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
BT T
Segment profit pak ikl 1,391,041 838,286
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ELZH (52,542) (20,924)
Finance income B A 21,636 19,333
Finance costs W% ER (92,309) (93,538)
Profit before taxation B B2 Al A 1,267,826 743,157
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZ-\E=ZA=1+—HL=EE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEN ()
(b) Assets and liabilities (b) EERAE
Property
Construction development
and Property and Healthcare Car
engineering investment operations  investment dealership Others Total
BER NEBER R
BHIE NERE BE EERE RERE =0 a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT T BRI BT BRI BT
At 31 March 2018 RZ2-NEZf=1-H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets ABEE 1,528,440 4,399,842 5,041,482 2,319,674 1,126,680 1,096,737 15,512,855
Included in segment assets are; NREERE:
Interests in associates SENE L ER 425,119 - 626 - - 42,066 468,411
Interests i joint vertures IS 1 12076 - 500,494 516,452 83,464 - 11248
Amounts due from associates BUBED TR 18,575 - - - - - 18,575
Amounts due from joint ventures BREELEERR 9,068 - 17 - - - 9,085
Additions to non-current assets (note) FEERDEE (W) 51,519 344,334 164,058 300,239 19,448 8,491 888,089
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities TEEE 1,508,957 37,619 413,708 138,743 409,177 440,138 2,948,342
Included in segment fiabilties are: NRAERE:
Amounts due to joint ventures EREELEERR - - 6,730 - 794 - 1524
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=fA=1-H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PEEE 1667310 4333824 4,651,523 1,500,024 797414 1537983 14488078
Included in segment assets ars: PREERE:
Interests in associates BERF ER 463,261 - 1588 - - 53,856 518,705
Interests in joint ventures BERRER 11,950 - 500,060 - 79613 - 591,623
Amounts due from associates i EEINGE 14,985 - - - - - 14,985
Amounts due from joint ventures BRAELEERR 4 - 7784 - - - 7828
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRBEE (W3) 10,030 10,689 37,858 26,721 360,211 8,584 454,099
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities 288E 1,584,312 47,201 662,486 64,824 448,974 490,484 3,298,281
Included in seqment liabilties are: NRAERE:
Amounts due to joint ventures EREELEERR - - 1175 - 406 - 1581
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

Note:

In this analysis, the non-current assets exclude financial instruments (including
interests in associates and joint ventures) and deferred tax assets.

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets and liabilities is provided
as follows:

5 SEEH ()
(b) EEREE (B)
P
ERSHH  FADEETRENBIA(D
SERT B AT A B0 2 ) RIBITR
EEE -

DEAENRBBEREEERABBEZYRNOT

Segment assets DEEE
Prepaid tax TR HTR
Unallocated bank balances and cash AOMRITHEFRIE S
Deferred tax assets REFHIAEE
Other unallocated assets HthRHREE
Total assets BB E
Segment liabilities NEEE
Current income tax liabilities EHMGEHAaE
Bank and other borrowings RITREABE R
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEAE
Other unallocated liabilities HihRkDRERE
Total liabilities Hwam

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET R T
15,512,855 14,488,078
9,138 11,782
524,647 521,217
42,171 26,815
15,730 15,730
16,104,541 15,063,622
2,948,342 3,298,281
69,028 74,798
3,376,502 2,790,439
340,329 372,492
34,600 24,293
6,768,801 6,560,303

(c) Geographical information

The Group’s operations in construction and engineering businesses are
mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macau and Australia.
Property investment businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, Canada and Singapore. Property development and
operations businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Canada. Healthcare investment businesses are carried out in Hong
Kong and the United States of America (“US"). Car dealership businesses
are carried out in Mainland China and Canada. Other businesses are mainly
carried out in Hong Kong, the US and Thailand.

The associates’ and joint ventures’ operations in construction and
engineering business are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China,
Singapore and Macau. Property development and operations businesses
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Healthcare
investment businesses are carried out in the US. Car dealership businesses
are carried out in Mainland China. Other businesses are carried out in Hong
Kong, Macau and Australia.
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(c) HEZEH

REBEZEREMTREXBIZEEE
RERM  RFIEMEE - MERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

Hong Kong
Mainland China
US

Canada
Singapore
Macau
Australia
Thailand
QOthers

3

hERY

%6

JIEIN
g

i
2
%8
Eft

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

5 SEEH ()
(c) HER R (1)

Segment revenue by geographical areas

BHBHZ 2 BRA
Company Associates Company Associates
and and joint 2018 and and joint
subsidiaries ventures Total subsidiaries
ARAR BELATR “E-N\f i
HEAR RELE ag b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBTR A8t EBTn BRI
2,960,677 625,298 ' 3,585,975 39 3,287,455 619,769 ' 3,907,224 49
2,666,279 1,353,363 4,019,642 43 88,89 2,112,207 2,201,103 8
690,687 15,515 706,202 8 632,261 - 632,261 8
400,740 - 400,740 4 371,753 - 371,753 5
11,949 210,509 282,458 3 12,101 315,534 327,63 4
85,968 21,102 113,070 1 226,809 31,269 258,078 3
107,724 28,536 136,260 1 85,742 50,508 136,250 2
56,376 - 56,376 1 40,112 - 40,112 1
- 420 420 - 14,247 405 14,652 -
6,980,400 2,320,743 9,301,143 100 4,759,376 3,129,692 7,889,068 100

' The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated.

The Group maintains a healthy and balanced portfolio of customers.
No customer is accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. (For the year ended 31 March
2017, HK$800,422,000 was derived from a single external customer in
construction and engineering segment and accounted for more than 10%
of the total revenue of the Group.)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-current assets
other than financial instruments (including interests in associates and joint
ventures) and deferred tax assets analysed by geographical areas:

Hong Kong B
Mainland China AR A
us EJe]
Singapore o
Canada mex
Macau P
Thailand el
Others Hh

v ORE-HABREZREOIMRAT IR

AEEBRBEFERFEHEZEFHEA - I
EEFLMAEERE_ZT—\F=A
=t+—BIEEEAKA10% AL - (&
E-FE—+HEZA=+—RAIFE B
#800,422,000 7T H) U A 2R B 2 55 & i
WMIRDENE—IINBEF  hAEH
2R AEI10% A £ o)

UNTREMBTA (BREMIGHE 2 A7
RaghkrEn) MEERBEEN
SMRIO R 2 3EREB EEREENT

Non-current assets

FREBEE
2018 2017
=E2-—N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
3,555,346 3,644,385
2,168,161 1,855,008
1,511,024 1,248,677
469,146 434,809
207,764 204,122
45,189 1,230
8,502 7,960
431 1,916
7,965,563 7,398,107
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BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

6 REVENUE

Revenue represents amounts received
and receivable from:

Construction and installation contracts

Sale of information technology equipment, motor
vehicles and others

Senior housing operations

Sales and leasing of properties

Warehouse and logistics services

Maintenance and property management services

Hotel operations

Insurance premium

Interest income from investments

Dividend income from investments

Leasing of vehicles and equipment

Total revenue (note 5)

7 OTHER INCOME, NET

122

Gain on investments at fair value through
profit or loss

(Loss)/gain on derivative financial
instruments

Other investment (loss)/income

Sales and marketing services income from
an associate (note 43)

Management fee income from associates
and joint ventures (note 43)

Others

WAERBEUNTFIEZ
B IR

BERREAKN
ARBHRRE  TEREM
ZIHE
REREEE
YFHE LA
BB R bR
RELRMEEERS
RS E
R &
KEREZNBBA
KBEERE 2 BSWA
AEREREEE

A (H5ED)

A

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
BT T

2,399,483 2,779,678
2,462,214 696,837
582,769 524,303
843,978 298,404
214,570 227,819
355,012 122,825
47,953 43,472
33,601 32,869
14,747 18,940
18,974 10,538
7,099 3,791
6,980,400 4,759,376

7 HAthlg A - 35

BAREINANEREE 2 KE
EpEv &
TTHEMBIAZ (B18), M

HwE (B8R, A
’E—MEBERRZHE
K 55 e AR TS WA (M 5E43)
KEBERTRAERLE
ZEEEWRA (13E43)
Hit
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11,912 14,294

(993) 1,385
(1,893) 22,185
29,906 27,930
22,664 24,091
12,282 16,334
73,878 106,219
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BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

8 OTHER GAINS, NET 8 Hithikzs - R
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BET T
Increase in fair value of investment properties REWEZ AAEEN
(note 14) (B3t 14) 190,683 226,033
Gain on disposal of an investment property HE—BREME S W - 276
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HEWE  BEREHEZ
plant and equipment (B518), = (3,721) 498
Gain/(loss) on disposals of an associate HE—RBENF RS (EHiE) 4,848 3)
Deemed disposal loss on step-up acquisition of an & MUK BE — R & A B0 88 A B A
associate and become a subsidiary (note 36(b)(vi)) Al R A E R (MFE36(0)vi) (3,004) -
Remeasurement of goodwill (note 16) sHFErEEE (s 16) 4,686 -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments ~ AJ & Z & W BLEE 1B (3,377) (5,676)
Provision written back/(recognised) BB (BHER) 85 RHEAMmEWRRR
on trade and other debtors 2 B 2,005 (20,374)
Impairment loss on retention receivables JE IR B RRIE 2 R B B 18 (8,597) -
Impairment loss on interest in an associate R AR R 2 REEE
(note 18) (MF7E18) (18,101) -
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment — #1% « BiE MR & 2 REEE
(note 15) (M$3%15) (1,572) -
Provision for impairment loss on properties for sale 13 & 4 % &9 Rl B BT 18 4 5 (22,015) -
Gain on deemed acquisition of Qi Yang RAKEZGEE 2 W
Group (note 36(b)(x)) (Fft % 36(b)(x)) - 7,060
Exchange gain/(loss) [ 5 Wiz, (B518) 12,649 (1,444)
154,484 206,370
GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES HEMB QT Zqiﬁﬁ/(ﬁ?ﬁ)

Gain/(loss) on disposals of HETIREZKRE(EBE)
— Chinaford and Dolce Field (note 36(b)(vii)) — R 0E K E#B B (B 5% 36(b) (vii)) 619,941 -
- Talent Luck (note 36(b)(ix)) —fEBE 3 (M 7E 36(b)(ix) 92,927 -
— Wonder (note 36(b)(xi)) —Wonder (Fff 5 36(b)(xi)) - (3,972)
— other subsidiaries —H B A A 2,207 265
715,075 (3,707)
9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 MKER BHE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and bank and ~ $R773% 37 M SR 1T I E b (3%

other borrowings K F B X 100,323 105,627
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties B BIERRPMEZSE
under development (note) (P 3%) (8,014) (12,089)
92,309 93,638
Less: Interest income from bank deposits W SRITIF A B A (21,636) (19,333)
70,673 74,205
Note: B 5

The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the development of & A
properties was between 5.5% and 5.8% per annum (2017: 4.8% per annum). &R
Fx
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10 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

124

Profit before taxation has been arrived
at after charging the following:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 15)
Less: Amount capitalised to contract work

Staff costs (note a)
Less: Amount capitalised to contract work

Operating lease payments in respect of leasing of
— premises (note b)
— equipment

Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
— under-provision in prior years

Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 17)

Provision for inventories to net realisable value

Provision for properties for sale to net realisable
value

and crediting the followings:

Gross rental income of HK$148,236,000 (2017:
HK$145,672,000) from properties less direct

operating expenses (note c)

Notes:

B a M e ks N 5ER

ME - BEREEZITE
(Hi&E15)
W BEEHNTIRREZEE

BT (M5Ea)
W BEARRNIRZSH

HENTHEZZEHREER
—2F (HiiEb)
i

ZE A<

—ZERTE

— IEIZBUR 7%

—BEFERENR
HipmpaEs (HeE17)
FEBREENEZRFEE
FEVERGEAUEREE
WEF A TFIIER :
YIEF S R A B 148,236,

(ZZF—+F : #%145,672,000 7T)

WMEZREESH (M)

(a) Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in note 38 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$2,266,000 (2017: HK$1,685,000) in respect
of termination benefits made to staff and HK$30,176,000 (2017: HK$29,432,000) in
respect of contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes, net of

forfeited contributions.

(b) No contingent rental is included in operating lease payments in respect of leasing of

premises (2017: nil).

(c) Included in rental income is an amount of HK$6,494,000 (2017: HK$5,991,000) less
outgoings of HK$759,000 (2017: HK$735,000) from joint operation. Included in rental
income is a gross amount of HK$131,842,000 (2017: HK$136,140,000) derived
from investment properties less direct operating expenses of 23,388,000 (2017:

HK$20,842,000).
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10 BRELATEF

0007t

2018
—B-N\fF

HK$'000
BT

GEX

(a)

111,880 84,150
(2,085) (2,591)
109,795 81,559
1,034,119 935,441
(206,121) (213,787)
827,998 721,654
54,168 45,159
2,290 2,551
56,458 47,710
14,741 11,023
3,194 1,988
1,098 110
19,033 13,121
7,772 485
4,070 765
22,015 -
124,252 123,471
EFWEEBEEEIMRIRN  EFBER
AEMBEHRRMFEISFHE -

EIMTBRERAEIFLEZEBRIEEFH
#2,266,0007T (=T —+ 4 : %% 1,685,000
7o) RE KR EZ MRz RE R INE T
AT FB 30,176,000 (Z B —+4F : 8
# 29,432,000 7T) °

HEEFz2EHNERATERxAES (=
TtF 8-

HeWABREREAGEKERM B2 BY
6,494,0007C (== — 4 : A ¥ 5,991,000
J0) B B 759,000 T (Z T — 14 B
735,0007T) - HEWABIERBIELEMEZ
TS UL AERE 131,842,000 T (ZF— & -
7 136,140,00070) B H LA L HBE
23,388,000 7T (=& — - 4 : 7# % 20,842,000
JT) °
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11 TAXATION

1 #HI8

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

Current tax
Hong Kong
Mainland China
Overseas
Under-provision in prior years

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
(note 35)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland China and overseas profits
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per

consolidated income statement as follows:

Profit before taxation

Adjusted for:
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Tax at the domestic income tax rate
of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%)

Effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Changes in applicable tax rates

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
difference not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses and deductible
temporary difference not previously recognised

Under-provision in prior years

Others

Taxation for the year

REFEHIA
5
T B A
R
BAEFERETR

FEIERIE
TR MER 2 ELROE
(Pff5E35)

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BET T
48,390 52,156
195,767 4,685
23,502 18,275
3,421 13,759
271,080 88,875
25,264 43,150
296,344 132,025

&SR SR T k8 5T R BUR A IR B
16.5% (ZZE—+F :165%) 8 - FE R
R AN TR TR F AL R ER R R
RN EBEEEEIERR 2RI ERAE -

L HEBE 2 SE R A B R IR 35 70
HE -

HEmT

B4 B4 A i
B -

B 2 7 24
Frs b B LR

BRI EREE16.5%
(ZZ—+%F :165%)tE2HIA
EEMAEAEERGEZHBAR
AEATRME w8
R REE
FAMEINE B2 REs &
BERBRAZRIBEFZE
RTIERBEBEZREZE
APERAIRE R EEE
ZHESE
PABARTHIAZHBEERRE
AMEREREERE 2 HESE
BEFERENR
Hith

FEMRE

FARSERNBRRIDENERFEREZ
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT
1,267,826 743,157
(57,918) (87,922)
60,490 4,672
1,270,398 659,907
209,616 108,885
79,022 13,153
15,415 -
23,987 10,077
(49,795) (20,303)
27,386 13,266
(167) (4,531)
(12,298) (4,183)
3,421 13,759
(243) 1,902
296,344 132,025
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2018.

12 8REF
(a) EX

FREARNTIREARRBRREE R
MERABE-_Z-NF=A=+—HIt
FEEBTEBRZ NETHEAE -

2018
—®-N\%

HK$'000
BT T

Profit attributable to shareholders R A) IR R R 5
of the Company

907,929 540,263

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 217 & % 2 I FHE

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group
had potential ordinary shares in an associate, which were issuable upon
exercise of share option being granted. There was no potential dilutive
effect from such share option held during the year. As at 31 March 2018
and 2017, associates of the Group had potential ordinary shares which were

issue ('000 shares) (Fh) 301,928 301,928
Basic earnings per share (HK$) FRERER (BHE) 3.01 1.79
(b) Diluted (b) &8

FREERNTERAEDHITEER
ZIEFBABRRAAEEEE LR
BERBmMAESH - RZZ—NFR
“E—+F=R=+—H KrEEMH
BENRABELBEE  ZRO/RH
2B EITER A T EIT 2D - K
FEMF DRBRET BELBEES

issuable upon exercise of share options granted. There was no potential WE R E—NFR_ZT—+F=A8
dilutive effect from such share options during both years. =t+—H AEBEBEAREETLS

e S R 2 B R 1T (R iy AT
TEAT 2 B0 o 1t P A Y] L B A
BEELBEHEYE -

13 DIVIDENDS 138
2018 2017
—EB-N\F z
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Special interim dividend of HK$1.40 EREFRIFEAR B G RREHEE 1.40 T
(2017: nil) per share paid —T—tF o E) 422,700 -
Interim dividend of HK$0.10 (2017: HK$0.20) IR EREGRAERE0.107T
per share paid (ZZT—+4%F : B%o0.207m) 30,193 60,386
Final dividend of HK$0.25 (2017: HK$0.40) BORREIR B AR A 0.257T
per share proposed (ZZ—+F : BH0.407m) 75,482 120,771
528,375 181,157
Final dividend of HK$0.25 per share totaling HK$75,482,000 has been FEERRKARBBIRERK 0257 AHFE
proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in #75,482,000 7t + EAMFAIB B A ZRERB
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount will be reflected as an FRG FERFI AR - FAEE - 58
appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31 March 2019. REBEZFT-—NF=ZA=+—HBLFEY

TERERFIZ 7K °
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

14 IREME

At beginning of the year F7)

Exchange realignment 5 A%

Addition NE

Acquisition of g
— Silver Prosper (note 36(b)ii) — R A% & (P = 36(0) (i)
— other subsidiaries — H A BB A

HE—BREME
WRYE BB RRE(H15)
NS EE D (EES)

Disposal of an investment property
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Increase in fair value (note 8)

At end of the year FR

The Group's investment properties at their carrying values are analysed as
follows:

Hong Kong B
On long-term leases (over 50 years) BB (E+FULE)
On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years) FEEA (FE2RTF)
Mainland China and overseas R B A i K% 8 S
Freehold KA
On long-term leases (over 50 years) REBBELO(E+FULE)
On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years) PEHBES(tERETF)

Notes:
(@) The fair value of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
overseas as at 31 March 2018 had been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out
on that date by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, which is an independent firm
of qualified valuers having appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation
of properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS
Valuation Standards on Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with reference
to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties or calculated on the net
income allowing for reversionary potential. For all investment properties, their current
use equates to the highest and best use.

Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of HK$62,667,000 (2017:
HK$48,000,000) represented the Group's share of interests in joint operation.

(c) Charges were created on the investment properties with a total carrying value of
HK$1,225,611,000 (2017: HK$1,282,306,000) for the purpose of securing banking

facilities granted to the Group.

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BET T
3,832,583 3,663,625
130,857 (61,006)
113,528 9,628
228,000 -
2,292 -
- (5,697)
(706,698) -
190,683 226,033
3,791,245 3,832,583

AEEZREYMEREREZOTAOT

2017
=T

HK$'000

BT

195,000 -
1,930,082 2,412,135
537,558 496,225
1,071,655 876,786
56,950 47,437
3,791,245 3,832,583

M RE -

(a)

(b)

AEBUNEE TEAMRENZEED
ERZZ-\F=ZA=+—-HZ2ARER
BHESBATHEARAR (WRBILAER
FPEERTT TR AR ERETYEMGE
BEEBRRER) MR RNETZHERESE
Mg - ZEETETEENSMB G IR
hzBERAESMBENEMEEINLC 2R
TS EEUMEZRZESL  IRFEE
WA FRHBEAE -RAAREMEMS
HEAAGENERSMRERS -

NREBZREVE2EEBERSE
62,667,000 7T (=% —+ 4 : /& # 48,000,000
) BAREEEE S E 2w -

SR A8 (BB 1,225,611,000 L (Z T — L4 :
755 1,282,306,0007T) 2 R E W E B M
EABETAEEBTEEZER-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REWE (F)
Notes: (continued) MisE : (48)
(d) Valuation of investment properties (d) HBEWEZHE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of investment TRENEF=MRAABEERBNRENEER
properties for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017: —E-NERZZF—+F=ZA=+—-BILF
Ez#%:

Commercial properties Residential properties Industrial properties

GEYES [ IENE

Mainland Mainland

Hong Kong China Overseas Hong Kong China Hong Kong Overseas

B hEA 28 Bk hERS ] )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BNt BRI BRI BT BRI BN AR BN

At 1 April 2017 RZE-tENA-H 1,120,749 25,312 32,064 31,700 862,215 1,259,686 500,857 3,832,583
Exchange realignment EiAg - 384 1312 - 94,460 - 34,64 130,857
Acquisition of [t

- Silver Prosper (note 36(0)(i) ~ SR EE (H1E 36(0l) - - - 228,000 - - - 228,000

- Other subsidiaries -EfHEAA - - - 2292 - - - 2292
Addition HE - - - - - 113,528 - 113,528
Transfer to property, plantand equipment ~ BZ91% - BRLRE (706,698) - - - - - - (706,698)
Increasefldecrease] n fair value hote 8 AN/ (52) (Hts) 39,076 2554 854 (29,722) 104212 66,471 7,238 190,683
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1-R 453,121 28,250 34,290 232,210 1,060,887 1,439,685 542,736 3,791,245

Commercial properties Residential properties Industrial properties

Mainland Mainland

Hong Kong China Overseas Hong Kong China Kong Overseas
q R RER & 341
HK$'000 HK$'000 $ HK$'000
AETT BT EETT
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~EEA-A 1,111,656 24839 23,905 28,580 703,131 1,248,630 522,884 3,603,625
Exchange realignment A% - (220 (1,039) - 43,763) - (15,990) (61,008)
Addition RE - - 8377 - - - 1,251 9,628
Disposal of an investment property HE-BERENE - - (5,697) - - - - (5,697)
Increasefldecrease] in fair value note 8~ A&/ (82) (Hts) 9,093 693 6512 3,120 202,847 11,096 (7288) 26,033
At 31 March 2017 RZE-+5=A=1-R 1,120,749 25,312 32,064 31,700 862,215 1,259,686 500,857 3,832,583
The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by the independent AEEPEEMNHBYTEMRME®RER
valuers for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior management. WEEREZEE  BZEBEERARRE
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the senior BAEBRE SMEBEAEZELENEAR (A
management and valuers at least once every six months, in line with the Group's AEEFIHRFERS A -0 BT EME
interim and annual reporting dates. T—REEBERAERFWH -
At the end of each reporting period, the Group: REREER - NER -
e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report; o  REHENMAERENMEEARASE:
e assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year o FEVMEMERLFEMGEEBRSLEET
valuation reports; and MEE &
e holds discussions with the independent valuers. o BNV IEAREITE R ©
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

Fair values of commerecial, residential and industrial properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas are generally derived using the direct comparison method and
wherever appropriate, by the income capitalisation method. Direct comparison method
is based on comparing the property to be valued directly with other comparable
properties, which have recently transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of real estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any
qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property
under consideration. Income capitalisation method is based on the capitalisation of the
net income and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’ interpretation
of prevailing investor requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings, within the subject properties
and other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values

Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings for investment
properties, within the subject properties and other comparable properties. The lower

the rents, the lower the fair values.

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method:

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

14 IREWE ()

BaE - (8)

(d)

KAEMEZGEGE

EE PEABEENIEE EERTED
EZRARBE-REBERLEE RRER
REBBSEBERMOEFESH - BERELBOET
ARBEEEZNELRROLBRR S 2 EMA
HERYEFERLR - AT EREHE
MEZZHRANEE  BREAREMARYE
ERETNMEMECERNEREZREDL
HERE  WHEEMOEADERBBRAE
BZERMEE  BIRAFERRAESED
FUREARE MENMERTVBBLHHERS
ZAMAMFEEERREEZ ZRAME
BIEBRMGE EfHETRABZRITHSAE
ENREBEEZMEREMARLENEZ N
HHAEBAMETE -

HETERAFELEED -
EERREIHZ BEXT A BIERGABR
ROMBHEDNENRENE  NEXGE
MEREMARLEBEMEANZ RAHLHE
BRfbat e HeBE  BIAAEBE-

RAMEE A CMBRTHIERS -

EEMHE
—REAM(EAEFIKFITK]

Residential properties
— Mainland China (per square meter (“sg. m.") per
month)

[EESZES

Commercial properties
— Overseas (per square feet (“sq. ft.") per month)

Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk profile of the investment
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower the fair values.

Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method:

—BINEBRBTARIFARD

HK$151 to HK$916  HK$133 to HK$863

BEE1BITE B33 TE
B#916 T 718637
HK$30 38 %30 7T HK$26 75 ¥ 26 7T

AR BFEMERMGEEZREME
ZRBRREE » LeE s - BIR R EMIE -

Wa B A RBA AR :

Residential properties FEYHE

— Mainland China — B A b,
Commercial properties [EE37ES

- Overseas —gsh

Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sq. m. with other recently transacted comparable
properties formed the inputs under direct comparison method, which is in average of
approximately amounted to HK$10,000 per sq. ft., HK$22,500 per sg. m., HK$14,500
per sq. ft., HK$6,200 per sq. ft. for commercial properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, residential properties in Hong Kong and industrial properties in Hong Kong
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$7,800 per sq. ft., HK$21,500
per sqg. m., HK$5,300 per sq. ft.).

2.0% to 6.0%
2.0% £6.0%

2.8% 10 6.5%
2.8% £6.5%

6% 6%

HELHEMA LR ENTFEHRKETFH K
TR SEREREELEBUE TR ARIE -
ZERRBE-_T—N\F=ZA=+—BILF
EEE PEAMNEENE BEETEDE
REABTEYMEZERETHRE®10,000
JT B¥ I KEE22500T  BFHRBEE
14,500 7t &2 & F 5 W 6,200 LAY F191E (=
T—tF:HBFHFREBEEK7,800T  FFFK
75 #521,500 7T B F R A#E5,3007T) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 5% - BERR

130

Cold
storage
warehouse

REKR
HK§'000

BETT

Hotel
properties

FIIES

Other properties for own use

HERE

Other Staff
properties quarters

E0uLE S BIE%
HK$000

BB

Plant,
machinery
and
equipment

HE #5
k&t

Furniture,
fixtures,
office
equipment
and motor
vehicles
B %E.
E N
kRE

Cost or valuation HATGE
At 31 March 2016 RZE-"EZA=T-H 239,038 145,304 1,268,487 487,660 81,725 337,022 2,549,236
Exchange realignment S - 2,974) 593) - 1,997) (3.405) (8,963)
Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Group RENEER SR (H360i)

(note 36(0)x) - - 329,993 - 26,049 - 356,042
Additions RE - 136 18,206 - 4116 22,416 44,874
Disposals L& - - - - (3,975) 12,440) (16,415)
Transfer to assets held-for-sale note 44) BEREEEE (Witw) - - - - - (2772 2,772
Increase in fair value I - - - 115470 - - 115470
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=A=T-H 239,038 142,466 1,606,093 603,130 105,924 340,821 3,037,472
Exchange realignment EXAE - 5,312 46,535 - 5,062 8,278 65,187
Acquisition of senior housing properties YEzzRa g (H36b0)

(note 36(b)1i) - - 184,487 - 7409 - 191,896
Acquisition of other subsidiaries WEERHBAT - - 24,078 - - - 2,078
Step-up acquisition of an associate and become 8 EMIKE LA AT ES

subsidiary (note 36(b)lvi) B AR (HE36blvi) - - - - 308 1,632 1,940
Additions WE - 154 134,558 42,000 10971 51,292 238,975
Disposals k3 - - (9,169) - (6,651) (14,040) (29,860)
Disposal of Talent Luck (note 36(b)x) HEREEZ (1 360bi) - - - (608,000) - - (608,000)
Transfer from investment properties (note 14] R ARENE (At 14) = - 706,698 - - - 706,698
Decrease in fair value MERD - - - (31,830) - - (31,830)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\EzZA=T-H 239,038 147,932 2,693,280 5,300 123,023 387,983 3,596,556

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ 2iHERHE
At 31 March 2016 RZE-7E-A=1-H 86,770 60,534 205,112 20 50,644 246,591 649,871
Exchange realignment EiAZ - (1,008) (661) - 1,249) (948) (3,863)
Charged for the year (note 10) ERME (W10 6,125 2,090 30626 8337 6370 30,602 84,150
Disposals & - - - - 4,178) (8,982) (13,160}
Transfer to assets held-for-sale note 44) BEREEEE (Witw) - - - - - (1,096) (1,096)
Increase in fair value I - - - (8,557) - - (8,557)
At 31 March 2017 R-E-tF=A=1-A 92,895 61,619 235,077 - 51,587 266,167 707,345
Exchange realignment EXAE - 1,866 3,325 - 1,715 4,560 11,466
Charged for the year [note 10) EEREHE0) 6,125 2,037 53,060 5377 18123 21,158 111,880
Impaiment loss (note 8) AR (8) - - - - 623 949 1572
Disposals e - - (2,556) - (2,260) 10,252) (15,068)
Disposal of Talent Luck (note 36(b)x) It R SR R 2 (PHE3610)0) - - - (2,640) - - (2,640)
Decrease in fair value DhiERD - - - (2,737) - - (2,737)
At31 Mach 2018 HoT-\E=A=t-A om0 6552 a6 - M omER §gls

Carrying value BEE
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\EzA=T-H 140,018 82410 2,404,374 5,300 53,235 99,401 2,784,738
At31 March 2017 RZE-tEZA=1-A 146,143 80,847 1,371,016 603,130 54,337 74,654 2330127
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The carrying value of properties comprise:

Freehold land and buildings thereon
Leasehold land and buildings thereon

Charges were created on the properties, plant and equipment with a total carrying
value of HK$921,540,000 (2017: HK$746,789,000) for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

Revaluation of staff quarters

The Group had measured the staff quarters under the revaluation model. The fair
value of staff quarters as at 31 March 2018 had been arrived at on the basis of
valuation carried out on that date by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, which is an
independent firm of qualified valuers having appropriate qualifications and experience
in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms
to the HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with
reference to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties or calculated
on the net income allowing for reversionary potential.

Fair value of staff quarters are generally derived using the direct comparison method.
Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to be valued directly
with other comparable properties, which have recently transacted. However, given the
heterogeneous nature of real estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually
required to allow for any qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be
achieved by the property under consideration.

If the staff quarters were measured under the cost model, the carrying value would be
as follows:

AL FRNE L2 BT
HELHRERE E2BT

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

15 W% - BERRE (B)

pf

(a)

(b)

%?E .
Wy REESE
2018 2017
—B-NE —T—t&
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T T
943,537 784,471
1,688,565 1,416,665
2,632,102 2,201,136

R T 42 75 15 921,540,000 ¢ (=T —+ 4 :
7 #5746,789,0007T) 2 M ¥ - ME LREED
IR EARTFASRERTEEZER-

EfEIFES

AEECREAREAMAERIER -B1H
EHE_Z-N\FZA=T—HZARED
RBFETHAFEARAR (WRBLAER
FTEERTT YR E R RERETYEGE
ZEBERRER) RERETZEERSE -
ZEEDETEBUEMNREMBEM2ER
REMBemEMEEITELRTIE LA
PE2ZZEFL  RRBEERAFE
MEGE -

BIBEEZANE-—REMERXLBESE
B BRLEOEDENBEMGEZMESE
RLER G KAl B EFEE LR -
Am - ERFHRENEZZHRLCEE BF
ARERARETEEEEZTOMEMEZRE
ROERERFEHEERE -

fHERRAEXAER TRES  RIRREENT :

2018
—g-N\%F

HK$’000

Cost AR
Accumulated depreciation 25 E
Carrying value BREE

BET T
165
(132)

63,263
(42,801)

33 20,462
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

16 GOODWILL 16 H2
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BET T
At beginning of the year F4 629,741 629,014
Exchange realignment i A 6,030 727
Acquisition of senior housing properties (note 36(b)(i)) 43 % % bz & ¥ 2 (i 5£36(b)(i)) 36,439 -
Step-up acquisition of an associate and become a BMUEE —HEE AR AN E
subsidiary (note 36(b)(vi)) 7] (M5 36(b)(vi)) 4,943 -
Remeasurement (note 8) s E (MEEs) 4,686 -
At end of the year FR 681,839 629,741
Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in note 37 to AEZHEFHFBERERNGREMBRR
the consolidated financial statements. MgEE37 ©
17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 HiEREE

Roads, Cold storage
drainage and public
and bonded
waterworks warehouse Lease-
license licenses in-place Others

B R REEE
k¥ RARRE

IRER ERR RFHE Hith
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok BETT BT BT
Cost D%
At 1 April 2016 RZZ—-R"ENA—A 26,534 3,000 5,199 9,194 43,927
Exchange realignment X A% - - - (578) (578)
Addition NE - - 7 6,742 6,749
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=F=+—H 26,534 3,000 5,206 15,358 50,098
Exchange realignment EiRAE - - 203 531 734
Acquisition of senior housing W eEREME
properties (note 36(b) (i) (Ff &£ 36(b)i)) - - 29,396 - 29,396
Addition NE - - - 224 224

At 31 March 2018

RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H 26,534 3,000 34,805 16,113 80,452

Accumulated amortisation and Rt BHERAE

impairment

At 1 April 2016 RZE-—RFNA—H 26,634 3,000 4,805 6,453 40,792

Exchange realignment R - - 7 (572) (565)

Charged for the year (note 10) FEHE (F:E10) - - 394 91 485

At 31 March 2017 RZZ—t&F=A=+—H 26,534 3,000 5,206 5,972 40,712

Exchange realignment TR - - 93 523 616

Charged for the year (note 10) FEWE (M10) - - 7,757 15 7,772

At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\F=A=+t-A 26534 3000 13,056 6510 49,100
Carrying value REE

At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A=+—H - - 21,749 9,603 31,352

At 31 March 2017 R-E—t&=ZA=+—H - - - 9,386 9,386
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17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks license
("License")) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of following
estimated useful lives or license period:

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse licenses 10 years
Favourable leases 4 years
Lease-in-place 3 years

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of this License is at minimal
cost and the Group would renew this License continuously. This License is
considered by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life
and will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite upon
reassessment of its useful life annually by the management of the Group.
Instead, it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as part of
business combination for the year ended 31 March 2018. The lease-in-place is
considered by the management of the Group as having finite lives of 3 years.
The lease-in-place was will be tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that is may be impaired particulars of impairment testing are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

17 HiE R EE ()

Ef B ERE (BB R RKETRME
BR(TH2RR 1) 1) Th LA B AROE IR NSk et Al 4
FREHRERAMRE 2 AT EETTH -

RERERRZRT A MR T
BHHEE mE
REHE =F

BERR BRENERERAYRE @A
LSBT R RTE B o AEEEIRE
REUERAFERAIEREY  WitTg
WHH BEEAEASEEREREAERF
HEFEHFHE BEETERFHER
Bk o AN EF KRR ERE 2 R E
EITRERIE o A RBER R 2 #H BN
BMBMARMEEST -

REGEEB 2 RFHEDBE_T—)\
FZA=Z+T-HEFEEREBAH —
HMEA - AEEEEBRA/RGFHEZER
RAERAFHA=F REEHESNAIR
FEAT e H R ERETRERH - RER
A BHN RS M MRM ST -

18 BPE DT 2z

Non-current: ERB -

Interests in associates, including goodwvill

Current: mE -
Amounts due from associates (note b)

The movements in the Group's interests in associates during the year are
analysed as follows:

Ba Nz s BEE

e W = ) AR R (MY FE D)

2018 2017
—B-N\#F —EtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AETT
468,411 518,705
18,575 14,985

AEBRARFEMEBERR 2 EDE
ZAME

At beginning of the year F7)
Exchange realignment & 5 &
Addition NE

Deemed disposal of an associate through step-up /& & — M & 2 S4B B NKE

acquisition of an associate and become Wi A B A A
a subsidiary
Disposal of Wonder (note 36(b)(xi)) H & Wonder (Fff 5 36(b)(xi))
Disposals L&
Deemed disposal of Qi Yang Group (note 36(b)(x)) R AHEZEEEE (HI7E36(b)(x)
Share of results Frih#4&
Impairment loss (note 8) B EEE (MiFE8)
Dividends AR 2
At end of the year FR

518,705 685,110
24,830 (31,097)
- 111,944
(12,455) -
= (53,410)
(3,116) (3)
- (63,536)
57,918 87,922
(18,101) -
(99,370) (218,225)
468,411 518,705
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
—E-N\FE=ZA=1+—HILFE

BE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

134

(a)

(c)

Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2018 were set out in note
49 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, amounts due from associates are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, the carrying amounts of amounts due from
associates are denominated in the Renminbi.

Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group"), Toshiba Elevator
(China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE") and Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (“STE") have a
similar risk profile, are engaged in similar business activities and related to each other
which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below is the
summarised financial information for CHK Group, TCE and STE. CHK Group, TCE and
STE are engaged in the manufacturing, marketing, installation, repair and maintenance
of the lift and escalator business and accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets IRBEE
Current TRE
Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Net current assets REEEFE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Net assets EEZEE
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18 BtE&

=
ey
[

Bz s (4])

RIE-NF=ZA=+—HBRTEBRLERA
ZEHERERGEA B RRMEEA9

R-E—N\E=ZA=+— a&—% tE=

A=Z+—8 EYEEARRIREER.
RERARERER -

FEUHE & R EIRR  RMEEE A AERE
R=B—NEF=R=+— a&—% tE=
A=+—8 WS ER 2 EEE
IAANRBEHE -

E+ (FB)BERABDREMBAR (Gl E
TEEEE]) RZER(PE)ERAF (IR
CER(TE) ) RRZER (EB) BRAQA
(TRZER (EB)) AEURRMKR - K=
BUBEEB R AR EE5RA
HAEEMEBER - UTHIELTEFESE
CREZER(hE) KRR ZEH OFB) 28
BEHEE - ELTFEEE  RZBH (PE)
RRZER (RS HEARBREHRBENE -
B LK CBERREEL  UEREANR -

FREMBRRREE
2018 2017
—2-N\F —2—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT
286,754 377,102
3,676,544 3,812,169
(2,900,729) (2,909,960)
775,815 902,209
] R
1,061,652 1,278,644




18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

18 & D7) z #E2s (4R)

Revenue

Profit before taxation
Taxation

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(expenses)

for the year

Total comprehensive (expenses)/income

for the year

Dividends received from associates

WA

B 1 Bl
BB

FE(BR)HF

FEHEMEERES (1)

FERE(XH) WEBHE

B Uk XA RRE

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated financial
statements of the associates, adjusted for differences in accounting policies between
the Group and the associates. The information above is the amount before inter-

company eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying
amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows:

MisE ()
() (#)
GEREWERHBE
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT 7 BT
5,576,441 6,515,424
24,953 175,478
(140,407) (34,240)
(115,454) 141,238
26,763 (10,872)
(88,691) 130,366
83,137 79,179

ERERRREEQERAMBERERANZS
MERE DIASESEBE AR GAHET
CTNhEE- u= § S DY SN G E R D
ZE®-

MBERNREZHR

2 MBERMEREEE AR ERY
FREE 2 HRAIAT

Net assets at beginning of the year

Exchange realignment

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to shareholders
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year
attributable to shareholders

Dividends

Net assets at end of the year

Interests in associates”
Goodwill
Impairment loss

At end of the year

FHNZEERE
B RAEEFE (B518), S5
IR L FEEM RIS ()

B8
Gk EEFE
B F 2
HE

AERA

FR

#  As at 31 March 2018, the interests held by the Group in CHK group, TCE and STE
as associates were 49%, 20% and 20% respectively (2017: 49%, 20% and 20%

respectively).

2018 2017
—2-N\F —F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
1,278,644 1,394,539
57,048 (50,920)
(115,454) 141,238
26,763 (10,872)
(185,349) (195,341)
1,061,652 1,278,644
410,392 414,233
32,795 32,795
(18,101) -
425,086 447,028

t R-ZE-NE=ZA=+—8 KX&EEH
FIBEHLTEEEE RZEH (RE)
RREZEROER) (HABERR) 2
49% ~ 20% & 20% (ZZT—+F : Dl
B49% ~ 20% [ 20%) S ©

2018 F3F  HIEBEEARAT 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18 & AT 2= (4])
Notes: (continued) B s - (48)
(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group’s associates that are not (d) fERINE KRz AN SE B & AR ALK ERE
individually material is set out below: ZmT
2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
The Group's share of results AEEFTEEE 3,112 (1,901)
The Group's share of total comprehensive income/ AEBEEEWRE(ZH) B8
(expense) 3,112 (1,901)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in A& B AT/ It S B & QA AR 2 ERME

these associates 43,325 71,677
19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19ELEIES

136

Non-current: ERE -
Interests in joint ventures, including goodwill EEDEER  BDERE 695,935 182,772
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) U E LR (HiEb) 416,551 408,851
1,112,486 591,623
Current: mE
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) FE A & E R (s b) 9,085 7,828
Amounts due to joint ventures (note b) EREECERR (D) 7,524 1,581
The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the year are REBRAFEEMRMGEELSDE EZEE
analysed as follows: AN

At beginning of the year F 182,772 119,460
Exchange realignment TE 53 3 30,371 (11,629)
Addition NE 550,414 -
Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Group R AR =5 & B (M 5E 36(b)(x)

(note 36(b)(x)) - 79,613
Share of results Frih ¥4 (60,490) (4,672)
Dividends fi% & (7,132) -
At end of the year FR 695,935 182,772
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2018 were set out in
note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured and bear interest at rates mutually
agreed between relevant parties except for the balance of HK$9,068,000 (2017:
HK$44,000) which is interest-free.

Amounts due from joint ventures under non-current assets of HK$264,177,000
(2017: HK$264,177,000) are considered equity in nature and HK$152,374,000 (2017:
HK$144,674,000) are not repayable within one year while amounts due from joint
ventures under current assets are repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to joint ventures under current assets/
liabilities approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to joint ventures are denominated in the
following currencies:

19

r

a)

g

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

EhEzEE(R)

RIFE-NFZA=Z+—BZTEBEAEDLHE
ZEHEERGEA B RRMZEE0 -

BREECEERERAEBEREERALR
e BRI R AT B - M 45 84754 9,068,000 7T (=
T— 4 #44,0007T) BRE -

BETHEEETZERAELER
KA M264,177,000L (Z T — £ F 5
#264,171,00070) R ABE R IEE &
152,374,000 L (Z T —HF : B
144,674,0007T) AR —FHRANEE - M
BREEEETZEKAELEERAZE
SKIEE ©

BrRBEE/BEET ZEK TENE LR
EEREEBERLAAERE -

JEY TEN &SR ERRZIREETI AT
EHREN

2018
—E2-N\F

HK$000
BET T

B
ARH

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

During the year, the Group acquired, through capital contribution in Seavest Core Fund |,
LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “ Seavest Group”), three medical office buildings in
the US which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below
is the summarised financial information for Seavest Group and accounted for using
equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets IRBEE
Current B
Assets BE
Liabilities a8fE
Net current assets REEEFE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Net assets REBEEFE

425,636
(7,524)

408,895
6,203

FER - ANEEE B Seavest Core Fund |, LLC
LEKMBAR (5[ Seavest £E ) T E I8
BURERN=RBERAZTAE E2R5
HAEEMEBEKX ° LA TH I Seavest &£ B
AR E - WEAERAAE -

REMBRRRBE

2018
—B-N\F

HK$°000
BT

1,374,905

14,654
(11,748)

543,633

2018 3}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

%yl =17
19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19 SELE S ()
Notes: (continued) B s - (48)
(c) (continued) () (#)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income GEREWERHBE
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T
Revenue A 16,332
Loss before taxation B LA 18 (34,578)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEFHER2HE X HALE (34,578)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated financial NEERRMAEENESAUBERERTNS
statements of the joint ventures, adjusted for differences in accounting policies BHOMAEBHEALECEZMEHRENE
between the Group and the joint ventures. The information above is the amount FETHE - U LEER AR AR ALK HEAT
before inter-company eliminations. BB -
Reconciliation of summarised financial information MEERNMENY R
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying PRI BEMERES S P ENRER
amount of the interests in joint ventures is provided as follows: REEHERENT
2018
—Z2-N\F
HK$'000
BT T
Net assets at beginning of the year FUEETFE =
Addition NE 578,388
Exchange realignment & H # (177)
Loss for the year attributable to shareholders A% R B S 518 (34,578)
Net assets at end of the year FREEFE 543,633
Interests in joint venture® AEDE R 516,451
At end of the year FR 516,451
#  As at 31 March 2018, the interest held by the Group in Seavest Group as joint tRZE-NF=ZAZ=Z+—H X5H
ventures was 95%. RA & D % Seavest Group T A
95% ©
(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint ventures that are not (d) BERFAEAZAEFBASELPEBYEELRE
individually material is set out below: ZMT

2018 2017
—2-N\& —T— i

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BET

The Group's share of total comprehensive expenses AEBEATEEE Y 4258 (27,641) (4,672)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests in ~ NEE {5t Z AL P ERERE 7 EREEE
these joint ventures 596,035 591,623
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

20 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 20 AHHEZIRE
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BT T
Listed investment, at fair value: THRE  EARE:
— equity securities listed overseas (note a) —/B5 b 2 RAES (Kwa) 55458 50,070
Unlisted investments, at fair values: ELTEE  RARE:
- equity securities N 8,100 7,770
— private funds (note b) —FLEES (Hizkb) 50,638 66,314
— unlisted debt (note c) —JELTER (HiEc) 151,570 -
________ 210308 74,084
265,766 124,154
The carrying values of available-for-sale investments are denominated in the A EZIREZERENUNTNEE 5
following currencies: BAI

Hong Kong dollar ke 151,570 -
US dollar e 46,760 68,217
Vietnam Dong WEE 55,458 50,070
Others HAth 11,978 5,867
265,766 124,154
Notes: B &F -
(a) The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on the quoted (@) NEEFHTREZANBEDNIREBIT SN
market bid prices available on the relevant exchange. WMeMBEANBEE -
(b) The fair values of the private funds of the Group are primarily determined based on the b) XEBEZABEESZARBNEERIEH L
quoted market prices of the underlying listed investments. MREZMISREETE °
(c) The unlisted debt represented the amount granted for the development expenditure of (c) ELTMEBEINIEHNEEFRLTERMEHRZ
a church building and senior citizen facility. THERETFEHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

21 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21

22 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

140

At beginning of the year F7)
Exchange realignment 5 A%
Additions NE
Acquisition of Moon Colour (note 36(b)(iv)) Uk B Moon Colour (B 7 36(b)(iv)
Transfer to properties for sale ERFEMHE
Transfer to assets held-for-sale (note 44) HEFELEEE (M3144)
At end of the year FR
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RBMEREIWTR
Non-current assets EMENE E
Current assets MENAE

As at 31 March 2018, the balances are related to property development projects
in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is disclosed in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction period of the relevant project is expected to complete beyond
normal operating cycle. The amount classified as non-current assets was not
expected to be realised within the next twelve months.

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BET T
1,076,944 1,470,824
87,578 (89,486)
1,275,177 229,070
357,084 -
(668,489) -
- (633,464)
2,128,294 1,076,944
642,713 565,828
1,485,581 511,116
2,128,294 1,076,944

MREZB-NF=ZA=+—H Z&EHEREH
N EETRBENYMEEZREBEM -

ERAPMEBNMEZERRARNEE M B
WA OREE -

BRENEADERRBDEE  RIFEMEA
Bz AR S ER 2B MK -
BERERPEEZ SERATERRK
TEARNER -

2 HiERBEE

Deposits paid for a property development project EN—EYERREE 2ES

(note a) (MfsEa)
Others HAb
Notes:

(@) The balance represents deposits paid for a property development project in
Changchun, Mainland China.

(b) Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total carrying value of

HK$22,112,000 (2017: HK$21,885,000) for the purpose of securing banking facilities
granted to the Group.
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2018 2017

= A2 —EtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT AETIT
30,925 27,956
58,611 54,881
89,536 82,837

(a) ZEBATEAMEET —EMERRER
ZENES -

(b) BEMAAEAE22112,000T (B —+F 8
#21,885,0007T) 2 HthIEm BN EE B EEIR -
EABRTAEEBTEEZER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

BBRA/VEIABRREBEZRE

Listed investments:
Held for trading
— debt securities
— equity securities listed in Hong Kong
— equity securities listed overseas
— mutual and hedge funds

Unlisted investments:
Held for trading
— debt securities
— mutual and hedge funds

EHERE
FFIEEEF%
—EBES
— BB LW ZBRAZ S
—BH LT 2 A E S
—EERENES

FELMIRE :

FFIEEEF%
—EBES
—EERHNES

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are determined based
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchanges and the
unlisted investments of the Group are determined based on financial models or
with reference to quoted prices from relevant financial institutions.

The carrying amounts of investments at fair value through profit or loss are

denominated in the following currencies:

Euro

Hong Kong dollar
Japanese Yen
Renminbi

US dollar
Vietnam Dong

24 INVENTORIES

BT
HE
AR
e
W&

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BET T

224,447 324,505

43,094 39,980

19,345 19,449

7,245 695

294,131 384,629

76,016 114,329

60,658 55,813

________ 136674 . _.170.142

430,805 554,771

FEEZ ETREZAABEDREBRS
PPz TS B ANEMEE - MAKEZE
EHREZAABEDIRUBEAEE - k2
EREBMPBHEZHRE -

BARBEINARGZREZREZEREED

T B REL

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
7,068 -
43,094 39,980
2,106 12,905
6,264 14,635
364,849 483,984
7,424 3,267
430,805 554,771

24 EFE

Raw materials
Finished goods
Consumables

JR 4%
SURK
FER MR

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales
amounted to HK$1,998,169,000 (2017: HK$461,480,000).

7,597 3,794
336,033 294,624
947 581
344,577 298,999

EEREIHIINABERAZTFEXAE
7511,998,169,000 T (— T — L4 : B
461,480,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRERM A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

24 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

Charges were created on the inventories with total carrying value of

HK$77,619,000 (2017: HK$72,851,000) for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

25 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Unamortised prepaid land leases REBHEEN I HHEE
- Hong Kong —&%
- Mainland China — B A
Development costs BEEAAR

Properties for sale included the Group’s share of joint operation with an
aggregate book value of HK$18,129,000 (2017: HK$18,129,000).

The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$495,065,000 (2017: HK$144,550,000).

26 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

24 78 (48)

25

26

B T 42 (B 75 15 77,619,000 7T (Z&F —+4F ¢
¥ 72,851,0007) 2 FEEEEA - EA
BRI AEERITEEZER-

HEME
2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
AT
15,882 15,882
105,377 58,394
457,406 303,359
578,665 377,635

HEVEREERZE A 18,129,000 7T
(ZZ—+4F : 8%18,129,0007T) 2 NEEH

FriEaEEE -

EEWIABEERRZMEKK BB
¥ 495,065,000 0 (ZF —+ F : B
144,550,000 7T) °

BUIRM - FHESREMNRK
"

2018 2017

—E-N\F =25 —ess

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade debtors B 5 IR 548,035 590,569
Less: Provision for impairment R ERE (33,644) (45,948)
Trade debtors, net B O RIERR - 58 514391 544,621
Retention receivables FEWIR B 3B 288,760 328,933
Less: Provision for impairment BB ERE (9,186) (33,570)
Retention receivables, net FEWRBRIE  FE 279,574 295,363
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments Hip R - FHiRe REMRE 672480 | 552,650
1,466,445 1,392,534

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in each of its
core businesses. The average credit period granted to trade debtors is 60 days,
except for insurance business where credit period granted to certain debtors is
over 60 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net is as follows:

0 - 60 days 0—60X
61 —90 days 61—90K
Over 90 days #8190k

As at 31 March 2018, gross trade debtors balances totaling HK$34,093,000
(2017: HK$54,279,000) were individually determined to be impaired, which
were related to customers that were in financial difficulties. The management
assessed that only a portion of these balances was expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific provision for impairment of HK$33,644,000 was
recognised (2017: HK$45,948,000). The Group did not hold any collateral over
these balances. The movement in the provision for impairment during the year is
as follows:

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

26 BWERA - FHEERFEAR

5 (48)
B ENEN  FEZER DM -

2017

—T—tF

HK$'000

BETT

466,160 491,522
12,719 20,536
35,512 32,563
514,391 544,621

R-ZE—NF=ZA=+—BREEHB
REEFEF ESERERBEGKAEESR
7 #34,093,000 (ZE—tF B
54,279,0007T) ' BRI EE A TR
E-ZEBEZFMG BHESKD I
DS ES B BRI R ERE
BB ¥ 33,644,000 (Z T —+F B
45,948,0007T) - ANEE W E Lt FEE B F
BEMEHER  RAFEREREBEZEHN
T

At beginning of the year F7)

Exchange realignment TE 5, 37 %
Impairment loss recognised BRI EE 18
Provision written back £ [ B B
Uncollectable amounts written off MEE AT M B > £ 58
At end of the year FR

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade debtors that are not considered to be
impaired is as follows:

2018 2017
—B-NE e
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
45,948 27,099
264 96

5,558 23,714
(17,013) (2,443)
(1,113) (2,518)
33,644 45,948

AEBIGERTREZE S EEERZ
BRI DMTIATE -

Neither past due nor impaired 3 4 560 B X R B
Up to 60 days past due BHEIB0 XA

61 — 90 days past due # 61 —90K
Over 90 days past due 161 HA %81 90 K
Amount past due but not impaired BB A R EE
Total EE

2018 2017
—=-N\% —F—tf
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT
383,214 295,715

94,397 202,156

7,456 19,799

28,875 18,620

________ 130,728 240575
513,942 536,290

Trade debtors balances that are past due but not impaired mainly relate to
individuals or companies that have been the Group's customers for more than
six months with no history of default in the past.

BREZAMESEPWRERESRTIEED
RRAREEEF BB/ EA B &R
ZALTHRRERH -
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e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

26 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 26 EUNERFR - FHHIZERFENR

15 (88)
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade debtors are denominated in the AEEBEFRERWERZEEBENLTIE
following currencies: RN

Australian dollar JBIT 21,346 5,563
Hong Kong dollar T 394,048 443,387
Macau Pataca SR 1,639 9,408
Renminbi AR¥E 39,545 24,776
US dollar EPM 41,472 47,639
Others HAb 16,341 13,848

514,391 544,621

As at 31 March 2018, retention receivables amounted to HK$9,186,000 (2017:
HK$33,570,000) were individually determined to be impaired, on which the
Group experienced unexpected difficulties during the collection process from
the customers. The management assessed that the balance was not expected
to be recovered and full provision for impairment loss was recognised.

The carrying amounts of retention receivables and other debtors as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March 2018 and 2017
approximated their fair values.

Included in debtors, deposits and prepayments was the Group's share of
receivables of HK$2,219,000 (2017: HK$2,036,000) in relation to a joint
operation.

Charges were created on the debtors, deposits and prepayments with total
carrying value of HK$69,251,000 (2017: HK$59,241,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

27 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT
WORK

HE-_Z-N\F=A=1+—08 EKRZ
FRIEB 9,186,000 (— T — L F : B
33,570,000 7T) B @RI E F A 1% TRE -
DAEEREEFPREEZBIEFBLEE
K2R 8 o IEEE 2 57 E - TEHIREE
W Bl 4 R AR B R B E BB EE -

RZB-NFR-ZB—tF=A=+—H"
FEUAR B R IA I Kt FE W R R 2 AR E(E =
SNBENMAREREN -

RZBE—N\ER-_FT—+&F=A=+—8"
EWEZRRERFRBZEREEEAAE
JiEEEID
EWER FHEZeRBNRBESEAEE
RBEE—EEECEMhZEBKRER  AF
#2,219,000 7T (ZF —+ 4 : 5% 2,036,000
JL) °
B [ 48 {8 7 15 69,251,000 (—Z —+4F ¢
75 #659,241,0007T) 2 EW R - Rl iR &
MIEMREDEER  (EAR T AEERT
BEEZER-

21 HANIREAES KR %
& 2B

2018 2017

144

—E-N\F

HK$'000
BT

T —tF
HK$'000
BT

Contracts in progress at end of the year: RERZELIHRELD :
Contract costs incurred BEEZAHKE 8,541,240 10,835,741
Recognised net (losses)/gains DR (BE), s F5E (207,951) 186,444
8,333,289 11,022,185
Less: Progress billings B EE IR (8,884,517) (11,462,902)
(551,228) (440,717)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT
WORK (CONTINUED)

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

21 BAENIEEATRKE X

¥ 2 FRE (48)

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMEREINA
Amounts due from customers for contract work ERERRBEEARED
included in current assets TiREAEFWEZ 5KE

EEERABHEEARAD
TREREP XN ZHA

Amounts due to customers for contract work
included in current liabilities

Advances received from customers for contract work amounted to HK$325,000
(2017: HK$85,000) and included in creditors.

28 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28

BT

88,563 114,795

(639,791) (655,512)

(551,228) (440,717)

AN I RIEE P TE A 325,000
T (ZZE—+4F : B#85000m) BEBER
FERTBRFRA -

TEMBIAZHBAE

Financial liabilities in respect of derivative financial
instruments
— interest rate swap contracts (note a)

—MEIE AL (5ta)

— foreign currency forward contracts (note b) —REIIMES A (Mi5ED)

— cross currency swap — R X E ¥ H
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HmEREDWA

Current assets MEVEE

Current liabilities MEAE

The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Their fair values are determined with reference to fair values of comparable
instruments in the market or quoted prices from counterparties. The net
carrying amounts of derivatives are denominated in the following currencies:

TTEMKETA

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T

(171) (1,554)

99 (1,323)

212 -

140 (2,877)

373 97

(233) (2,974)

140 (2,877)

TETARSREMRZARENE - ITE
TAZAREDREANHEIBRTAZ TS
RRAEXEHTREMAE - TETAZE®E
FETIAT I EERBEL

Australian dollar B IT
Euro (B8
Hong Kong dollar E
US dollar E
Others Efh

- (89)

(1) (648)
(171) (1,554)
212 (683)
100 97
140 (2,877)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

28 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 28 STHEBIE TR (48)
Notes: B 5

(a) Interest rate swap contracts of the Group with a total notional amount of (&) AEBAKTFHNEEHAEAEN XL AT
HK$426,666,000 (2017: HK$800,000,000) were entered to swap floating interest rate EFESMEB 2R EBME LA RI=ER
to fixed interest rate or to swap between different floating rates. These contracts will Hu@f x5 A B 426,666,000 (ZF
mature on 10 October 2018 (2017: mature on 10 October 2018). —-£ 4 : 7% 800,000,0007T) ° ttFEAH L

HRZZ—N\F+A+A(ZZT—tF: R=
T—N\F+A+A)HH-

(b) Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional amount up b) NREBEAKTRIERBAEMINERK
to HK$56,621,000 (2017: HK$110,768,000) were entered to swap various foreign ME]UBRHINESLY HBZESTEABE
currencies to other cross currencies. These contracts will mature within the period 56,621,000 7T (= Z —+4 : #% 110,768,000
from 4 April 2018 to 3 January 2023 (2017: period from 3 April 2017 to 3 January L) c WEANBR-_TE-N\FOANBE=
2023). Zo=F-AZAHARN(ZZ2—tF R

Tt EMAZAE T -_=ZF—F=HH
fEIR) B Hf -

29 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 9 RITEERRS

RITEFLASBEAFRS  RAEDHH
RiEEB=18H 2B HRITER  RE DY
R =1{E R ARNZEBBTERLEFA
BHREZRE - WEEEZRAEREAR
FAERE -

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank deposits with
an original maturity period over three months, short-term bank deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less and cash placed with financial
institutions. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

2018 2017
—E-N\F

—T—tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BETT BT

RITHEGFRRS 1,613,023 1,337,894

Pledged bank deposits B IFRITFR 54,363 405,867
Unpledged bank deposits maturing =B AEEH 2 EIEPRITER

after three months 56,066 17,871

Bank balances and cash

1,723,452 1,761,632

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are denominated in the BITHEFERRECEEENIATIEE A
following currencies: =R iva

2018 2017

—B-N\F

HK$'000
BT T

—E—tF
HK$'000
BT T

Australian dollar BT 22,245 6,895
Canadian dollar mEXRT 40,611 36,899
Euro BL7E 2,687 5,065
Hong Kong dollar ok 852,828 943,593
Macau Pataca SR P 3,043 4,110
Renminbi AREE 476,238 244,692
Singapore dollar s T 4,117 2,779
US dollar ET 261,167 474,378
Others Hitb 60,516 43,221

1,723,452 1,761,632

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's bank balances of HK$54,353,000 (2017:
HK$405,867,000) were pledged to banks for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

RZZ—NEZA=+—8  AEBHZR]T
4ETF B 554,353,000 (— T —+4F : B
405,867,000 L) EEIF FIRT - tERIER T A
EBMRITEEZER-

As at 31 March 2018, the effective interest rates on short-term bank deposits
of the Group were 1.2% (2017: 1.1%) per annum; and these deposits had an
average maturity of 26 days (2017: 49 days).

R-ZE—NFZA=Z+—8 A£EZEH
RITBERZERFMNNERE12% (ZE—+
F:1.1%) WEFERZFHEHBAD R A
26K (ZT—+HF 1 49K)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2018, bank balances and cash of HK$476,225,000 (2017:
HK$243,971,000) were held in Mainland China and are subject to local
exchange control regulations, under which the balances could not be exported
freely out of Mainland China. The repatriation of funds out of Mainland China
is possibly conducted by way of dividends or other means as complied to the
regulations.

30 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS AND ACCRUALS

I RNERRENRE

Trade creditors and bills payable

Retention payables FERHMR B IR
Deposits received BRTFAZRS
Accrued contract costs TEIRA KA

Other creditors and accruals Hi R RBERE A

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is as follows:

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

29 RITHEFREE (B)

R-ZZ—NEZA=+—8 HERFER
2 SRITHE 7 IR & 751 476,225,000 7T (=
T — 4 B10243,971,0007T) BBEEH
SNEBEHIRE B WELTFIBEMRE

HAREA - Eea BB S sEMmETIH
2 A AR R o
30 EERM - B RE - TAR
ERTAREH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
282,234 281,994
202,491 170,435
96,399 38,428
578,798 744,749
482,323 686,255
1,642,245 1,921,861

BIRNERMENRBZREONAT

0 - 60 days 0—60X
61 - 90 days 61—90K
Over 90 days #90K

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade creditors and bills payable are
denominated in the following currencies:

257,587 265,123
6,628 1,174
18,019 15,697
282,234 281,994

AEBZESRERNERRENREZE®
BETATIIES BER

Hong Kong dollar i
Macau Pataca pedska
US dollar E
Renminbi AR¥E
Others H

The carrying amounts of retention payables and other creditors as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Macau Pataca and
Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March 2018 and 2017
approximated their fair values.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits and accruals are the Group's
share of liabilities of HK$1,408,000 (2017: HK$1,347,000) in relation to a joint
operation.

2018
—E-N\F
HK$000
BET T
149,809 190,944
13,022 9,471
21,391 15,786
88,491 61,405
9,521 4,388
282,234 281,994

R N\FER-_FT—+F=ZA=+—80"
EAREREREAMEMNERZEEEIN
B CRPIBRARK BB -

RZEB-NFR-_ZT-LF=A=+—H"
A BR R R FE AN IR 2 BREE B E R A (B
EESI

AR BNZEE GARSRERER
NEBREALEER —EEELEEMGZA
BEAEM1,408,000T (Z T —tF : B
1,347,0007C) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

31 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS 31 RRRBERE

148

Insurance claims of the following business classes are not usually settled within THEBERZRBRE—BTE—FA
one year: #®E

— Employee compensation —[EERE

— Motor third party liability —REE=FEEME

— Public liability —RBEM

The claims development, net of reinsurance, are disclosed as follows: BEEER (HRBRB)BEOT

2008 2009 2010 01 2012 213 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total
BN\ Z3TAF C-B-%fF -3--F C%-°fF - C3-ME C%-I1F Z3-»E CE3-tE 0% g
HK$000  HK$000 HK$ 000 HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSOmD HKS 000 HKS 000 HKSO0D
BT Tl T AETT  ABTr  AETr  B%Tr AR AR BETS T AETI
Estimate of cumulative claims (5t 2% E
At end of accident year BNERAER 8767 39575 57615 7099 131582 15800 175730 161549 140112 122198 86471
One year later — 94066 BOB4  BTI45 54009 105091 122821 139004 109443 109851 84489 -
Two years later mEH 55288 45852 BT 67092 113384 137083 182912 11453 114990 - -
Three years later =Fk 4434 40046 46556 63648 91456 120451 122221 96196 - - -
Four years later mEH MM BG4 4336 6274 I 112513 113887 - - - -
Five years later nEk 508 39814 426% 60170 86145 111218 - - - - -
Six years later NER 46,140 40427 4259 60,086 85,231 - - - - -
Seven years later tER 46952 40438 4319 59886 - - - - - -
Fight years later N\Ek G971 40886 42726 - - - - - - -
Nine years later NER 4% 3969 - - - - - - - -
Ten years later i 46,837 - - - - - - - - -
Cumulative claims ZHZE 46837 39690 42726 59886 85231 111218 11387 96156 114990 84480 86471 881581
Less: Cumulative payments ~ Jf+ Z5FEZUR (46637)  (39554)  (42726)  (59.886) (85231  (107164)  (107,082)  (63346)  (43250)  (19.409)  (11,858)  (626,143)
Claims outstanding at RZE-N5=1
31 March 2018 ST-BIRREE 200 13 - - - 4,054 6305 32810 71740 65000 74613 255438
Claims outstanding at RZE-t5=1
31 March 2017 St-BRREE 891 551 1510 1916 1021 168 2908 63767 882 1119B - 305

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured event will occur
including the uncertainty of the amount and timing of any resulting claim. The
principal risk the Group faces under such contracts is that the actual claims and
benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of insurance liabilities. This is
influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid
which are greater than originally estimated and subsequent development of
long tail claims.

The Group manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits, approval
procedures for transactions that involve new products or that exceed set limits,
pricing guidelines, centralised management of reinsurance and monitoring of
emerging issues.

The Group manages the variability of risks by careful selection and the
implementation of underwriting strategies, arrangements of reinsurance, strict
claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims as well as the
investigation of possible fraudulent claims. The Group also enforces a policy
of actively managing and promptly pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its
exposure to unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the
Group.

The Group's underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced portfolio

and is based on a large portfolio of similar risks over a number of years and, as
such, reduces the variability of the outcome.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

32 RITREMERK

Bank and other borrowings are repayable as follows:

RITREMEREERWT

Within one year —F K

More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years —F LA BB E
More than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years MFEL BT BBRSF
Exceeding 5 years iR A

Less: Amount due within one year disclosed under
current liabilities

B ERBEENRELR
—FRBRZEHE

Represented by: 235
Secured B
Unsecured Eg i

The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate their fair
values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at floating rate. The bank
and other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BET T
767,670 520,247
663,446 355,199
1,358,261 1,307,320
587,125 607,673
3,376,502 2,790,439
(767,670) (520,247)
2,608,832 2,270,192
1,275,995 1,409,272
2,100,507 1,381,167
3,376,502 2,790,439

EARFDERTILAF BRI RE S - RITRE
M fE R Z REERE D RERE - |RITRE
ERTIATINEE BB

Canadian dollar mgXT
Hong Kong dollar ok
Renminbi AR
US dollar e

The effective interest rates per annum of the bank and other borrowings as at

31 March were as follows:

2018
=E2—N\F
HK$'000
BT
7,331 26,942
2,095,205 1,498,318
132,913 301,688
1,141,053 963,491
3,376,502 2,790,439

H=1t—0 ROTREMERZERSF

EmF -

Canadian dollar mgXT
Hong Kong dollar ok
Renminbi AR
US dollar ETT

Bank and other borrowings of HK$1,547,995,000 (2017: HK$1,409,272,000)
were secured by charges on the assets of the Group as set out in notes 14, 15,
22, 24, 26 and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.8% 2.1%
2.4% 1.9%
2.6% 4.8%
4.3% 4.1%

SR1T I H b £ 8 #1,647,995,000 7T (—
T — 4 B 1,409,272,000 7T) JH AR E
EEEERE REATBHREMFE14
152224~ 26 29 N & -

2018 4 HtEMREEARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

33 SHARE CAPITAL 33 fg A

Number of
shares

R tn 8B

Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each FIEEEE1.26 T2 LR

Share capital

&N
HK$'000

BT

Authorised: EERA
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 T—NFMOA—H -
and 31 March 2018 T—+tF=A=+—HK
—ZE-N\F=A=+—H 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and
at 31 March 2018
—ZE-\F=A=+—H 301,928,440 377,411
34 RESERVES 34 #fE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARARTES
Capital Investment Other assets Exchange
Share Capital redemption revaluation revaluation  Hedging fluctuation
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve

BARE  REEfi  AMHEE AERE
RitaE  ERESH fi fiff EfRE HREE  FIRG
HK$'O@ HK$'000 HK$'00_0 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T AEfT  B%Tr BT B BETT  B%Tn

7

Retained
profits

REER

Total

A%
HK$000
AR

At 1 April 2017 RZE-tE@A-H 704,087 365,799 8,785 57,182 702,043 (2,227) 43357 5712419 7592,045
Profit for the year EFRA - - - - - - - 907929 907,929
Exchange difference on translation of R EEHNIEAR - BELNAR

operations of overseas subsidiaries, REDEZERAELL

associates and joint ventures NERBZE - - - - - - 372 - 367,29%
Disposal of Talent Luck LERERE - - - - (454465) - - 454465 -
Change in fair value of properties ARNEZARERD

for own use - - - - (26,475) - - 4,028 (22,447)
Change i fair value of availablefor-sale T4 HH & 7R BHA L ES

investments - - - 1,248 - - - - 1,248
Impairment loss on available-for- ROEZRANREER

sale Investments transferred to BEEGANER

consolidated income statement - - - 331 - - - - 331
Fair value adjustments on the derivative 2 A2 REHRRTEEE

financial instruments designated TERBAZRBREHE

as cash flow hedge in respect of ANNDAERE

interest rate swap and foreign

currency contracts - - - - - 2,443 - - 2,443
Total comprehensive income/lexpenses)  FE2ENE/(H%) 4%

for the year - - - 4,625 (480,940) 2443 367,296 1366422 1,259,846
Dividends paid BfifkE - - - - - - - (573664)  (573,664)
Disposal of Chinaford and Dolce Field & RE R &2 (M3t 360b)vii)

(note 36(b)(vill) - - - - - - 65,033 - 65,033
Changes in ownership interests in NC1 - T2 % %2511 2 NC1 Sanchil

Sandhill without loss of control (note AV A IEERS

361 vi) (M3 3lolviil) - 12,064 - - - - - - 12,064
At 31 March 2018 RZ2-NE=f=1-H 704,087 371,863 8,785 62,407 221,103 216 475686 6505177 8,355,324
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34 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

At 1 April 2016

RZE-REMA-A

Profit for the year EFRA

Fair value surplus of properties ~ BANEZ AN EES
for own use

Exchange difference on translation & @5 HEAA -
of operations of overseas BERARaetE2
subsidiaries, associates and ERfEEL
joint ventures NERRER

Change in fair value of RNEZREN
avallablefor-sale ivestments A7 EEF

Impairment loss on TRLE RENRERE
availableforsale investments  BAZRANER
transferred to consolidated
income statement

Farvalueadustmentsonthe  EERBERELRN
derivative financial instruments ~ ATEBIE T AERF %
designated as cash flow hedge B RINEA 4060
inrespect of interestrate swap ~ ALEAE
and foreign currency contracts

Total comprehensiveincome for ~ FE2ENELE
the year

Dividends paid EARE

Disposals of; HE:
~Wonder (note 36(bl(xl) ~Wonder (¥ 36(bl(xi)
~ other subsidiaries ~HtHERA

At 31 March 2017 RZZ-tEZA=1-8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NIEE
premium

Capital
reserve

Attributable to sh

Capital
redemption
TeSeve

IR

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZ-\E=ZA=1+—HL=EE

34 it (48)

reholders of the Company

Alf

Investment  Other assets

Exchange

revaluation
arve

B

&
HK$'000
BETT

Retained
profits

fluctuation
reserve

revaluation Hedging

[eserve

Hihfde
HK$'000

RB A
HK$ 000

HK$'000

TR

A0 W1 678 QA0 G5 020 00 535 137m

- - - - - - S T

- - - S - - B0 w3

- - - - - - ) - )

- - S - - - S

- - - 5 - - - ST

- - - - - - - A

- - - 510 B 495 oMuT) MBI 4980

- - - - - - - s

- - - - - - e - e

- - - - - - 263 - 263

408 6T 8% _ §R 003 _ ) _ M3 5T0M9 7508
i AHERREBESREBEMER - 0F

Note: The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past including
redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group entities.

AAREM EECEZDHRRILAL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRERM A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

35 DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

152

35 IEFEFRIE

TXFRET AR 23 F E NGB E 2 M FE R
ReTBEERBEME(EE) REET) :

Accelerated Amortisation
tax of goodwill  Revaluation of
depreciation  and trademarks properties Tax losses Others Total
MEHESRE EEEEREE EfthE HEFS -0 ag
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
BB BETT T BB BB BRI
At 1 April 2017 RZE-+ERA-A 39,373 58,141 316,744 (61,727) (6,854) 345,677
Exchange realignment EiAE 29 855 26,546 (407) (440) 26,583
(Crecitedl/charged to consoldated income EEERANERGIA)/ Mk
statement for the year note 11) (1) (2,786) (8,485) 28,682 14,400 (6,547) 25,264
(Crecited/charged to other comprehensive EFEEMREREGIA)/ TR
income for the year - - (6,646) - - (6,646)
Acquisition of Moon Colour fnote 36(b)v) 428 Moon Colour (Ff3£36(bl(iv)) (2,215) - - (701) - 2,916)
Disposal of Talent Luck (note 36(b)ix) HEHEEE (H360ix) - - (89,804) - - (89,804)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\£=RA=1-H 34,401 50511 215522 (48,435) (13,841) 298,158
At 1 April 2016 RZE-7ENA-A 38,956 46,780 218,673 (39,194) (4,540) 260,675
Exchange realignment EREE (38) 61 (11,607) 61) 79 (11,724)
Chargedlcredited to consolidated income EEERANGEENG/GIA)
statement for the year note 11) (F&E11) 455 11,300 56,102 (22,472) (2,235) 43,150
Charged to other comprehensive income EEREMZENENR
for the year - - 29,632 - - 29,632
Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Group RARERBEE (HH36bi)
(note 36(b)IX)) - - 23,944 - - 23,944
At 31 March 2017 RZE-t£=A=1-H 39,373 58,141 316,744 (61,727) (6,854) 345,677

For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position presentation,
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets RIEFIBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEEE

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$2,693,965,000
(2017: HK$2,537,188,000) available for offset against future taxable profits. A
deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of HK$215,003,000 (2017:
HK$214,203,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset had been recognised
in respect of the remaining HK$2,478,962,000 (2017: HK$2,322,985,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in tax losses were
losses of HK$94,970,000 and HK$103,284,000 (2017: HK$136,678,000 and
HK$75,785,000) of subsidiaries in Mainland China and the United States of
America (“US") that will gradually expire until December 2022 and March 2038
respectively; the remaining tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. In
current year, there was a reduction of tax rate in the US and as a result, the
relevant deferred tax balances have been remeasured.
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REAKAFBHRRRZFIIARX  HTE
ERBEENBELCHERE - RIERIELSE
HIEM B MEME 2T

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
(42,171) (26,815)
340,329 372,492
298,158 345,677

RZE-NE=A=+—H X£EFEK
A HIEEE A 2,693,965000 5T
— T — 4 B #2,537,188,0007T) -
AAEREERZERBEF - Hd B
215,003,000 (ZE —tF : B
214,203,00070) 2 B EE B E R AIRE
FIBEE o B AR M0H R ATER - #l £ 5t
%N 2 BIAE 188 2,478,962,000 7T (—
T — 4 B #2,322,985,000 T) FER A
BERBEEE MEBBEEFREAML K
EMNBEZE((EZER)DKMNBRARERSES
ME-—TE-_—_F+-Ak=ZZFE=N\F=A
2 794,970,000 7t & 7 ¥ 103,284,000 7T
(ZZ—+ % : 5% 136,678,000 T & /8
75,785,000 T) : Mer N2 BB EIB A 1] &
[REFAES - NERN > AREBBRFAK 8
BREEFEHERDENTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2018, deferred tax liabilities of HK$50,827,000 (2017:
HK$39,859,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would be
payable on the unappropriated earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts
were expected to be reinvested.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had unrecognised deductible temporary
differences of HK$8,560,000 (2017: HK$8,173,000). No deferred tax asset had
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

35 SEAEHLTH (48)

HE-_Z-\E=ZA=+—H0 ABH#ET
WEBRARADREF M AT M2 FEME
T RIE T E 8 &8 % 50,827,000 (=&
— 44 B #39,859,0007T) - TEHI M H XK
BERAEBIRE -

HE-_Z-N\F=ZA=+—H0 A£EZK
T TR 0] R B B 1% = 2 R 158,560,000 7T
(ZZ—+F:5%8,173,0007T) - Bt
KRR E RS2 FERFm F AR ERKER
B2 AR E R R - I R ERAER 2
FEBELRBEE -

36 FERERERMEE

(a) REEEZRS

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Interest income from bank deposits
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts
and bank and other borrowings
Dividend income from investments
Depreciation
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Gain on disposal of an investment property
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
(Gain)/loss on disposals of
— Chinaford and Dolce Field (note 36(b)(vii))
— Talent Luck (note 36(b)(ix))
- Wonder (note 36(b)(xi))
— other subsidiaries
—associates
Deemed disposal loss on step-up acquisition
of an associate and become a subsidiary
Gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Loss/(gain) on derivative financial instruments
Provision for inventories to net realisable
value, net
Provision for impairment loss on properties
for sales
Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment
Impairment loss on interest in an associate
Remeasurement of goodwill
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments
Provision (written back)/recognised
on trade and other debtors
Impairment loss on retention receivables
Gain on deemed acquisition of
Qi Yang Group (note 36(b)(x))

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

2018
—E-N\E
HK$'000
BT T
B 3 A1 % 1,267,826 743,157
FEE
[T NS (57,918) (87,922)
it aEhEEEA 60,490 4,672
IRITTF AT B WA (21,636) (19,333)
BITEY RIRTT R EAEROF S
T 92,309 93,538
RERE ZRBWA (18,974) (10,538)
e 109,795 81,559
EMEAE E#E 7,772 485
WEWEZ A RBEEN (190,683) (226,033)
HE—EREME T W - (276)
LEME  BELREEBZBE
(Yez5) 3,721 (498)
HENTARZ (W), EiE
— R N #B B (M 5E 36(b)(vii) (619,941) -
—REBR L EE (B 5E36(b)(ix)) (92,927) -
—Wonder (Fff 5 36(b)(xi)) = 3,972
—E B AR (2,207) (265)
— B & A A (4,848) 3
BANUREE — B2 AR EANEB
NElZ R ABLEEIR 3,004 -
BAREIABTREZILEN
W zs (11,912) (14,294)
PTEB BT A2 BB, (W) 993 (1,385)
GEREZNSIREE F8
4,070 765
BEMENREBBRE
22,015 -
W BERZEBZRERBRE
1,572 -
R—REBE A RS2 REEE 18,101 -
B ERE (4,686) -
A E 2R ERREEE
3,377 5,676
(R, BHERE S REMER
R R (2,005) 20,374
FEUWREE BB 2 R E k18 8,597 -
RAEWEEGEE 2 W
(B 5 36(b)(x)) - (7,060)
BEECEHZEERERE
575,905 586,597
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued)

36 FERERERMEE (H)

(a) REZEEZRE (8)

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
BT

Changes in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
non-controlling interests

Decrease/(increase) in investments at fair value
through profit or loss, net

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Decrease in properties for sale

Increase in properties under development

Decrease/(increase) in debtors, deposits and
prepayments

Decrease in amounts due from customers
for contract work

Cash (paid)/received upon maturity of derivative
financial instruments

Increase in amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
customers for contract work

(Decrease)/increase in creditors, bills payable,
deposits and accruals

Decrease in unearned insurance premiums and
unexpired risk reserves

Decrease in outstanding insurance claims

Increase in deferred income

Exchange difference

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

(b) Acquisitions and disposals

JE W IR R R 2R BR TR (45 )

BAREINABREEZRE

WA (Em) - %R

& (gm),md

FEMERD

R EL N

FEWERTR - FHES RIER R
wA (Ehn)

LA # TIZERF P WEUZ F0R
A

TTHEFMBIARBRZ (B,
Y o3 &

JE A 3F 2 B A 2 BR S 10

HAENTRERES XN ZHKA
2 Cd)

BT BRNRE  FARER
FERE A OR D), 180

BT RE B NoK B H R B R

RARBRER D

A YW AR AN

EXERR

(AR FaggEzRid

35,537 (2,850)
135,878 (34,629)
(49,648) 7,856
492,377 184,911

(1,275,177) (216,981)
214,285 (207,744)

28,317 7,079

(1,567) 1,296

64,202 -

84,279 (379,158)

(369,868) 445,222

(14,842) (56,552)

(49,834) (47,247)

1,245 3,931
__________ 7Aan 22442
(121,500) 314,172

(b) WEBREE

(i) Acquisition of two senior housing properties located in

Michigan, the US

On 3 April 2017, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire 100%
interest in two senior housing properties located in Michigan, the US,
at the consideration of US$33,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$257,400,000). The transaction completed in June 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(i) Acquisition of two senior housing properties located in

Michigan, the US (continued)

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

36 FERERERMEE (H)

(b) R HE ()
(i) WBAREZEZRBMN WAL

HK$'000
BEF T

Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Cash paid

Fair value of net assets acquired (as shown below)

Goodwill (note 16)

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Intangible assets (note 17)

Debtors, deposits and prepayments

Acquisition related expenses
(included in administrative expenses)

Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition:
Cash consideration paid

(ii) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in Silver Prosper Holdings

Limited (“Silver Prosper”)

On 18 May 2017, the Group entered into a provisional agreement to
acquire 100% equity interest in Silver Prosper where the principal
asset is the property located at Davis Street, Hong Kong, which is for
residential and commercial use at a consideration of approximately
HK$228,000,000. The transaction completed in August 2017.

ERESWE (&)
BEREBEZINAN
RE T 257,785
PR g EFE 2 AE (EFIT) (221,346)
EESOERR) 36,439

PriREE B EFEZ AlE -

Y BB M (H5E15) 191,896
mpaE (ME17) 29,396
BRI - T RS RIEF B 54

221,346

WEEARRE S i (RF AT )
2,293

WIEEHEEAME S REFE
BEfEeRE (257,785)

(i) WIBEREEERAT ([EBRE
= ) 89100% MR #&

R-ZE—tEFHEATNEB A&
B UmREHEARBREE
Emi100%kE REOARESE
228,000,0007C * Z A A Z F EEE
RURBERERTHZDE ZY
FRETERAERE HXFHD
RZTE—tFNATHK -

HK$'000
BEF T

Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Cash paid

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Investment property (note 14)
Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Creditors, deposits and accruals
Current income tax liabilities

Acquisition related expenses
(included in administrative expenses)

Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition:
Cash consideration paid

BEREBZIMNARA
REZT 225,212

B EERE2ARE

wEME (ME14) 228,000
FEWERTR « T iRE RIE KB 59
EMEER  FARSRERER (2,768)
EHMEHAaE (79)

225,212

W ARRE S i (RE AT )
2,630

WIEEBEEAME S REFHE
EMRENRE (225,212)
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

36 ZEBRERERME (E)

156

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(i) Acquisition of development right for the land

On 13 June 2017, Urban Renewal Authority (“URA") notified the
Group that URA has accepted the offer submitted by and awarded
the development right in respect of the development site at Fuk Chak
Street and Li Tak Street at Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon at a consideration of
HK$680,000,000.

(iv) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in Moon Colour Holdings

Limited (“Moon Colour”)

On 10 August 2017, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire
100% equity interest in Moon Colour where the principal asset is
the property located at Tai Yip Street, Kowloon which is an industrial
building at a consideration of approximately HK$360,000,000. The
transaction completed in August 2017.

(b) R HE (&)
(i) Yo B8 + b B B%

RZE—tFNA+=
EEEUWE%DWZ’S
MEBEEMMREROR
NEXABEBEG RGBT E’\J?ﬁf?
RIEEEOMERE RE
680,000,000 7T °

(iv) X # Moon Colour Holdings

Limited ([ Moon Colour ]) &
100% AR &

R=ZF—tFN\A+H KEEFT
ST 15 3% LA Uk 88 Moon Colour #9 100%
f& - (B % A% ¥ 360,000,000
TLeZARIZEEEERMMUNEE
REBZME ZVEATEEF-
RXPGER_T—LF\A XK

HK$'000
BEF T

Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREZINAN
Cash paid eI 360,272
Fair value of net assets acquired: FrEEESFE2 A ARE
Property under development (note 21) ERAYZE(ME21) 357,084
Deferred tax assets (note 35) RERIEE B (F7E35) 2,916
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWER - TP iRe RIBRFKIE 272
360,272
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: WESHEAMBE S RLFEHE
Cash consideration paid BEEEeRE (360,272)

(v) Acquisition of residential properties at Nos. 292A-D Prince

Edward Road West, Kowloon

On 3 November 2017, the Group submitted the offer to acquire the
residential properties at Nos. 292A-D Prince Edward Road West,
Homantin, Kowloon at a consideration of HK$333,800,000 through
public tender process. The transaction completed in November 2017.
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 GERERERMEE (E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) BB R HE ()

(vi) Step-up acquisition of Chevalier AOC Freight Express Holdings (Vi)EMBEBETXTREZRER
Limited (formerly known as “AOC Limited”) (“AOC”) and AR (ABIETEE(XEEKE
become a subsidiary BR2AFD (TAOC) X & & K B

AT
On 13 December 2017, the Group exercised its option to acquire R-_E—+FE+—-—F+=H A&
additional 30% equity interest in AOC at a consideration of 877 {85 £ HA 4 Uk BE AOC KB 48 30%
HK$9,450,000. AOC became a 60% subsidiary of the Company since BE#E - {8 459,450,000 370 © G 1t
then. AOCHK AR RIH60% B AR
HK$'000
BEFIT
Total consideration satisfied by: BREZIZHAR
Fair value of the previously held equity interest in AR ANBERRNERTEEERN
an associate at the acquisition date NRE 9,450
Cash paid BE AT 9,450
,,,,,,,,, 18,900
Fair value of net assets acquired: FliEFEEZ A RE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) M - B kA (MEE15) 1,940
Debtors, deposits and prepayments JERBRER - TR e RIBNFHIE 19,060
Bank balances and cash WITHEERRS 18,186
Creditors, deposits and accruals FERER FARERTBREA (15,924)
Non-controlling interests eI IR A (9,305)
,,,,,,,,, 13,957
Goodwill (note 16) EEC ) 4,943
Net cash inflow arising from the step-up acquisition: BMBEEEANFRSREA
Cash consideration paid ERNRERE (9,450)
Bank balances and cash RITHEERRS 18,186
8,736
The non-controlling interest of AOC was determined based on AOC Z 3E15 IR #E %5 T 1R #& FE 15 AOC
proportionate share of net assets of AOC. BEFEZLAET -
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

36 FERERERMEE (H)

(b) R HE ()

(vii)Disposal of Chinaford Investment Limited (“Chinaford”) and Vil HEREREERAR (RE]D

Dolce Field Limited (“Dolce Field”)

On 1 June 2017, the Group entered into a framework agreement to
dispose the entire issued share capital in Chinaford and Dolce Field
(investment holding companies which hold the entire interest in i &B
ELXREHEZEEABR DA ("CCPD")) and assignment of debt at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB1,570,000,000 (equivalent to

RBMBAERIB (H2)

RZZE—tEFRA—H A%KH
AYBERBHEALERERED
(BERMELEMEXRRBRA
AI(TREEEFEWE]D) 25 # 5
ZREEBRRAR) 22MEBTR

approximately HK$1,815,000,000). The transaction completed in August AREBERE AReREAAR
2017. #1,570,000,000 7T (4855 1A 478 #&

1,815,000,0007T) ° kX HE R =
Tt F/\AZHK °

HK$'000
BT

Cash consideration ReRE 1,815,109
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BEEBERNAME (44,616)
1,770,493

Net assets disposed of: BHEZEEZFE:
Assets held-for-sale (note 44) BIELEEE (Mizk44) 1,233,787

HSEMEHEEERRMAB AR

Liabilities directly associated with assets

held-for-sale (note 44) (MizT44) (148,268)
Exchange fluctuation reserve released B R BRI 2 INE H 2 B
upon disposal (note 34) (PfI3E34) 65,033
1,150,552
Gain on disposal (note 8) ez Uz (FisES) 619,941
Taxation AL (160,196)
Gain on disposal, net HE W FRE 459,745
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESEELENRSRAFE
Cash consideration received BWBRSKE 1,554,256
Professional fees and other expenses FEBRAREME S (36,427)
1,517,829

(viilDisposal of 40% interest in NC1 Sandhill Limited (“NC1
Sandhill”) without loss of control

(vili) iy & 36 | X X ZEH 2 NC
Sandhill Limited ([ NC1
Sandhill |) # 40% #& =

R-ZEB—tFNA-+HA K&
@ H & NC1 Sandhill #940% # &
K8 /B 12,000,0007T < NC1
Sandhill 2 # A o B U F A
NRIBCREE 2 FEBRINT

On 25 September 2017, the Group disposed of 40% interest in NC1
Sandhill at a consideration of HK$12,000,000. The effect of change in
the ownership interest of NC1 Sandhill on the equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company during the year is summarised as follows:

158  CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 HFEHERERME (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) BB R HE ()
(viilDisposal of 40% interest in NC1 Sandhill Limited (“NC1 (viijiH E X | KX EZEFEZNC
Sandhill”) without loss of control (continued) Sandhill Limited ([ NC1

Sandhill |) #40% R 2 (%)

HK$'000
BT
Consideration received from non-controlling interests Bk R 2 (B 12,000
Less: net liabilities of 40% interest disposed W BEHEA0% RS Z BETFE 64
Gain on disposal recognised within equity (note 34) REZRNERLE 2 e (H5E34) 12,064
The transaction completed in September 2017 and the Group continues RHGERZE—LEFNATKKEAK
to possess the control over NC1 Sandhill. EEEEF B ENCT Sandhill Z 1Z
1 o
(ix) Disposal of Talent Luck Limited (“Talent Luck”) (ix) HEHREEZEGRLAT ((HEH
E )
On 30 August 2017, the Group entered into a framework agreement R-E—+ENA=+H H&EFH
to dispose the entire issued share capital in Talent Luck Limited at a FVAEREG S EERERYERA
cash consideration of HK$610,000,000. The transaction completed in AR BTRA REAREBA
October 2017. ##610,000,0007T ° REER =T
—tF+ATK -
HK$'000
PR FIT
Cash consideration RBeRE 610,022
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BEEBERRAMEZH (1,617)
608,505
Less: Net assets disposed of: B EHNEZEEFE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y - BB MR (HEE15) 605,360
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWERR - T iRe RTERFKIE 97
Bank balances and cash RITHEFERRS 6
Creditors, deposits and accruals RN FARE RTEREA (81)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 35) RIETHIEE E (H3E35) (89,804)
515,578
Gain on disposal (note 8) ez UkEs (FisEs) 92,927
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESEELENRSRAFHE
Cash consideration received BUHRESRE 610,022
Professional fees and other expenses BEEEALHEME T (1,617)
Bank balances and cash RITHEERRSE (6)
608,499
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(x) Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Chevalier Investment Company

Limited (“Qi Yang”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Qi Yang
Group”)

Qi Yang Group is engaged in car dealership business in Mainland China.
The Group owns 40% equity interest in Qi Yang, an associate of the
Group. The remaining 60% equity interest is held by Qi Yang Holdings
Limited, the PRC business partner.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, in order to step up the
Group's participation in the operations and strengthen the corporate
governance of Qi Yang Group, the Group's management agreed with
the PRC business partner to implement certain changes to (i) the board
composition of Qi Yang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Qi Yang
(Chengdu) Investment Management Limited and (i) the control of the
key operating and financial activities of Qi Yang Group's businesses.
Pursuant to the announcement made by the Group on 30 March 2017,
Qi Yang became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group as at 31
March 2017.

36 FERERERMEE (H)

(b) R HE ()
x) RBKRBEXGEEITREBRAA

(FBDRAEWEQE (RKBR
R=3-2 - H))

EGEERPE AN ETELR
B - AEEFAXG (FEEW
—E¥ & RF) 240% M HE  #HT
60% A% #E iy o B S5 75 % (BN P R
BRAFHRE -

REBEZE-Z—+F=A=+—HBI
FE  REBBRANEESEEE LN
BEBEENCEE LR AKEN
EREDAPBEEBBEER B -
8 () K5 R E 2B KB R BKE (K
HREEEERARNEFTSAEK
AR (i) A B SR B S 75 £ 2 8 o B
BEBMZEHETETEE - RIE
AEBBRBHPA-T—LF=ZA=1
AZzRE&E BER-_ZT—tF=A
=T -BRAREEN-—FHEZE
B AR -

HK$'000
BEF T

Total consideration satisfied by: BREZEZMAFR
Interest originally held by the Group (note 18) BASERAFEN#ER (HEE18) 63,536

Amount due from Qi Yang Group U RS 3 2 BR X 291,551
355,087
Less: Fair value of identified assets acquired, liabilities B RRAKEARNEREEHREE
assumed and the non-controlling interest at the deemed FrEEaBERIEERERZ AAE :
acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y - WS MR (HEE15) 356,042
Interests in joint ventures (note 19) AEPE R (MFE19) 79,613
Inventories 7E 171,302
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUERSK - T IR RTER KA 93,926
Amounts due from non-controlling interests JE UG FE 4R AR AR 2 R X 46,437
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFRRS 120,309
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE A SE 12 4 2 2 BR K (260,964)
Amounts due to joint ventures EREEEZERR (406)
Creditors, deposits and accruals EREENR FARERBREAR (110,746)
Bank and other borrowings R1T R EMIE K (88,117)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 35) RERIE A E (F5E35) (23,944)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R A 25 (21,305)
,,,,,,,, 362,147
Gain on deemed acquisition (note 8) RAWEE 2 W (MEES) 7,060
Net cash inflow arising from the deemed acquisition: RAWIE 2R MAFE
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRRS 120,309

The above table also served as the disclosure of summarised financial
information (after inter-company elimination) of Qi Yang Group that has
non-controlling interests which are material to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(x) Deemed acquisition of Qi Yang Chevalier Investment Company
Limited (“Qi Yang”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Qi Yang
Group”) (continued)

The non-controlling interest of Qi Yang Group, an unlisted group, was

determined based on proportionate share of net assets of Qi Yang
Group.

(xi) Disposal of Wonder (HK) Holdings Limited (“Wonder”)

In August 2016, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party to dispose of the Group's interest in Wonder.
The transaction completed in October 2016.

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

36 FERERERMEE (H)

(b) R HE ()

x) RBKRBEXGEEITREBRAA
TEBEDREKMBLAR (RBA
[EiE&EE]) (&)

LT EBEEGEE 2 I s
TIRBNEEGEEEEFEZL
BIEE »

(xi) H & Wonder (HK) Holdings
Limited ([Wonder |)
R-ZZT—XNENR KREEE—
BYE=Frluth# HEAKE
M Wonder 2 #a o AR SERZ
T—XNF+AEMK -

HK$'000

BEF T

Total consideration satisfied by: BREZEZMAR :
Cash received BUWIRE 30,448
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BEBRREME Y (164)
30,284
Less: Net assets disposed of: W HENTEBEZEEFME :
Interest in an associate (note 18) BTl — eI B & R R4 25 (B 5E18) 53,410
Amount due from non-controlling interests JE AT S 422 AR 4 2 3K 1B 988
Non-controlling interests FEFERRE (21,651)
Exchange fluctuation reserve released upon disposal SRR 2 INE B IZ B
(note 34) (Ff$3134) 1,509
,,,,,,,,, 34,256
Loss on disposal (note 8) & 2 B R (FiEEs) (3,972)
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HEZHREESRAERE :
Cash consideration received BURERE 30,448
Professional fees and other expenses FEBRAREME S (164)
30,284

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

(c) MEFBFELAREZHIR

Pledged

bank deposits
2
RITIEHR
HK$'000
BT T

Bank and other
borrowings
RITR

B 8 3
HK$'000
BT

At 1 April 2017 R-ZE—+&mA—H 2,790,439 405,867
Cash flows REeEmE 548,707 (351,504)
Exchange realignment b 5 AR 34,397 -
Others HAb 2,959 -
At 31 March 2018 RZZT—-—NF=A=+—8H 3,376,502 54,363
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37 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER I FHEREMEBRERE ZRER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS i

BETRENS  REBEHBAZHE -
[ EAE - BAHREREM IR KERS
REERERZEREERSBEZESE
HEBMN RZE-—N\FE_T—+tF=A4

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combinations, licenses, trademarks, favourable leases and others are allocated,
at acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from such intangible
assets. The respective carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 had

been allocated as follows:

=t—H ZazZEmEECEIEMNT

Goodwiill License
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BET T BET T
Cost 2%
Construction and engineering R R TR

— roads, drainage and waterworks —EE - EBRKBIRE - 26,534 -
Property development and operations VIR REE
— cold storage and public bonded —REBREENABRHE
warehouse (note a) (KMizTa) 66,027 3,000 -
Senior housing (note b) ZEb & (HiiEb) 612,330 - 34,805
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - 4,660
Others Hib 4,943 - 11,453
683,300 29,534 50,918
Accumulated amortisation/ Rt RERE
impairment loss
Construction and engineering R R TIE
- roads, drainage and waterworks —ER - R ROKF IR - (26,534) =
Property development and operations MEBREREE
- cold storage and public bonded —REEERARRME
warehouse (note a) X)) (1,461) (3,000) -
Senior housing (note b) ZEh & (Miikb) - - (13,056)
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - (4,595)
Others Eth - - (1,915)
.......\14en)  (29534) (19,566)
Net book value at 31 March 2018 R=-Z—-N\E=A=+—8H
ZEREFE 681,839 - 31,352

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2018




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

37 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

I BERHMETEEZHER
il (4)

Goodwill License
[SES he R
HK$'000 HK$'000
ookt BT
Cost 2%
Construction and engineering SR R TR
- roads, drainage and waterworks —ER - R MK IR - 26,534 -
Property development and operations MEBRREREE
- cold storage and public bonded —REEERARRME
warehouse (note a) (M5t a) 66,027 3,000 -
Senior housing (note b) ZEb & (HiiEb) 569,837 - 5,206
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - 4,130
Others Hiftb - - 11,228
635,864 29,534 20,564
Accumulated amortisation/ Rt REFRE
impairment loss
Construction and engineering AR TR
- roads, drainage and waterworks —BR R RKIEIRE - (26,534) -
Property development and operations MEERREE
— cold storage and public bonded —REEERAZRRME
warehouse (note a) (FfsEa) (1,461) (3,000) -
Senior housing (note b) ZER & (ko) (4,662) - (5,206)
Insurance and investment R k& - - (4,072)
Others Hh - - (1,900)
.......®6123) (29584 _______(11,178)
Net book value at 31 March 2017 R-ZZB-—tF=A=+—H
ZEREFEE 629,741 - 9,386

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there
are indications that they might be impaired.

The Group tests other intangible assets for impairment whenever there is an
indication that they might be impaired.

Determining whether goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired require
estimations of the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell. Both
approaches require the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from CGUs and suitable discount rates in order to calculate present value.

The key assumptions for both approaches requires the entity to estimate the
discount rates and net operating income (for senior housing). Management
estimates appropriate discount rates that reflect current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.

AEESFOENARBR T LIAEE K
EAREDRE  eEATETIHA -

AREBREMETEERHRA A GERE
PR EETTRER A

EIRALEMEVEERTRER G
ERAPEBEIAABEIRHERN N LRSE °
T A M B HOER - R EFHFZR
CELENELAZARRERENEER
BE - UFFEHRE -

ZMEHEEZETERRFELEMAA
BERFLERAGLEREME) - &
EEMGFTRERRBAIMIGHER ZKEE
ERREELBMNFERARZABEIRE -
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37 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER

164

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market. Management determined
budgeted growth rates and gross margins based on past performance and
market expectation. The discount rates and reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant CGUs.

(a) Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

Goodwill, after impairment of HK$64,566,000 (2017: HK$64,566,000)
is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public bonded warehouse
business. The estimated recoverable amount is determined based on value-
in-use approach. The calculation uses post-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period.
Cash flows beyond the period are extrapolated using a 3% growth rate per
annum and a 9% discount rate per annum.

(b) Senior housing business

Goodwill, after impairment of HK$612,330,000 (2017: HK$565,175,000) and
lease-in-place, after amortisation of HK$21,749,000 (2017: nil) are allocated
to the Group's senior housing business. The estimated recoverable
amounts are determined based on value-in-use approach. The calculation
uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering three to four-year period. Cash flows beyond the
period are extrapolated using a 3% growth rate per annum and a 10.5%
discount rate per annum.

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated environment
which are subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state,
and local government. These laws and regulations relate to, among other
things, such as government healthcare program participation requirements,
regulations regarding reimbursement for patient services and related billing,
fraud and abuse. Violation of certain laws and regulations could result in
the expulsion from government healthcare program. Management was not
aware of any actions or potential actions as at 31 March 2018.
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I BERHMETEEZHER
il (4)

& (8 N B & A AN 2 B 4E BIAR 3B 18 61
RETHISRKEE 2 RPN E - BRERE
BERBAETSAMEERERRERE
FK o BRI TR BRI S E A B ALY
Kz FrE R o

(a) #HRERDIBRUAZER

B8 64,566,000 7T (—F —+4F :
75 164,566,000 70) 2 A E W D EEEAR
EBZABRRERABRMAER -4
FTAI ULl £ 58 JH IR {E AR BEXERE °
EEEERAREERBMZ s —EH
VHBEZRBEERSREEN - BB
HRZRAESREBESFIREREERK
9% AR FERHH -

(b) ZERSEH

7 2R (B 5 5 612,330,000 T (- E—+
£ B 565,175,000 7T) & 4R F
B 821,749,0000 (Z T —+F &)
BEOIREAEEZZERSEL &
FTATUR Bl & %8 Jh IR (F B R BEAE T -
EETEEAREERERZZ=2N
FHMBEBEZRBA RS RETEA -
BBHMR s ESREFTABFIRER
Z1065% BRI FREH o

RERSXBRRBEEIAENERR
Fh o EREESREA N R
BRI HR R MOR S © HRDER KRR S
(A e BFREEETS288
EREMBERS RABEKE  NEF
MERMBRO - BERETERRRA
BERAR BT REEEE - EEER
TE-N\FZA=T - HILEMEBER
TEHEEITE ©
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors
Chow Yei Ching
(former Co-Chairman)***
Kuok Hoi Sang
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Tam Kwok Wing
(Deputy Managing Director)
Ho Chung Leung
Ma Chi Wing
Lily Chow

Non-Executive Directors
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph*
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles*
Poon Chung Kwong?*

Irons Sze*
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar
Ko Chan Gock, William

BITES
JEVIRIED (R B T ) ***

LS
(EFHEEESD)

LT
(RES@ED)

AR

Fh

]

FHITEE
JEI B
HEs
BRI
sk g
JE#EIE

2ER

Directors’
fee

EEZHE
HK$'000
BT T

BEERESzEFIRMEE
(a) EEB S

ENEENESMESMT

2018

==
Salaries
and other
benefits

Fek
H 38 F
HK$°000
BT T

— N\

Retirement
scheme
contribution
BIREHE
AT
HK$'000
BT T

Total

B
HK$’000
BT T

- 14,300 698 14,998

- 11,800 488 12,288

= 3,600 232 3,832

- 6,500 300 6,800

- 2,000 150 2,150
350 = = 350
350 - - 350
300 - - 300
250 — — 250
300 - - 300
100 - - 100
1,650 38,200 1,868 41,718
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

BEERES 22BN RES ()

(a) EEE = (4)

2017
REIERES Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
fee benefits contribution Total
HFe Kk BIRETE
E H 427 Z AR k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT IT BT AT
Executive Directors HITES
Chow Yei Ching (Co-Chairman) BT (B E =) - 1,787 - 1,787
Kuok Hoi Sang IS
(Co-Chairman and Managing (MREIERES
Director) 1Bag3R ) - 13,720 675 14,395
Tam Kwok Wing RS
(Deputy Managing Director) (RIESREE) - 11,400 465 11,865
Ho Chung Leung A SRR - 3,500 225 3,725
Ma Chi Wing BEE - 5,500 262 5,762
Lily Chow ISEJE - 1,850 139 1,989
Non-Executive Directors HITES
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph* R 300 - - 300
Sun Kai Dah, George*** R E > 127 - - 127
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* BE= 350 - - 350
Poon Chung Kwong* AR 250 - - 250
Irons Sze** e ER {58 #* 87 - - 87
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar B#EIE 100 - - 100
Ko Chan Gock, William SEE 100 - - 100
1,314 37,757 1,766 40,837

#  Independent Non-Executive Director
*  Appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 November 2016

* %

Retired as Independent Non-Executive Director on 2 September 2016

*** Retired as Co-Chairman and Executive Director with effect from 30 August 2017

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals include three (2017: three) Directors,
details of whose emoluments are set out above. The total emoluments paid
to the remaining two (2017: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

Fra o 2R REMRER
BRIBE R Z L
RIRET 82 HK

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Performance-based bonus
Contributions to retirement scheme
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tOBNERITES

FRIE-RET A tHHERER
BIUFRTES

* RIE-RENAZBREBILIERT
&%

o REBBEEIERRTER BT+
FNA=ZTRERER

(b) EEM S

hEsEsHFHALEE=2(2F—+
F ZREE RKEZHeFBECOH
Sk - XN FEBME (ZB—+F
ME) &R HFMA LT Z 8FHR

2018 2017
—g-N% —E—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
6,888 6,685
5,002 5,774

34 36

11,924 12,495
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES BEERESZEFRERS (F)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued) (b) EEEM £ (F)
The emoluments of the remaining two (2017: two) highest paid individuals HBWME (ZT—EF  WE) &= 5
fall within the following bands. ZATAIRGEE D BT AR -

HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000 751 4,000,001 7T — 8 4,500,000 7T 1 1
HK$7,000,001-HK$7,500,000 787,000,001 7t — /&% 7,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$8,000,001-HK$8,500,000 758,000,001 T — /& ¥ 8,500,000 7T - 1
The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and employees also FiRAEEREEBEMNREMNZM S IFAIR
represent only benefits paid to the Group’s key management during the HE-_Z—-N\FERT—tF=fA=+—H
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. IFFERAEEETZEERES N o E—EF -
Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or EENRE BRGNP ZERER
contracts
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to ARATREMNE R ERT LA F L
the Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party A A FEEMERIDATE  MARAE
or were parties and in which a Director of the Company or any entities ERFMEZESEHENETEBREYE
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or ESEEREEAECBEEBEASEEY
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year. MEARS - RHHEHL -
39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 9 HREE
The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued for utilised & BB A fE i E 2 IR Z R
borrowings in relation to: BER:
2018
—E-N\EF
HK$’000
BT T
Banking facilities granted to associates BRYBERNRZRITEER 3,008 3,442
Banking facilities granted to a joint venture By —HBEEEZRITEE 318,645 295,254

Guarantees given to banks and housing retirement 4 PRI REFEABEFLRE T
fund management centers for mortgage facilities ETWHEERZIZBEEMER

granted to certain buyers of properties 545,738 492,299
867,391 790,995
The Group's share of contingent liabilities of its joint ventures was as follows: AEBEMLEAEDEZRARBEBENT ¢

Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities BTRIMBETEELEZWER
granted to certain buyers of the joint ventures’ ETERZIRIBEEMER
properties 2,739 3,212
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40 COMMITMENT

The Group had commitment as follows:

1y

168

40 A

REBZAENT

Contracted but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of
— property development projects
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment

B R N AR 2 A
—MEERIAR
—BAME  BERRB

The Group's share of commitment of its joint ventures was as follows:

BEENERGR

Contracted but not provided for

OPERATING LEASES 1y

The Group as lessee

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of renting of premises which fall due as
follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_ERFAN(BIEEEWT)
Over five years AFLLE

The above lease commitments only include commitments for basic rentals,
and do not include commitments for additional rental payable (contingent
rents), if any, which are to be determined generally by applying pre-determined
percentages to future sales less the basic rentals of the respective leases, as it is
not possible to determine in advance the amount of such additional rentals.

The Group as lessor

As at 31 March 2018, investment properties and properties for sale
with carrying values of HK$3,174,547,000 and HK$41,044,000 (2017:
HK$3,589,366,000 and HK$21,845,000) respectively were rented out under
operating leases. These properties have committed tenants within the next five
years. The future minimum lease payments receivable by the Group under non-
cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods is as follows:

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EZRFAN(BIEEERWT)
Over five years Bl hE
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M TIER BRI AN ERELER

733,446 500,114
5,773 14,211
739,219 514,325

AEEMIGEAZRERZALENT

2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
BT T
12,381 47,275
SEHE
AEBEHEREA

AEBERBFHERBIATRE 2 EEMR
EMARARLNZHERESRE - BHOME
MEIIT

2017

—T—tF

HK$'000

R T

12,748 29,630
29,304 25,103
29,498 33,944
71,550 88,677

EEEAEEREEAEESAE T TE
ERINENEES (RAEE) (WF) 2HAHE -
BEFEIMES - REMRRIFEZRRE
DERSEEZEAEEMEE - B
BEELAETRINMEAS ZE -

AEBEEHHAA

HE-_Z-N\E=ZA=+—0 ULEHE
HHZREMERTENE FBEDF
&8 #63,174,547,000 7T K 7 ¥ 41,044,000
T (ZZE—+EF : 1 3,689,366,000 7T & i
#21,845,0007T) ° L5 Y EMH B E B R
KRAFAMEA - AEER TS EHBRE
TR s 2 2B E MR KK ER 2 &I
MESBUOT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
101,633 97,423
25,979 16,497
39,185 154
166,797 114,074
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42 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the benefit
of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution schemes
which are registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the “ORSO Schemes"”) and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF
Schemes”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group and in funds under the control of trustees. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees and
the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. For members of the MPF
Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per employee,
at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month during the year ended 31 March 2018,
to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in countries or
locations where the Group operates. The Group is required to make defined
contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage or sum of the monthly
payroll.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO Schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017,
there were no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees leaving
the ORSO Schemes and which would be available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years. No forfeited contributions utilised in this manner during
the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil). As at 31 March 2018, contributions
of HK$3,088,000 (2017: HK$3,154,000) due in respect of the reporting period
were paid over to various schemes in April 2018.

43 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year with related
parties are as follows:

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

42 RIKEF

FEBREBLEBIMEE ZBNRILZE
RARTRFIFHE

REE - NEES MBI ERRETEHEN)
2 ST g ka8 (T8 2R IKETED) &
R-ZTZTF+-ARCGEHMERESTE
BBz BlE AR S B ([aES
B ZEBZEENBESALZHZE
SRE HASEEENFEE - SIBER
Kat8  RERAEETARREERT Z25%
£75% AHFE BTEENRASEEZF
EmME - AEEABESFEZKE  ZE
BEBEEAARZE%TEEHE-_Z—N
FZA=-T+—RALEFEBAKZ ABE1,500
TL) BLoR TR R IV SR B 1 R o

AEBTFB2ERNEELEEE 2 BRNE
ZRERAKESFE - REEBRIAE A HH
ZETADWHEB A E 2 SRIEFEMR-N -

g B2 BB ERR DRG] -
BRI R A E AR E BRI EHRZ
A R_E—NFR_TE—ttF=A=+—
A WEEES R ERERKG SR RE
MAEMERZERRER - HEZZ—N
FZAZT - BUHEFETENRFERADA
ZERBHR(ZE—tF 8 - RZF
—N\FE=ZRA=+—H BHEHHESZE
ETEIH B 53,088,000 (— B —+ 4 1 8
#3,154,0007T) ER - ZE— \FMALH -

BEAEALZRS

RAFEEEMEALZERZRSHBENT -

2018 2017
=E-N\F

—E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BETT

Contract income from a joint venture RE—BEEREZAEHBA 30,912 39,168
Contract services fee to an associate BT —HEBERR AR ER (3,606) (991)
Management fee income from associates (note 7)  KEBZ AR 2 EEEUWA (Hi:E7) 19,800 20,146
Management fee income from joint ventures (note 7) KB AL ¥ 2 BEE WA (H:E7) 2,864 3,945
Maintenance fee to an associate BT HBERRCREER (5,981) (6,089)
Management fee to an associate BT HEBERRZEREER (347) (337)
Building management fee income from an associate KE —fBZL AR ZEFEEERA 1,032 1,121
Rental income from an associate KE—HEER T ZHE KA 19,052 20,539
Rental expenses to an associate BY—HEBEARZEASTH (150) (152)
Sales and marketing services income from RE—EE AR ZHE RTISHE

an associate (note 7) RAUA (FF5E7) 29,906 27,930
Secondment fee income from an associate RE—HBE AR ZEHBRA 1,444 1,391
Insurance premium from associates REBERRZRBE 8,929 7,368
Insurance premium from a joint venture KE—HEELEZRRE 1,554 44

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed between all
parties involved.

b2 5 T9RA RS J7 KRR E Z RT3 -

pallle
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43 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Other than the above, the Group conducted a related party transaction during
the year ended 31 March 2018 which constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. Details of the
transaction had been disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30
August 2017 and note 36(b)(ix) to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be key
management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

44 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

On 1 June 2017, the Company announced it has entered into an agreement
in respect of the disposal of Chinaford and Dolce Field (investment holding
companies which hold the entire interest in CCPD) and the assignment of
debt at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB1,570,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,773,000,000) (the “Disposal Transaction”) and the
transaction completed in August 2017 as detailed in note 36(b)(vi) to the
consolidated financial statements. Assets and liabilities of CCPD were
reclassified as held-for-sale as at 31 March 2017.

BEREALZRS (&)

44

BEaEN  AEERBEE—Z - N\F=H
=+ BULFEETAHEALZRS 1R
15 L AR RIRB B & R OB A2 P Y — TR B
X5 RHHBERARARHR R T —+
FENA=ZTHNRERGEA VB RERME
36(b)(ix) F 4% 7

AEEERE(RETHERARBEEIZER
BRKE) 2 HENS N AR & B B 3RK M 5L 38

RIFHEEE SHRFHEE
EEEHBAZEE

R-EBE—+EXA—B ARQRASHED
RHERELEE (FERBELLEHES
AR BB AR) REREET Y —
7 43R £ KRB ARY1,570,000,000 7T (1HE
R #) & H1,773,000,0007T) B ([HEXR
5 BERFER_ZE—t+ENARK
BRI LR A BT 15 3R KR MI 52 36(b) (vi) © AL &P E
TEMECZEERABER-_Z—+tF=A
=t+—HEFPEAEFBELE -

HK$'000
BEF T

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y - B R (EE15) 1,676
Properties under development (note 21) ERAPYIE(ME21) 533,464
Properties for sale HEME 580,488
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWERR « T iR RTER HKIE 8,155
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRRS 110,004
Assets of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale BN EARELHEZNBARIZEE
(note 36(b)(vii) (Bt 5% 36(b)(vii)) 1,233,787
Liabilities afE
Amount due to a joint venture R —MEEEhERR (25,893)
Creditors, deposits and accruals ERER EARSRERER (122,375)
Liabilities of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale ENOBEARELEZNBRARICARE
(note 36(b)(vii)) (Pt £ 36(b)(vii) (148,268)

45 EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

170

Acquisition of senior housing properties

On 25 May 2018, the Group announced it has entered into an agreement
to acquire ten senior housing properties in the US at the consideration of
US$65,750,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$516,000,000). These ten
senior housing properties provide an aggregate of 1,060 units with a total
rentable area of over 450,000 square feet.
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45 HEBREEE

WEEEREWE

RZZE-—N\FERA-+HA AEETH
HEF I HBaEUBBURER +BLZE
br& W% - 1B A 3%x4£65750,0007T (%
W48 #516,000,0007T) ° ZHELZERS
WA HKIRE1,060HEN - AIHEEES
450,000 F /IR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

46 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Other intangible assets
Available-for-sale investments

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from associates
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Derivative financial instruments
Creditors, deposits and accruals
Bank borrowings

Net current assets/(liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves (note a)

Total equity

Non-current liability
Bank borrowings

Total equity and non-current liability

i

FERBEE
P B8~ R 2 e
BN £
Hip L& E
AHHEZKRE

REBEE

JRE M5Bl 8 2 R BR AR

JRE M5 Bis i R BR R
BARBEINABGREZRE
YRR - FHIRS RIER R
RITEEFERS

RBEE
FEAT BT 88 2 AR AR
TAEMBITA
ERNBRR - FARERBRER
RITRER

RBEE (AR FE
HEERRBEE
MR R

A

e (Mista)
BRER

FRBEE
IRITRER

BEZRFERBER

DR BRI R

Z-N\E=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
=E-N\F =T =%
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT
2,832,954 3,620,707
89,594 89,594
599 599
50,638 66,314
2,973,785 3,777,214
4,464,166 3,211,003
18,575 14,983
45,452 160,975
12,159 70,872
484,746 314,805
5,025,098 3,772,638
3,677,432 3,817,948
171 1,493
9,591 4,049
248,368 104,263
______ 3,935,562 3,927,753
1,089,536 (165,115)
4,063,321 3,622,099
377,411 377,411
2,239,173 2,049,583
2,616,584 2,426,994
1,446,737 1,195,105
4,063,321 3,622,099
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= s 3 2 =
46 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 46 AT AR R R EEE R
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#8)
Note: B 5
(a) Reserves movement of the Company (a) AATEEED
Capital Investment
Share  Contributed  redemption revaluation Hedging Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R iiE HABH ErRERE RESfRE Hinkife REEA ot
H}\$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'OOO HK$'000
T BETT BB BB BETT BET BETT
(note i)
(PzEi)
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+ENA-AH 704,087 95,413 8,799 30,468 (1,544) 1,212,360 2,049,583
Profit for the year E3yaril - - - - - 762,510 762,510
Impairment loss on available-for-sale ARNEZRENRERR
investments transferred to income statement ~ #&EWEX - - - 3317 - - 3377
Change in fair value of available-for-sale ARNEZRENARERE
investments - - - (4,180) - - (4,180)
Fair value adjustments on the derivative BEARETELANITE
designated as cash flow hedge in respectof ~ TAAHHREHAYN
interest rate swap contracts HARERE - - - - 1,547 - 1,547
Total comprehensive income for the year FERENGEE - - - (803) 1,547 762,510 763,254
Dividends paid Bk - - - - - _(57_3}5_54_) . _(§7_3L5_5‘!)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\$=A=1+-H 704,087 95,413 8,799 29,665 3 1,401,206 2,239,173
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~¥NA-A 704,087 95,413 8799 25,351 (7.212) 1,123,431 1,949,869
Profit for the year ERAEM - - - - - 300,279 300279
Impairment loss on available-for-sale EEE RENRERE
investments transferred to income statement  EEZWHR - - - 5,676 - - 5,676
Change in fair value of available-for-sale EHEZRENAAEE
investments - - - (659) - - (559)
Fair value adjustments on the derivative BEARERELRNIE
designated as cash flow hedge in respectof ~ TABBFIZEHAALNHN
interest rate swap contracts MREEE - - - - 5,668 - 5,668
Total comprehensive income for the year FERENEEE - - - 5,117 5,668 300,279 311,064
Dividends paid gfke - - - - - (1130 (211,350
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+5=A=1-H 704,087 95,413 8,799 30,468 (1,544) 1,212,360 2,049,583
Note: B 5
(i)  Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of net assets of (i) BABBRDIREMKRERBRARZEEFE
subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for BRI AR RIRG 2 EER 2 Z5E -
their acquisition. Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed BREEBRE(NAN—FRRE)  ARAZ
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders. BABBRTIAHEDIRFIRE -
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47 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Qi Yang Group, that

has non-controlling interests of 60% that are material to the
Group is engaged in car dealership business in Mainland China.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets
Current

Assets

Liabilities

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Accumulated non-controlling interests

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year

Total comprehensive expenses allocated to non-
controlling interests

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

ma

B RS R AR AL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BEZZ-\E=ZA=1+—HL=EE

471 EREXRFE AR 0 — R

BARNMBENRE

AT &8 AL E M S B EANAI60% IEZE

Group. Qi Yang BESHZGEENTBEERME - XEE
BERPEAMEETERIRER -

ERBRE
HB
A%
&k

MEEEFE

FRBEE

BEERE
RETFERERS

A

B 750 A )
MR

FABERZHMXAHE

TEREFERETNEEHAE

m IR SRR

2018 3}

FEEMBRRRME

FETEKSRME

2018
—E-N\%

HK$'000
BT
464,698

526,997
(831,170)

(304,173)

136,099

15,646

2018
—B-NF

HK$'000
BT
1,924,470

2,446
(6,066)

(3,620)

(232)

7,798

HtEBREEERAR 173



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TSR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-\E=ZBA=1+—HILLEE

47 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 47 BB E XFEIE A #E 25 HY — R Bt

WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST BoalBBENEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised cash flow for the year ended 31 March 2018 HE-_ZFZ—\F=A=+—HLFEZ
REeRENE
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T
Cash flows from operating activities REEBEBCRERE
Cash generated from operations KREEEZHR® 14,271
Interest paid BEAFLE (1,548)
Income tax paid [RENEZIEEE (7,961)
Net cash generated from operating activities EBEEBELECREFE 4,762
Net cash generated from investing activities WEEBEE RS F5E 972
Net cash generated from financing activities REEBEA RS FE 21,553
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEYENEE 27,287
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated FHMERRBRTHBARZERAMBERE
financial statements of the subsidiaries and the information above is the 3Rk Bl &R RA R HEHAT
amount before inter-company eliminations. K& %8 °
48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48 T EMB AT
Percentage of
issued share
Place or country Issued and capital/registered
of incorporation or paid up Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of share capital/registered capital  non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
FERRERE
RYER ERTRAR ARAREERTRE ERIRA
2R4R EXuEGER  FEROED R/ ERBA R#&A IMBACERESL  EMRAZEAL IEEE
Directly Indirectly
L B
%
Almax Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000 20,000 - 100 - Property development
B i@ %2000 IE
Changchun New Star Universe Sheng Chi Real Mainland China NA RMBG675,000,000 N/A - % 4 Property development
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (note a Gt MR AR 675,000,000 el NEER

RENETERRLERGARAALN (Hita)

Chevalier {Aluminium Engineering) Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Supply and installation of aluminium
Limited Bk B3l ¥ windows and curtain walls
EL(RIR)BERRAR BERRELHERTR
Chevalier {Aluminium Engineering) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 - Supply and installation of aluminium
(note b Y i EE1007 windows and curtain walls
AL (BTE)ERAA (Hb) AEREEHERTR
Deferred HKS2 2 - 100 -
EE XY
Chevalier Automobiles Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Sale and servicing of automobiles
ngx ta 101 EAT REHEREERE
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48 T EME L F (4F)
Percentage of
issued share
Place or country Issued and capital/registered
of incorporation or paid up Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of share capital/registered capital  non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
FEREREE
EAEEL ERIRAR FAREFERARA ERTRE
AR EXHE FERA R /A RH#A AfREZERE Y AEAZASYE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B B
3 %
Chevalier (Building Supplies & Engineering) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000,100 20,000,100 - 100 - Supply and installation of building
Limited (note b) &# ia 7%20,000,1007 materials
EL (I TE)ERAR (Mitb) BEMHEERTE
Deferred HKS2 2 - 100 -
it AT
Chevalier Cali Holding (Cal) Inc. US Common US$4,012,000 4,012,000 - 100 - Grocery trading
*A 58 40120057 k285
Chevalier (Chengdu] Investment Management Mainland China N/A RMB250,000,000 NJA - 100 - Investment holding and provision of
Limited (note o) FER el AR 250,000,000 il management service
AL (R REERERAA (Wit c) REBRREHERRE
Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Sale and servicing of automobiles
ngx L 1018 AT REHEREERE
Chevalier Cold Storage and Logistics Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 75 25 Operation of a cold storage
ETRENRERLR 3 ia b warehouse and logistic business
BERREERDTER
Chevalier (Construction) Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,500,000 60,500,000 - 9967 0.33 Building construction and
ET(RE)ERAA B il 7% 60,500,000 maintenance
BYRERRE
Chevalier Construction (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 100 - 100 - Buiding construction
[note b B La 81,0007 Brgs
ETRE(FE)ERAT (i)
Deferred HK$10,000 1,000 - 100 -
ER %1000
Chevalier (Corporate Management) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Provision of corporate management
ET(5ER)ERAT B L B8 seices
REGLERRE
Chevalier Development (S) Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary 582,500,000 2,500,000 - 100 - Property investment
#ing i 2,500,003 1T VESI¥
Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$69,200,000 69,200,000 - 100 - Instalation of electrical and
ET(BEIR)ERAT B LE 76%69,200,0007 mechanical equipment and
provision of project management
service
REBERBRELAR ERRY
Chevalier (Envirotech) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$148,600,000 148,600,000 - 100 - Environmental enginegring
£ (RRHI) ARAA (3] il 1486000007 RRIE
Chevalier (Insurance Brokers) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 100 - - Insurance brokerage
HT(RBER)ARAA BE B 711,000,000 REER
Chevalier Insurance Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 100 - - Insurance underwriting
HIRBERLA B B 71200,000,0007C RBER
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48 T EME L F (4F)
Percentage of
issued share
Place or country Issued and capital/registered
of incorporation or paid up Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of share capital/registered capital  non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
FEREERE
R G ERIRAR FAREFERARA ERTRE
AR EXHE FERA R /A RH#A AfREZERE Y AMREZEAY ETEXE
Directly Indirectly
B B
3 %
Chevalier iTech Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 - Trading and servicing of computers
ETHRIRERAR &# L@ BT and busingss machings
SHREERGEARAL
Chevalier iTech Thai Limited (note d) Thailand Ordinary BAHT18,980,000 189,800 - 100 - Trading of computers and business
(fr&d) 58 il 18980,000 %k machings
Preference BAHT1,020,000 10,200 - 100 -
% 1,020,000 35
Chevalier {Macaul Limited Macau Ordinary MOP100,000 4 - 100 - Building construction and installation
EL(RM)ARAE b5 ia BFI% 100,000 of air- conditioning systerns,
aluminium windows and curtain
walls

BTREERRRRANREREE

Chevalier {Network Solutions) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 - Network systems and solution
ET(BAME) ERAT £ ia BT seices
BEZRRMERRE
Chevalier Network Solutions Thai Limited Thailand Ordinary BAHT15,000,000 150,000 - 100 - Trading of telecommunication
R i 15,000,000 5 equipment
EHRERS
Chevalier Pacific Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 - 100 - Property development
EL75RRAT B £ 74200,000,0007 nxER
Chevalier Property Development Limited (note bl Hong Kong Ordinary HK$360,000,000 360,000,000 - 100 - Property development and
EINFERERAA (Hilb) B £2 74360,000,00070 investment
NEERRRE
Deferred HKS51 51 - 100 -
Eit AEBIT
Chevalier Property Management Limited (note b} Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 - Property management and security
ETEENEERARAR (Hih) &k gl ERI00T senvices
NEEBRRZRHS
Deferred HKS1,002 1,002 - 100 -
Eit 10027
CIH (BV) Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 1 100 - - Investment holding
ZEABREE  £B %7 RERR
CPC Construction Hong Kong Limited (note b} Hong Kong Ordinary HK$415,284,200 4,152,842 - 100 - General construction and trading
HTERERERAT (Witb) B 22 415,084,207 business
—REEREHEH
Deferred HK$25,936,200 259,362 - - 100
i 725,936,007
Full Ascent Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 75 25 Property investment
RAERERLA & i XY nERE
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48 T EME L F (4F)
Percentage of
issued share
Place or country Issued and capital/registered
of incorporation or paid up Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of share capital/registered capital  non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
FEREREE
R G ERIRAR FAREFERARA ERTRE
AR EXHNIER  FEROEH /A RH#A AfREZERE Y AMREZEAY ETEXE
Directly Indirectly
B B
3
Goldyork Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 49 51 - Property investment
SRRERRAR &# L@ B0 ES T
Keysford 1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100,000 - 100 - Property development
&R @ 100,000 nxER
Kwai Hei Investments No.1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 1 - 75 25 Property investment
BE ) b nERE
Lac Kar Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,600,000 3,600,000 - 100 - Property investment
IMEEERARA B i 43,600,000 nERE
Macleh (Chevalier) Limited Canada Common CAD101,100 10,100 - 100 - Investment holding of property

JIEYN il 101,100 M€ AT investment and hotel operation
MEREREESEZRERR

Macont Developments Inc. Canada Common CAD1,000 1,000 - 100 - Property investment
nex L@ 1,000 AT nERE

Matterhorn Properties Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$1 1 - 100 - Property investment
Hong Kong i £33 NERE
KBERRES/

Mi4 Ashford, LLC Us NA 1S86,980,000 N/A - 100 - Qperation of senior housing
B R 6,980,000% MR FERERE

NC4 Albemarle, LLC N NA 1S$10,040,143 NA - 9.6 1.4 Operation of senior housing
By el 10,040,143% 70 Bl EeERs

NC4 Covington, LLC Us N/A US$5,087,122 NA - 986 1.4 Operation of senior housing
B Bl 508712257 B i EeERE

NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC Us N/A US$6,040,649 N/A - %6 14 Operation of senior housing
8 TR 6,040649% T TER BERERS

NC4 Magcreek, LLC Us N/A US$3,464,273 N/A - 986 1.4 Qperation of senior housing
EE @R 3464135 @R Fevzhs

NC4 Magnolia, LLC Us N/A US$4,394,362 N/A - 986 1.4 Qperation of senior housing
%8 R 4394,362% T TR BERERE

NC4 Oliver, LLC Us NA US82,761,560 N/A - %6 14 Operation of senior housing
EL FER 2,761 560% T &R mEvERs

NC4 Welington, LLC N NA US$3,665,173 NIA - 9.6 1.4 Operation of senior housing

B TR 3665, 11357 TER besiny
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 48 T EME L F (4F)
Percentage of
issued share
Place or country Issued and capital/registered
of incorporation or paid up Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of share capital/ Number of share capital/registered capital  non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held registered capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
FEREERE
R G ERIRAR FAREFERARA ERTRE
AR EXHNIER  FEROEH /A RH#A AfREZERE Y AMREZEAY ETEXE
Directly Indirectly
B B
%
Proud Rich Limited (note b} Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20 2 - 100 - Property investment
ERERRA (i) 50 £ BT ES T
Deferred HK$20 2 - 100 -
it blyp
TRETMEEEERR A note Mainland China N/A 543,650,000 NA - 100 - Property management and provision
(Hiskc) Gleilat ok 3650,000% 0 NER of property management
consultation

NFERRERNZEELD

Silver Prosper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 1 - 100 - Property investment
RESEFRAA £ ia AT NERE
Shanghai Chevalier Trading Co., Ltd. Mainland China N/A 186,500,000 NA - 100 - Trading of lifts, escalators, electrical
(note ¢) RER TER 6,500000% T TER and mechanical equipment
LBETEAERAA (Hikc) T SRERESEELS
Shanghai Chonmain Real Estate Development Mainland China NA 1S§18,000,000 N/A - 80 20 Property development and
Co,, Ltd. (note a) HE TR 18,000,000%7 il investment
HEEERHERRERAT (Hita) NEERRRE
Tai Tung Industrial Equipment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$30,000,000 30,000,000 - 875 125 Logistics services
ARIERHERRAT &k £8 730,000,007 it
Winfield Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 - Property investment
HARERAA BE B BT nERE
Xinyang Chevalier Hotel Co., Ltd. (note ¢} Mainland China N/A RMB55,000,000 N/A - 70 30 Hotel operation
EBELABEBRAR (W) HER ol ARE55,0000007 Bl BELE
757040 Ontario Limited Canada Common CAD10 10 - 100 - Property investment
JIEYN LA 10MgAT NERE
m)IgRAEEAARAR Mainland China N/A RMB15,000,000 NA - 4 - Trading of motor vehicles and
HER R AR 15,000,000 TR provision of maintenance services
REE A RRBERERE
ARG ER T EHEREERAR Mainland China NJA RMB30,000,000 N/A - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
HERL ol AR30,000,0007T il provision of maintenance services
AEEHRRERERE
AAEGRE R EREARAE Mainland China N/A RMB22,000,000 NJA - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
HERD TR AR%22,000,0007 TR provision of maintenance services
AEE A RRBERERE
HAEGRY T EHEREERAR Mainland China NJA RMB10,000,000 NA - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
TER el AR10,000,0007T el provision of maintenance services
AEEHRRERERE
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48 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:
(a) Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint ventures.

(b) All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to participate in any
distribution upon winding up.

(c) Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises.

(d) Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference shares of this
company carry one vote.

49 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Effective percentage
of issued share

Place or country capital/registered
of incorporation capital held by
or registration/ Class of the Company
Name of associate operation shares held indirectly
: RAAMREE
RS/ ERTRA /M
L PNGES EXBERER FERAERN RAZERBEIL
)
Cafe Deco Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 25.28
Hong Kong i
EBERRES/
BiE
Chevalier (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 49
Ht (BH)BRAR BB i
RZEH(HER)AERRA Mainland China N/A 20
FE A T
Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Co., Ltd.  Mainland China N/A 20
REEH (G BRAT FER TER

Note: The Group's entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these associates is in
proportion to its ownership interest.

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\E=A=1+—HLEE

48 T EMBLTE (8)

GEX
@ ARSI H R B ERMARY -

(o) FAEER DS | A - M ERR LI
ERABRBEFEFNDIK -

(© NINERERPBEAMBAKT -

d) BERABIERFT10% @ &R ZEMEKE
LB E—RERE-

49 FEBZENT

Measurement
Principal activities method

FEER FERAEE
Investment holding Equity
BEER 4

Marketing, installation and maintenance of ~ Equity

lifts and escalators and security devices 1z
B RERREFBE  ERBLRE
KE

Manufacturing, sales, installation, repair Equity
and maintenance of lifts and escalators ~ #z
B BE RE BERREABER
E5®

Manufacturing, sales, installation, repair Equity
and maintenance of lifts and escalators ~ ##x
it e RR - BERREABER

B B < 2 g B B A 2 O T A A
BARZ AR -
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50 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

180

Name of joint ventures

Lam Woo & Company Limited
BmEERRAA

Rosy Value Limited
EEARAF

Seavest Core Fund |, LLC

ErBREREnEREERAF

RBBRGEREMIEHERY
BRATE

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

BB,
BRI

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
BE

us

xH

Mainland China
HRE A,

Mainland China
BRI

Effective percentage
of issued share
capital/registered
share capital held by

Class of the Company
shares held indirectly
ANAHERE
BERTRA M
FERGEN BRAZERBAL
%
Ordinary 50
B
Ordinary 50
3
N/A 95
i
N/A 44
i
N/A 21.33
i

Note: The Group's entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these joint ventures is in
proportion to its ownership interest.
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50 FESEE

Principal activities

TEXEH

Civil engineering

TARTRE

Property development

EZ

Medical office building investment

BRBLEABRE

Property development

ES

Trading of motor vehicles and provision of

maintenance services

REE P RRERERY

Measurement
method

SRR

Equity
i3

Equity
30

Equity
B

Equity
B

Equity
i

M ARBEREBARS 2 LPIHEEMES

BOEZ G -
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